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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFHS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”),
| would like to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), the annual report of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”
or “YR2024").

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a
decrease in revenue of approximately HK$26,793,000 or
approximately 8.5% to approximately HK$288,654,000
compared with the year ended 31 March 2023 (the
“YR2023"). The decrease in revenue was primarily due to
decrease of the number of sizable projects tendered by the
Group during the Reporting Period.

The Board is of the view that despite the recovery of global
economy is not as strong as expected followed by the
relaxation of COVID-19, there are hopeful signs of a steady
recovery in the long-term development of construction
and foundation industry in Hong Kong. The Group will be
prudent in tendering potential project while future strategy
will depend on the recovery of the economy.

Under the sustained recovery of Chinese economy and
the thriving development of new media, there is an annual
growth of 2%-47% in gross merchandise volume of
e-commerce business in the PRC. Currently, the Group has
4 broadcasting rooms and hired around 30 live streamers.
The Group will grasp the opportunities and continue to
expend in the e-commerce live streaming and promotion
business.

Meanwhile, in order to maintain a stable and sustainable
development of the Group’s existing businesses as well
as diversifying and expanding the Group’s businesses at
the same time, the Company will leverage on its industrial
experience and the advantage of its existing resources
and talented team to seek cooperation and investment
opportunities with high-quality companies in the emerging
industries.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my deepest gratitude to our Shareholders and
business partners for their continued support, and to our
management and staff members for their commitment and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited
Yan Shuai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of (i)
foundation construction works; (i) ground investigation
services; (iii) financial services; and (iv) trading of consumer
products; and during the Reporting Period, the Group has
expanded its business into e-commerce live streaming and
promotion business in the social media.

Foundation construction works

During the Reporting Period, the foundation construction
works undertaken by the Group mainly consisted of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group undertook foundation
construction projects in both the public and private
sectors in Hong Kong. Revenue from the foundation works
contributed approximately 76.1% to the total revenue
of the Group during the Reporting Period (YR2023:
approximately 80.9%).

Ground investigation services

The Group also acted as a contractor to provide ground
investigation services in both public and private sectors in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. Revenue from the
ground investigation services contributed approximately
22.7% to the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period (YR2023: approximately 18.3%).

Financial services
During the Reporting Period, revenue from financial

services contributed approximately 0.2% to the total
revenue of the Group (YR2023: approximately 0.8%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trading of consumer products

There was no revenue generated from the Group’s trading
business during the Reporting Period and YR2023 as the
Group was yet to receive an outstanding trade receivable
arising from its previous trading of beauty and skin
care products. As the said outstanding trade receivable
has been fully settled during the Reporting Period, the
Company is exploring to resume the trading business with
a broader focus on general consumer products.

E-commence live streaming and promotion business

During the Reporting Period, revenue from e-commence
live streaming and promotion business contributed
approximately 1.0% to the total revenue of the Group
(YR2023: nil).

Outlook

The Board is of the view that despite the recovery of global
economy is not as strong as expected followed by the
relaxation of COVID 19, there are hopeful signs of a steady
recovery in the long-term development of construction
and foundation industry in Hong Kong. The Group will be
prudent in tendering potential projects while future strategy
will depend on the recovery of the economy.

Under the sustained recovery of the Chinese economy and
the thriving development of new media, there is an annual
growth of 2% to 47% in gross merchandise volume of
e-commerce business in the PRC. Currently, the Group has
4 broadcasting rooms and hired around 30 live streamers.
The Group will grasp the opportunities and continue to
expand in the e-commerce live streaming and promotion
business.

Meanwhile, in order to maintain a stable and sustainable
development of the Group’s existing businesses as well
as diversifying and expanding the Group’s businesses at
the same time, the Company will leverage on its industrial
experience and the advantage of its existing resources
and talented team to seek cooperation and investment
opportunities with high-quality companies in the emerging
industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately HK$26,793,000 or
approximately 8.5%, from approximately HK$315,447,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$288,654,000 for the Reporting Period, which was
primarily due to:

Foundation construction works

The revenue from undertaking foundation construction
works decreased by approximately HK$35,695,000
or approximately 14.0%, from approximately
HK$255,328,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$219,633,000 for the Reporting Period.
This was primarily due to the decrease in the number
of sizable projects tendered by the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Ground investigation services

The revenue from ground investigation services increased
by approximately HK$8,098,000 or approximately 14.1%,
from approximately HK$57,611,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$65,709,000 for the
Reporting Period. This was primarily due to the increase
in the number of sizable projects tendered by the Group
during the Reporting Period.

Financial services

During the Reporting Period, revenue from financial
services amounted to approximately HK$554,000
(YR2023: approximately HK$2,507,000).

Trading of consumer products

During the Reporting Period, no revenue from trading
business was generated by the Group (YR2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E-commerce live streaming and promotion business

During the Reporting Period, the Group has expanded its
business into e-commerce live streaming and promotion
business, revenue from e-commerce live streaming
and promotion business amounted to approximately
HK$2,757,000 (YR2023: nil).

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately
HK$53,789,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$53,073,000 for the Reporting Period.
The Group’s overall gross profit margin during the
Reporting Period was approximately 18.4% (YR2023:
approximately 17.1%).

The gross profit of the Group’s foundation construction
works segment decreased from approximately
HK$34,383,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$30,987,000 for the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, gross profit margin of the
foundation construction works segment amounted to
approximately 14.1% (YR2023: approximately 13.5%).
The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to the
slightly decrease in staff cost.

Gross profit of the Group’s ground investigation
services segment was approximately HK$19,127,000
for the Reporting Period, representing an increase of
approximately 13.2% from approximately HK$16,900,000
as compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2023.
Gross profit margin of the ground investigation services
segment slightly decreased from approximately 29.3% for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 29.1% for
the Reporting Period.

Gross profit of the Group’s financial service was
approximately HK$554,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2023: approximately HK$2,507,000). Gross profit
margin of the financial services amounted to approximately
100% (YR2023: approximately 100%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

There was no revenue generated from the Group’s trading
business during the Reporting Period and YR2023 as the
Group was yet to receive an outstanding trade receivable
arising from its previous trading of beauty and skin
care products. As the said outstanding trade receivable
has been fully settled during the Reporting Period, the
Company is exploring to resume the trading business with
a broader focus on general consumer products.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has expanded its
business into e-commerce live streaming and promotion
business, gross profit of the Group’s e-commerce live
streaming and promotion segment was approximately
HK$2,406,000 for the Reporting Period (YR2023: nil).
Gross profit margin of the e-commerce live streaming and
promotion segment amounted to approximately 87.3%
(YR2023: nil).

Other income, other gains and losses, net

The other income, other gains and losses, net of the
Group decreased by approximately HK$14,463,000,
from approximately HK$16,529,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$2,066,000 for the
Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly due to (i)
no government grants have been received during the
Reporting Period (YR2023: approximately HK$4,385,000);
and (jiij) no gain on derecognition of debt investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income was
reclassified to profit or loss during the Reporting Period
(YR2023: approximately HK$7,223,000).

General and administrative expenses and impairment
losses on the financial and contract assets, net

The Group’s general and administrative expenses
and impairment losses on the financial and contract
assets, net for the Reporting Period were approximately
HK$65,326,000 (YR2023: approximately HK$82,350,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 20.7% as
compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
impairment losses on the financial and contract assets, net
of approximately HK$3,887,000 (YR2023: approximately
HK$26,786,000). For the detailed information, please refer
to the paragraph “Material provision for expected credit
losses in relation to trade receivable, loan and interest
receivables and other receivable”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance costs

The finance costs decreased by approximately
HK$1,491,000 from approximately HK$10,645,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$9,154,000 for the Reporting Period. The decrease was
mainly due to the partial repayment of amount due to a
related company of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Income tax

The tax expense for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$760,000 (YR2023: approximately
HK$938,000). The change was mainly due to the change
of deferred tax for the Reporting Period.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income represent approximately 19.7%
equity interest of Matsu Gami IP Development Limited
(“Matsu Gami”). During the Reporting Period, the fair value
loss amounted to approximately HK$5,825,000 (YR2023:
nil).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represents the (i) listed equity investments; (i) put option in
relation to acquisition of an associate; and (i) other unlisted
investments.

The fair value of listed equity investments is determined
with reference to quoted market bid price from the Stock
Exchange and within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The
fair value loss of approximately HK$520,000 (YR2023: nil)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2024.

In YR2023, put option is measured at fair value using the
Monte Carlo simulation model and binomial options pricing
model. There was no put option during the Reporting
Period (YR2023: the fair value loss of put option amounted
to approximately HK$8,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

In YR2023, the other unlisted investments represent
investments in wealth management product issued by
bank. There were no investments in wealth management
product during the Reporting Period (YR2023: bank
interest income and fair value gain approximately
HK$112,000).

Share of results of an associate

The share of profit of Matsu Gami was approximately
HK$4,141,000 for the period from 1 April 2022 to 27
March 2023. This amount of profit was attributable to
(i) the share of the post-acquisition profit amounted to
approximately HK$5,519,000; and (i) amortisation expense
and deferred tax impact on the intangible asset arised from
the fair value adjustments made on the acquisition date
amounted to approximately HK$1,378,000.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 10 December 2019, 9 June 2020, 4
September 2020, 10 August 2021, 10 September 2021,
29 August 2022, 20 September 2022, 20 October 2022,
18 November 2022, 20 December 2022, 20 January
2023, 8 February 2023 and 27 March 2023.

Loss on disposal of interest in an associate

On 27 March 2023, the Group partially exercised the put
option to dispose approximately 15.3% of capital of Matsu
Gami at approximately HK$21,680,000 (being the amount
held in the escrow account as maintained by escrow agent)
and extended the remaining put option. Loss on disposal
of interest in an associate amounted to approximately
HK$27,523,000.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 29 August 2022, 20 September 2022, 20
October 2022, 18 November 2022, 20 December 2022,
20 January 2023, 8 February 2023 and 27 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Material provision for expected credit losses in
relation to trade receivable, loan and interest
receivables and other receivable

In relation to the trade receivable for trading of consumer
products, loan and interest receivables and other
receivable, the Group recognised reversal of provision for
expected credit losses of approximately HK$1,235,000
for the Reporting Period, in the aggregate amount of
approximately HK$35,066,000 (after provision was made)
as at 31 March 2024 (the “Impairment Loss”).

(a) Trade receivable

Trade receivable for trading of consumer products
was past due in YR2023. During the Reporting
Period, the Company has been closely negotiating
with the customer and closely monitoring the
repayment status. In YR2023, despite several
subsequent settlements, a supplemental agreement
and a new guarantee agreement were signed with
the customer and its fellow subsidiary, the Company
has adopted a prudent approach to measure
the expected credit losses (‘ECL”) of the trade
receivable. According to the signed supplemental
agreement and guarantee agreement, the last
installment would be repayable on or before 31
January 2024 based on the repayment schedule. All
outstanding trade receivable has been fully settled
during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREwEHh

(b)

Loan and interest receivables

Loan and interest receivables for money lending
business are represented by loan receivable A
(“Loan receivable A”) and loan receivable B (“Loan
receivable B”).

Prior to the grant of the Loan receivable A and
Loan receivable B, the Group performed various
due diligence and credit assessment work on each
of the borrowers and guarantors, which include
(i) obtaining of the latest management financial
statements, statutory records and credit history
(where applicable) to assess the background
and financial position of the borrowers and to
identify any indicators of high default risks; and
(i) considering the key terms by referencing the
prevailing market interest rate and the financial
position of the borrowers to compensate
the associated credit risk (the “Credit Risk
Assessments”). The Group, having not identified
any indication of high default risk of the loans and
having assessed the terms and conditions for the
grant of the Loan receivable A and Loan receivable
B based on Credit Risk Assessments, considered
that the initial grant of the loans based on such
terms and conditions was fair and reasonable
and was in the interest of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Loan receivable A was past due in YR2023. During
the Reporting Period, the Company has been
closely negotiating with the customer and closely
monitoring the repayment status. In YR2023,
despite a supplemental agreement and a new
guarantee agreement signed with the customer
and its fellow subsidiary, the Company has adopted
a prudent approach to measure the ECL of the
relevant receivable. According to the signed
supplemental agreement and guarantee agreement
(which was additional to the existing personal
guarantees executed by the ultimate beneficial
owners of the borrower in favour of the lender), the
last installment would be repayable on or before 31
October 2023 based on the repayment schedule.
All outstanding loan and interest receivable was fully
settled during the Reporting Period.
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(c)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loan receivable B was past due since June 2020.
As at 31 March 2023, the outstanding principal was
HK$16,900,000. The Company has commenced
the winding up process against the customer
company responsible for the non-payment of Loan
receivable B in April 2023. The hearing of winding-
up petition originally fixed on 28 June 2023 was
adjourned to 7 August 2023, and the Group has
been liaising with the borrower in the interim with
the view of settling the outstanding repayment
amount. The Company subsequently entered into
the settlement agreement and deed of guarantee
with the borrower of Loan receivable B and related
guarantors on 31 July 2023, the last instalment
will be repayable on or before 30 September 2025
based on the repayment scheme. Following the
settlement agreement, the winding-up petition
has been withdrawn on 7 August 2023. As at
31 March 2024, the outstanding principal was
HK$12,900,000.

Other receivable

Other receivable is represented by an outstanding
redemption amount arising from the redemption
of a debt instrument which expired on 18 March
2023. The debt instrument is represented by
certain class C shares in a fixed-income focused
fund portfolio company (the “Fund”) managed
by an external manager (the “Manager”) and a
delegated investment manager (the “Investment
Manager”) (all being independent third parties)
which were subscribed by Sino Topper Holdings
Limited (“Sino Topper”), being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, on 20 April 2020 at a
total subscription amount of HK$60,000,000 with a
term of 36 months after first issuance of any class
B shares and class C shares (the “Subscription”).
The Subscription was made at the material time as
an investment to utilize the idle cash balance of the
Group. For details of the Subscription, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 20
April 2020 and 8 May 2020.
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Prior to the Subscription, the Group performed
various due diligence work on the Fund, the
Manager and the Investment Manager, which
include (i) conducting the necessary “know your
customer” checks by obtaining their constitutional
documents and statutory records to assess
their background, (ii) reviewing the experience,
qualifications and licenses of the Manager, the
Investment Manager and the personnel in charge
of the day-to-day operation of the Fund to consider
their competence, (iii) reviewing the nature,
composition, historical performance and future
prospects of the target investments of the Fund
to consider its risk profile and (iv) reviewing the
material terms and conditions of the Fund including
but not limited to rate of returns, target investment
size, maturity period and exit mechanisms to
consider their commercial reasonableness (the
“Investment Risk Assessments”). The Group,
having not identified any indication of high default
risk of the Fund, and having assessed the terms
and conditions for the Subscription based on the
Investment Risk Assessments, considered that the
Subscription based on such terms and conditions
was fair and reasonable and was in the interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

After the expiry date of the debt instrument
(i.,e. 18 March 2023), and taking into account
the repayments received by Sino Topper for
the partial redemption made prior to the expiry
date, Sino Topper has received an aggregate
of approximately HK$40,181,000 (inclusive of
accrued interests) as repayments for redemption
of its subscription amount with the last batch of
repayments received in December 2023, after
which no further repayments have been received.
Despite repeated efforts made by the Directors
throughout the Reporting Period to communicate
with the Fund, the Manager and the Investment
Manager to demand for settlement of the
outstanding redemption amount, the Company
has not received any explanation for the delay in
repayment, and no further reply has been received
since June 2023. In April 2024, the Company
has issued a demand letter against the Fund, the
Manager and the Investment Manager, and is
considering commencing legal actions to recover
the outstanding redemption amount. As at the
date of this report, a total redemption amount of
approximately HK$26,926,000 remain outstanding
and payable to Sino Topper by the Fund, the
Manager and the Investment Manager.
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(d)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment loss and key value of inputs used
and assumptions adopted in valuation

The Group has engaged an independent valuer
(the “Valuer”) to conduct a valuation in relation to
impairment assessment over its loan and interest
receivables and other receivable as at 31 March
2024 (the “Valuation”).

The Valuer adopted the expected credit loss model
(the “ECL Model”) to measure the ECL of the
trade receivable, loan and interest receivables and
other receivable. The ECL Model was adopted in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards 9. Major inputs of the ECL Model include
(i) probability of default (the “PD”) of the borrowers/
debtors which in turn affecting the credit specific
factor by, inter alia, assessing the loss stages and
checking forward looking assumptions involved; (ii)
loss given default; (i) exposure at default; and (iv)
discount factor reflecting time value of money.

As at 31 March 2023, the provision for expected
credit loss for trade receivable of consumer
products of approximately HK$10,386,000
with gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$19,634,000 and approximately HK$7,964,000
for Loan receivable A with gross carrying amount
of approximately HK$15,054,000. All outstanding
balance have been settled during the Reporting
Period, thus, there is a reversal of impairment
previously recognized.

The expected credit loss rate (the “ECL rate”) for
Loan receivable B has declined in the Reporting
Period due to the repayment accordingly based on
the repayment schedule. The ECL rate decreased
to 63.1%, resulting in the provision for expected
credit loss for Loan receivable B of approximately
HK$8,138,000 for Loan receivable B with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$12,900,000
as at 31 March 2024. After the end of the Reporting
Period and as at the date of these consolidated
financial statements, approximately HK$2,000,000
has been received for the settlement based on the
repayment schedule.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

The ECL rate for other receivable in respect of
the outstanding redemption amount was relatively
high in the Reporting Period due to significant
increase in credit risks since initial recognition due
o (i) the continuous adverse impact the COVID-19
pandemic has on the recovery of local and global
economy, (i) the debt instrument has matured for
more than a year since March 2023, and (i) it is
uncertain whether the Company is able to enter into
any settlement arrangements with the Fund, the
Manager and the Investment Manager to secure the
repayment of the outstanding redemption amount
as the Fund, the Manager and the Investment
Manager have not been responsive, and (iv) the
Company has issued a demand letter to the Fund,
the Manager and the Investment Manager for the
non-payment and is considering taking further legal
actions against the Fund, the Manager, and the
Investment Manager to recover the outstanding
redemption amount. Accordingly, the Group
has provided a full provision of approximately
HK$26,926,000 for other receivable in respect of
the outstanding redemption amount with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$26,926,000
as at 31 March 2024.

Money lending business

Within the Group’s money lending business, prospective
borrowers are sourced from the management’s business
networks. A credit committee (“Credit Committee”)
is established and the primary responsibility of this
committee is to assess and approve loans. During the
credit assessment phase, multiple approval criteria
are considered, including the client’s income source,
outstanding debt, credit history, loan history with our
company and relevant assessment results obtained during
the application procedure.

As of 31 March 2024, the combined outstanding balance
of the top one client in the money lending business
equated to 100% of the Group’s total loan receivable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business model of the Group’s money lending
business

The Group’s money lending business is managed through
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Fortune Shiny”), which holds a money lenders
license issued under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Fortune Shiny
provides loan financing services to both individual and
corporate clients who are third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons (as defined in
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Corporate loans are offered to
corporate clients requiring loan financing for their corporate
needs, while individual loans are provided to clients who
require loan financing for their personal needs.

Fortune Shiny is capable of granting loan financing services
to both corporate and individual clients with greater
flexibility compared to licensed banks and was established
to generate interest income by providing loan financing
services in Hong Kong. The Group’s money lending
business is primarily financed through internal resources.

Credit assessment policy

Loan applications are evaluated and processed on a case-
by-case basis, with each application assessed based on its
individual merit. Prior to granting loans, the management
conducts a financial background and credit check
procedure.

The process for loan application involves collecting
customer information including identity and financial
documents, performing a customer due diligence check
to verify identity and understand the purpose of the loan,
conducting a background check including legal and
property ownership searches, performing a valuation
check on the collateral, conducting a credit assessment to
determine the borrower’s ability to repay, and performing
an assessment to ensure compliance with the relevant
requirements and regulations of anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing. The details of each step may
vary depending on the specific circumstances of the loan
application.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

Overall, the loan application process involves a thorough
evaluation of the borrower’s financial standing, legal and
financial history, collateral, and ability to repay the loan. By
performing these checks and assessments, the Group can
reduce the risk of default and ensure that their loans are
being used for legitimate purposes.

Ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and loan
collection

To ensure recoverability, the Group places particular
emphasis on the financial background, assets or capital
base, repayment ability, and reputation of the borrower
when establishing loan terms. The manager communicates
with borrowers regularly to monitor the recoverability of
loans and assess the conditions of the borrowers. Any
delays in payment or defaults on significant terms of the
loan agreement are reported to the management. To
mitigate risk and potential credit losses, various measures
may be implemented, including but not limited to revising
repayment terms, executing a settlement agreement,
and/or initiating legal proceedings against the borrower
to recover any late payments and default interest. These
measures are taken after considering the normal market
practice and the actual circumstances during the credit
collection processes and negotiations with the relevant
customers with the ultimate goal of reducing the possibility
of credit losses.

Credit committee

To manage credit risk and operations, the Credit
Committee has been established, consisting of Mr. Yan
Shuai and Mr. Chong Ka Yee, with full authority to handle
all credit-related matters of Fortune Shiny. All loans must
be approved by the Credit Committee, following the
authorization matrix for final approval.

The primary responsibilities of the Credit Committee
include approving and supervising the Group’s money
lending business and monitoring the loan portfolio. The
Credit Committee is also responsible for overseeing
compliance and governance matters such as regularly
reviewing and modifying the money lending policy to in line
with changes in the market environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Major terms of loans granted

The Group has not granted a new loan during the
Reporting Period. In the YR2023, the Group offered a
credit period of 6 months for the loan to its corporate
customer with interest rate of 7.5% p.a. secured by
personal guarantee.

Breakdowns of material loan receivables

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had a total outstanding
loan principal amount of HK$12,900,000 (YR2023:
approximately HK$31,900,000) before taking into account
the ECL. The outstanding principal amounts relate to Loan
receivable B, which was one corporate loan (YR2023:
two corporate loans). Notably, the Corporate loan
accounted for 100% of the outstanding principal amount
of HK$12,900,000 (2023: the corporate loans accounted
for 100% of the outstanding principal amounts, with an
average outstanding principal amount of approximately
HK$15,950,000 per loan account.)

There is an interest-free for the Loan receivable B based
on the settlement agreement. The interest rate for the
outstanding principal amounts of the loan account
were 7.5% to 12% per annum in YR2023. All loan
receivable accounts as of 31 March 2024 was secured by
guarantees.

Loan interest income

For the Reporting Period, the total loan interest
income from the Group’s money lending business was
approximately HK$554,000 (YR2023: approximately
HK$2,507,000).

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net loss
of approximately HK$20,622,000 as compared with
approximately HK$46,996,000, for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the owners for the Reporting Period (YR2023:
nil).

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
PLACING IN 2016

References are made to the Company’s announcement
on 29 November 2016 (the “2016 Announcement’) in
relation to placing of 160,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company (the “Placing”) which raised net proceeds
of approximately HK $134.0 million (the “Net Proceeds”)
and the announcements in relation to change in use of
proceeds from the Placing dated 2 October 2018 (the
“2018 Announcement”), 17 August 2021 (the “2021
Announcement”) and 3 January 2023 (the “2023
Announcement”’) and the annual reports of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2019, 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2023.

Part of the Net Proceeds from the Placing were utilised
up to 31 March 2024 and are intended to be applied in
accordance with the revised proposed application set out
in the announcement dated 3 January 2023. The below
table sets out the details of the application of the Net
Proceeds:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the 2018 Announcement, (i) the Group had
used approximately HK$20.8 million of the proceeds of the
Placing for investment and financial services and for setting
up a subsidiary with a money lenders licence and the Group
intended to utilise up to approximately HK$36.5 million of
the Net Proceeds in developing the Group’s money lending
business in the next 12 months; and (ii) the Group intended
to change the use of up to approximately HK$76.7 million
of the outstanding Net Proceeds to fund the acquisition of
approximately 51.3% of the issued share capital of Blue
Marble Limited at a total consideration of HK$320,000,000
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition then lapsed on 2 April
2020. For details, please refer to the 2018 Announcement
and the announcement of the Company dated 2 April 2020.

On 17 August 2021, the Company resolved to change the
use of the outstanding Net Proceeds, being approximately
HK$76,700,000 as at 31 March 2021 as follows: (i) as to
approximately HK$70,700,000, to fund further possible
acquisition(s), including further possible acquisition of 16%
of the issued share capital of Matsu Gami; and (i) as to
the remaining balance of approximately HK$6,000,000, for
general working capital. As at 31 March 2022, the Board has
not exercised the call option to acquire 16% of the issued
share capital of Matsu Gami. For details, please refer to the
2021 Announcement and the announcement of the Company
dated 10 September 2021.

On 3 January 2023, the Company resolved to change the
use of the outstanding Net Proceeds, being approximately
HK$70,700,000 as at 31 March 2022 (the “Unutilised
Net Proceeds”) as follows: (i) as to approximately
HK$25,700,000, to fund further possible acquisition(s) and (ii)
as to the remaining balance of approximately HK$45,000,000,
for general working capital. As at 31 March 2023, the Board
has not exercised the call option to acquire 16% of the issued
share capital of Matsu Gami. For details, please refer to the
2023 Announcement and the announcement of the Company
dated 3 January 2023.

On 17 November 2023, the Company published the
announcement and wishes to supplement that the Unutilised
Net Proceeds for further acquisitions are intended to be fully
utilised by 31 March 2025 in the acquisition of equity interests
in target company(ies) engaged in the food and beverage
and/or the construction sectors, provided that, if any such
opportunity(ies) arise in the meantime, the Group may also
utilise the Unutilised Net Proceeds for Further Acquisitions
(or part thereof) in the acquisition of target company(ies)
engaged in other sector(s) if such acquisition is considered by
the Board to be conducive in broadening the source of the
revenue for the Group or otherwise in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

The remaining Unutilised Net Proceeds as at 31 March
2024 were placed as bank balances with licensed bank in
Hong Kong and will be applied in the manner consistent
with the proposed allocations.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing borrowings of the Group mainly
consisted of leases liabilities, borrowing from a director of
a subsidiary and borrowing from a related company of the
Group. The above borrowings as at 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$179,941,000 (YR2023: approximately
HK$188,909,000). All borrowings were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Interest on borrowings
are charged at fixed rates. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy and the Group
monitors interest risks continuously and considers hedging
any excessive risk when necessary. As at 31 March 2024,
the Group did not have any charges on the Group’s assets.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$80,732,000 which was
approximately HK$20,880,000 lower than net current
assets of approximately HK$101,612,000, as at 31 March
2023, the decrease was mainly due to decrease in other
receivables. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$230,173,000
representing a decrease of approximately HK$4,043,000
from approximately HK$234,216,000 as at 31 March
2023, the decrease was mainly due to the repayment
of amount due to a related company and a director of a
subsidiary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$138,286,000, representing
an increase of approximately HK$21,808,000 (as at 31
March 2023: approximately HK$116,478,000), which were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

CASH FLOW

The net cash generated from the Group in its operating
activities amounted to approximately HK$42,295,000
during the Reporting Period, which was mainly generated
from the foundation construction works and ground
investigation services. Net cash generated from investing
activities was approximately HK$332,000 in which
approximately HK$1,931,000 arose from interest received,
partly set off by the payment for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$1,738,000. The
net cash used in financing activities was approximately
HK$20,358,000 mainly arose from the repayment of
amount due to a related company of HK$10,000,000 and
repayment of amount due to a director of a subsidiary of
approximately HK$8,678,000.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2024
(defined as total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the
Group’s total equity) was approximately 199.2% (as at 31
March 2023: approximately 161.0%).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained
a healthy position of liquidity throughout the Reporting
Period. The Group strives to reduce the exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most
of the revenue and transactions arising from its operations
were mainly settled in Hong Kong dollar, and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollar. The Directors believe that the Group’s risk in
foreign exchange is insignificant and the Group will have
sufficient foreign exchange to meet its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and it has not
adopted any currency hedging policy or other hedging
instruments during the Reporting Period.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital
was HK$9,600,000 (as at 31 March 2023: HK$9,600,000)
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
96,000,000 of HK$0.1 each (as at 31 March 2023:
960,000,000 of HK$0.01 each).

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 20
November 2023, the Company underwent a share
consolidation for every ten (10) issued and unissued
existing shares of par value of HK$0.01 each be
consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of par value
of HK$0.1 each (the “Share Consolidation”). The Share
Consolidation became effective on 22 November 2023.
Details of the Share Consolidation are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 27 October 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISTIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph “Events after the
Reporting Period” in this report, during the Reporting
Period, there were no significant investments held,
nor were there any material acquisitions or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies made by the
Group during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed below and as set out in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements, there are no other
significant event after the Reporting Period up to the date
of this report.

(a) Placing of new shares under general mandate
in April 2024

On 3 April 2024, the Company and Beta
International Securities Limited (the “Placing
Agent”) entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) in relation to the placing
of up to 19,200,000 Shares (the “Placing
Share(s)”) to not less than six placees, who shall be
independent third parties, at the placing price (the
“Placing Price”) of HK$1.00 per Placing Share (the
“2024 Placing”). The net issue price per Placing
Share (after deduction of the placing commission
and other expenses of the 2024 Placing) is
approximately HK$0.97 per Placing Share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREwEHh

(b)

The 2024 Placing was completed on 16 April
2024, where a total of 19,200,000 Placing Shares,
representing approximately 16.66% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the Placing Shares after
the completion of the 2024 Placing, have been
successfully placed to not less than six placees
at the Placing Price per Placing Share. The
Placing Shares were allotted and issued under
the general mandate granted by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 August 2023. For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated
3 April 2024 and 16 April 2024 (the “Placing
Announcements”).

The gross proceeds from the 2024 Placing
was approximately HK$19.2 million, and the
net proceeds, after deduction of commission
and other expenses of the 2024 Placing, were
approximately HK$18.7 million (the “2024 Placing
Net Proceeds”). The Company intends to apply the
2024 Placing Net Proceeds in the manner as set out
in the Placing Announcements.

Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary
without changes in control

On 30 April 2024, the Group entered into an
acquisition agreement with a non-controlling
interest, pursuant to which the Group acquired
the remaining 49% equity interests of Pure Luck
International Limited held by the non-controlling
interest for a cash consideration of HK$5,000,000.
Upon the completion of the Pure Luck Acquisition
on 3 May 2024, the Pure Luck Group became
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group.

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no material pending

litigation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 158 full-time
employees (as at 31 March 2023: 123 full-time
employees).

The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory
provident fund and in-house training programmes, salary
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. The total remuneration cost incurred by
the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$76,587,000 as compared to approximately
HK$69,330,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposures are summarised as follows:

(i) The Group has a concentrated clientele base. Any
loss for major customers or decrease in the number
of projects with the top 5 customers of the Group
may adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results.

(ii) The Group’s past revenue and profit margin may not
be an indication of the Group’s future revenue and
profit margin. In particular, the Group’s revenue is
on project basis, which is non-recurrent in nature,
and the Group may achieve lower-than expected
revenue if it fails to maintain continuity of the
Group’s order book for its new projects.

(iii) The Group is dependent on its Board members
and senior management staff, the departure of its
staff may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations.

(iv) Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs
of the Group’s projects may adversely affect the
Group’s financial performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

() Any delay or default of progress payments or
retention monies by the customers may affect the
Group’s cash flow and may have adverse impact on
the Group’s financial results.

(vi) Failure to renew the Group’s current registrations
and licenses may adversely affect the Group’s
business operations. For other risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to the
section headed “Risks Factors” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 28 July 2015 (the
“Prospectus”).

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

The Group’s success also depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers
and suppliers.

Customers

For foundation construction works, the principal customers
are generally from the main contractors of construction
projects in Hong Kong. For ground investigation services,
the principal customers are generally from the employers of
construction projects in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Directors considered that the Group did not rely
on any single customer. The Group also maintains a long-
term relationship with its customers, some of which have
established more than 10 years of working relationship with
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the Reporting Period, the suppliers of goods
and services which were specific to the business of the
Group and were acquired on a regular basis to enable
the Group to continue to carry its business included (i)
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the site
works; (i) materials and equipment suppliers to supply
materials and equipments used in the site works; and (i)
suppliers of miscellaneous goods and services required
for the Group’s business operations. The Group maintains
multiple suppliers and subcontractors to avoid the over-
reliance on a few suppliers and subcontractors; and did
not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials
from suppliers and engaging subcontractors during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not have any significant
disputes with any of its suppliers and subcontractors
during the Reporting Period.

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with the applicable labour laws and regulations
and regularly reviewed the benefits of existing staff for
improvement. The Group intends to use its best effort
to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel
to serve the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise
performing staff by providing an attractive remuneration
package.

The Group determines the salary of its employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualification, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts
annual review on salary increment, bonuses and
promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The Group considers that the Group has maintained
a good relationship with its employees. The Group
has not experienced any strikes, work stoppages or
labour disputes which affected its operations during the
Reporting Period. The Directors also acknowledge that the
management team and the employees have maintained
a good relationship and co-operated well during the
Reporting Period.

BEEm R

HEBERSEH

RBREHE mEAEBEFBRFEERAEHRH
BEMRRGUAETEEEUBEETHES
MEEEEE (\CERZBRETHETERN
DEB(INVHEBMBETIEERNYE KRB
Mt kR BEHER  R(INHEAEBESE
EFfEMNEMREEmARFNEER K&
B oaftEeahko o U2 Y D 8H
EERDEBHBEKRE RESHE  ~&E
KEHEERBEYHEZESDEOEAEILE
BEBERNERNE  AEEN KRS HEILER
HERHEBRDBEEERERMGD -

B8

FERREERETERNESEE - NBRSH
B AEECEBTERFHERNER LE
HERKTEREEIRMN TEERERX
BRI RBEBEEREGBAERTERR
BoAEBANBREENBERABBRMEA
RS DB R BN RS UERB RSB RIREFH
BT

FEBTERBEZEENER ERER B
UhFEEEREHNW ~EBESFRESZR
ENXRFEHMF TCAKRBSAETHRS -

FEERREERRHEERFREFMMFE N
BREHBE AEBTEZTEATEHEEED
EIL - FIHAFEUD -BEFTRR NRSE
HE EEEREES A —EFRERFBERF
REE-

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —¥== "MEER

31



32

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group places an emphasis on environmental
protection when undertaking its projects. The Group was
awarded the ISO 14001:2015 (environmental management
system). During the Reporting Period, the ISO 14001:2015
certificate was valid from 24 March 2021 to 29 April
2027. When preparing the tender documents, the Group
will take into consideration the environmental protection
requirements of potential customers as well as the
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environmental
protection. The Group’s safety officers are responsible for
ensuring that the Group satisfies the applicable laws and
regulations requirements and identifying and reporting on
environmental issues to our project management team.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operation are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong while the Company
itself is a holding company. Our operations accordingly
shall comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report, there is no material non-compliance with the
relevant prevailing laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets up to the date of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yan Shuai (BEh), aged 36, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in financial management from Shanghai University
of International Business and Economics (/8% FME & X
)in 2009, bachelor's degree of business administration
(majoring in financial services and administration) (long
distance learning course) from Douglas College in 2009
and Master Degree in Science (majoring in Economics
and Finance) from University of Durham in the United
Kingdom in 2011. Mr. Yan also obtained a fund practice
certificate* (PEIFEH R EE T EMNFEFEE)issued by
Asset Management Association of China (PEIEHFRE
HB2143%)in February 2018. Mr. Yan has over 12 years
of experience in the finance field. Mr. Yan has been a
senior investment manager of Shenzhen Capital Group Co.
Limited CRYNITIRIFTEEE) and Shanghai Chuangxin
Investment Management Company Limited* (7883
BEEEBMRAF)since 2011, responsible for fund-raising
and project financing. Mr. Yan has joined the Company
since 13 March 2018.

Mr. Bai Huawei (BZER]), aged 44, has over 20 years
of experience in securities trading, enterprise listing,
investment, financing and fund management and also
has extensive professional experience in the energy field
during his past cooperation with central state-owned
enterprises in China. He has been a managing director of
Xinglin Investment (Hong Kong) Limited since December
2015, a representative for type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the
“SFO”) (“Type 1”) of Shun Loong Securities Company
Limited since May 2020 and a representative for type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO
(“Type 9”) of Capital Focus Asset Management Limited
since May 2020. Mr. Bai was also a representative for
Type 1 of Emperor Securities Limited from March 2010
to May 2020, a representative for Type 1 of Emperor
Wealth Management Limited from May 2012 to June
2017, a representative for type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) regulated activities under the SFO of Emperor
Futures Limited from August 2017 to May 2020 and
a representative and responsible officer for Type 9
of Emperor Asset Management Limited from August
2011 to October 2014 and from October 2014 to June
2017, respectively. Mr. Bai joined the Company since
7 September 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wang Yu (EFR), aged 38, is a managing partner at
BRICs (Xiamen) Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd.* (&
(BFY) BEKLEEEHRAE) since December 2018.
Prior to that, Mr. Wang served as post-doctoral analyst
at China Oceanwide Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (FFEZ
EIEREEAREAT) from May 2017 to May 2019 and
chief analyst at Zhuhai ValueHunter Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* GREEHKIERKREETEIER
fR/A T from September 2014 to September 2015.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance and
a master’'s degree in management studies from Waikato
University in the New Zealand in June 2009 and August
2011 respectively, and a doctor’s degree in management
from City University of Macau in September 2014. He
was also a postdoctoral fellow in theoretical economics
at Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (Rl &5} &
) in the People’s Republic of China from May 2017 to
May 2019. Mr. Wang joined the Company since 5 January
2024.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi ((R#E$&) , aged 43, has over 20 years’
experience in financial, risk and investment management.
He currently acts as the chief financial officer, company
secretary, member of the management committee
of Mason Group Holdings Limited (“Mason Group”)
(a company delisted from the Stock Exchange in
November 2023 (stock code: 273)) a director of certain
subsidiaries and associates of it in April 2020 and an
independent non-executive director of Jiangsu Protruly
Vision Technology Group Company Limited CL &k 1R T £
BEAEEBRNBERAE) (@ company delisted from
the Shanghai Stock Exchange in May 2020, (stock code:
600074) since July 2018. Mr. Zhang was an executive
director at Mason Group from April 2020 to November
2023 and an independent non-executive director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 643) from
March 2017 to August 2022. Mr. Zhang currently serves
as a corporate instructor of MPACC at Harbin Institute
of Technology and a practices instructor of postgraduate
students of accounting and auditing at Jinan University and
a students mentor of professional postgraduate students
of University of Science and Technology Beijing and
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
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Mr. Zhang obtained a master degree of business
management* (T & IEHE T £2(1) from the University of
Science and Technology Beijing in 2011. He also holds
qualifications as a certified public accountant and senior
accountant in the PRC. Mr. Zhang is an International
Affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, fellow member of CPA Australia
and holds the certificate of independent director of the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zhang has joined the Company since January 2018,
and he was an executive director, chief financial officer and
authorized representative and authorised person of the
Company, and re-designated to a non-executive director
since March 2020.

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (#5¢¥k), aged 57, has over 23
years of experiences in financial management, accounting,
and auditing fields.

Mr. Chui, is currently an executive director of Yuk Wing
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1536), a non-
executive director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1246) and an executive director of Hong Kong
Life Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (“HK Life
Sci”) (stock code: 8085). The securities of HK Life Sci had
been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange until 14
September 2020.

He was an independent non-executive director of Aurum
Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from
March 2010 to March 2016, an executive director of China
Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 228)
from October 2005 to June 2016 and a non-executive
director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code:
559) from December 2015 to March 2020.

Mr. Chui was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings
Limited (“Ming Lam Hldgs”) (stock code: 1106) from July
2019 to August 2020. Mr. Chui was informed that Ming
Lam Hidgs was ordered to be wound up by the High Court
of Hong Kong on 31 August 2020.
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Mr. Chui was a non-executive director of Hsin Chong
Group Holdings Limited (“Hsin Chong”) (stock code: 404)
from May 2015 to March 2019 whose securities were
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange until 31
December 2019. Hsin Chong was wound up by an order
of the Supreme Court of Bermuda dated 20 January 2020.
On 11 April 2022, the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange issued a statement in which, among others,
certain former members of the board of Hsin Chong have
been criticised. Details of which in respect of Mr. Chui are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 April
2022. Mr. Chui has joined the Company since 7 January
2021.

Mr. Lui Kwok Wai (BEE), aged 34, was appointed
as the vice president of OCI International Holdings Limited
(REBEBEREBRAT) (“OCI International”), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
329), since November 2020. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of OCI International and the managing
director and responsible officers of OCI Asset Management
Company Limited, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary
of the OCI International. He manages SFC Type 1, Type 4
and Type 9 regulated activities and also acts as the overall
management oversight and the manager-in-charge of key
business line functions. Mr. Lui is focusing on company
management, fund investment & capital market area, and
business development.

Mr. Lui has extensive experience in capital market and
corporate finance. He served as the senior vice president
of the leverage & acquisition finance division of Mason
Securities Limited from October 2016 to July 2020. Mr. Lui
was responsible for margin finance, general offer finance,
merge & acquisition projects, asset management, advising
on securities trading and funds investment, as well as
issuance of investment research report.

Mr. Lui also served as non-executive director of China
International Development Corporation Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 264), from
February 2017 to March 2018.

Mr. Lui obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Science in
Engineering (Environmental Engineering) from the University
of California, San Diego in 2013. Mr. Lui joined the
Company since 5 January 2024.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Eric, Todd GZIRIE), aged 62, possesses extensive
professional experience in the auditing, financial
management, investment and media industry. Mr.
Todd holds a bachelor of science degree in business
administration from the School of Management of Boston
University in Massachusetts, United States of America. He
was a certified public accountant in the State of California,
the United States from September 1989 to January 2010.

Mr. Todd started his career at the Hong Kong office of
KPMG (formerly known as KPMG Peat Marwick) from 1985
to 1990 and subsequently joined the Standard Chartered
Bank Group and worked from 1991 to 1995. Prior to
joining the Company, he had been employed as a business
consultant and also served as finance director for several
companies engaged in the media industry.

Mr. Todd was an executive director and chairman of Far
East Holdings International Limited (stock code: 36) from
February 2021 to February 2024, a director of Tech Pro
Technology Development Limited (stock code: 3823)
(“Tech Pro”) from March 2020 to June 2021 (the issued
shares of which were listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and delisted on 2 March 2020), an executive
director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited
(stock code: 8272) from March 2020 to April 2021 (the
issued shares of which were listed on the GEM board of
the Stock Exchange and delisted on 13 July 2021), and
a non-executive director of Leyou Technologies Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1089) from July 2015 to December
2020 (the issued shares of which were listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange and delisted on 24
December 2020).
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Mr. Todd was also an executive director of Shi Shi Services
Limited (stock code: 8181) from August 2016 to October
2020, an executive director and chairman of DeTai New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) from March 2020
to September 2021, and an independent non-executive
director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code:
1246) from July 2016 to August 2017 and an independent
non-executive director of Jimu Group Limited (stock code:
8187) from May 2021 to February 2022. Mr. Todd was an
executive director of Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 404) (‘Hsin Chong”) from March 2017 to
March 2019, whose securities were listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange until 31 December 2019.
Hsin Chong was wound up by an order of the Supreme
Court of Bermuda dated 20 January 2020. Mr. Todd has
joined the Company since 7 January 2021.

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Z#H#F), aged 52, has over 20 years
of experience in financial and investment management.
He has been the vice-president, chief financial officer and
chief executive officer in Wonderland International Asset
Management Limited GERBEIREEBEEBRAA)
since January 2018. Mr. Jiang worked in Beijing Renge
Technology Corp. Ltd* QERLCHFBERHBERAE)
(NEEQ Code: 837824, voluntarily delisted in December
2018) as vice general manager and chief financial officer
from September 2015 to December 2017. He also
worked as chief financial officer (Asia) in Morningstar, Inc.
(NASDAQ: MORN) from August 2009 to September 2015.
Mr. Jiang has been an independent non-executive director
of China Ruifeng Renewable Energy Holdings Limited (47
Bl R EEREZERBRAE), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 527), since January 2019
and an executive director of Enviro Energy International
Holdings Limited JREEEIFRIZERBRAT]), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1102), since
June 2019. From March to June 2022, Mr. Jiang was a
non-executive director of Suoxinda Holdings Limited (2=
ERERAER/AT), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 3680).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEREEFR

Mr. Jiang qualified as an accountant in the People’s
Public of China in May 1998 and as an intermediate
financial officer conferred by the Ministry of Personnel
People’s Republic of China in November 1997. Mr. Jiang
completed his research program in Art and Culture® (X
) at Sichuan University in July 2000 and obtained his
bachelor’s degree in Accountancy at the Central Institute of
Finance (R REABERIZET) (now known as the Central
University of Finance and Economics) in June 1993. Mr.
Jiang joined the Company since 7 September 2023.

Mr. Zhang Yi (BRE), aged 43, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in finance management from Xi’an Jiaotong
University in July 2000. Mr. Zhang passed the SAC
Securities Industry Professional Level Evaluation Test*
(SACEE HTEZEE ABKFFEAIE) by the Securities
Association of China* (FEIzEZ 21 E) on “securities
trading™ (%22 5), “securities investment analysis™ (58
HH/RE D) and “fundamental knowledge in securities
market” (&M EM A #)in June 2012. He had
also passed the AMAC Fund Practitioner Qualification
Examination* (AMACE S £ ABEREH) by Asset
Management Association of China* (TR HKRE
HE X% E)on “fundamental knowledge in security
investment funds™ (FEHKREEEEMTH) and “laws
and regulations, professional ethics and business practices
of funds™ (B A AR BEBREEBEFE), in
December 2016. In addition, Mr. Zhang has also been the
general manager in Shenzhen Jingshi Culture Media Co.,
Ltd.* CRINITT RBXXACEE B R A FD) (formerly named
as Shenzhen Sanzhi Mingxiang Cultural Media Co., Ltd*
(RN =ZBEEXEEEARAT)) since September
2015. Mr. Zhang joined the Company since 7 September
2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying (Fi£%) joined the Company in
January 2017. She currently serves as the company
secretary and financial controller. She holds a bachelor of
accounting degree in the Edinburgh Napier University and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Wong
worked in Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1335) as a finance manager and several
accounting firms. Ms. Wong has over 13 years of extensive
experience in the field of accounting, auditing and financial
management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors of Wan Kei Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries is committed to achieving
and maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the
Group to formulate the business strategies and policies,
and manage the associated risk through effective internal
control procedures. It will also enhance the transparency
of the Group and strengthen its accountability to the
Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the Reporting Period (the “Code”).

The Group commits to continuously improving its
corporate governance practices by periodic review to
ensure that the Group continues to meet the requirements
of the Code.
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EEELRRS

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, three non-executive Directors, and
three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman)
Mr. Bai Huawei
Mr. Wang Yu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Eric, Todd

Mr. Jiang Senlin
Mr. Zhang Yi

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Each of Mr. Bai Huawei, Mr. Jiang Senlin, Mr. Zhang Vi,
Mr. Wang Yu and Mr. Lui Kwok Wai confirms that he (i)
has obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 7 September 2023, 7 September
2023, 7 September 2023, 5 January 2024 and 5 January
2024, respectively and (i) understands his obligations as a
director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period. There
are currently three independent non-executive Directors
in the Board and the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents more than one-third of
the Board. As such, there exists a strong independent
element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Company has also complied
with rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which stipulates
that one of the independent non-executive Directors
must possess appropriate professional qualification or
accounting or related financial management expertise. In
compliance with the Code, the independent non-executive
Directors expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclosed the name of the Directors.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has three non-
executive Directors, being Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, Mr. Chui
Kwong Kau and Mr. Lui Kwok Wai, with a term of 2 years
commencing from 1 March 2024 for Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, a
term of 2 years commencing from 7 January 2023 for Mr.
Chui Kwong Kau, and a term of 2 years commencing from
5 January 2024 for Mr. Lui Kwok Wai.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has three
independent non-executive directors, being Mr. Eric, Todd,
Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Zhang Vi, with a term of 2 years
commencing from 7 January 2023 for Mr. Eric, Todd and a
term of 2 years commencing from 7 September 2023 for
both Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Zhang Yi.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term of two years which
can be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other and they subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company (“Articles”).
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At each AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once
every three years. The Directors to be retired in every year
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year
and those who have been longest in office since their
last election or re-election. Mr. Yan Shuai and Mr. Zhang
Zhenyi will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming
AGM pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, Mr. Yan Shuai
and Mr. Zhang Zhenyi have informed the Board that they
would not offer themselves for re-election and accordingly
will retire as Director upon the conclusion at the AGM as
they would like to devote more time to other personal
commitments. Each of Mr. Yan Shuai and Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
has confirmed that there is no disagreement with the Board
and there is no matter relating to his retirement that needs
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

New Director appointed by the Board during the year shall
retire and submit themselves for re-election at the AGM
immediately following their appointments. Mr. Bai Huawei,
Mr. Jiang Senlin, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Wang Yu and Mr. Lui
Kwok Wai will retire from office as Director at the forth
coming AGM of the Company, being eligible, offer himself
for re-election pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of its
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Group considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board. The biographical details
of each of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board meets regularly and, in addition to regular
meetings, it meets as and when warranted by particular
circumstances. During the Reporting Period, 9 board
meetings were held. The Directors’ attendance of the
Board meetings and general meeting are set out as

EEXERERS

ESTRRRAT

EXCEHEHASHZ MEANGIN TERR
KERBERODHIZ NREH/[ HE1T
IREFCTEZ EFHREEFTIRZARE
REHRBFHWMT :

follows:

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
RiREHIRE g A=y
REXEH E5ggan
HERY HERS
RN EERH
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Shuai BB A 2/2 7/9
Mr. Zhu Jiayu (resigned on 8 November 2023) RfEHiLE (R _T_=
+—A/\B&D) 1/1 3/4
Mr. Bai Huawei BERLE (WZEZ=4F
(appointed on 7 September 2023) LB+ BESZDT) 1/1 6/6
Mr. Wang Yu FrRsced R ZEBEZINE
(appointed on 5 January 2024) —BHEBEZMT) N/A 58 3 11
Non-executive Directors JEMITESE
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RiIRZ L 2/2 8/9
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau BRI E 2/2 8/9
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai BEELE RS - ME
(appointed on 5 January 2024) —BHEBEZDT) N/A FiE 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAIEHITES
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BEERELE (RTZ2TOF
(resigned on 5 January 2024) —BABED 2/2 6/7
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REERE (W22 =
(resigned on 7 September 2023) NBtHED 1/1 1/2
Mr. Eric, Todd ERESE 2/2 8/9
Mr. Jiang Senlin E/-MEE RZB2Z=F
(appointed on 7 September 2023) HNBtBEZMD) 1/1 5/6
Mr. Zhang Vi REEAE (RZETEZ=F
(appointed on 7 September 2023) NBtTBEZD 0/1 4/6
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND
DELEGATION

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership
and control of the Group and be collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses
on formulating the Group’s overall strategies, approving
the annual development plan and budget; monitoring
financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
system and supervising and managing the management’s
performance.

Regarding the Group’s corporate governance, during the
Reporting Period, the Board has performed the following
duties in accordance with the terms of reference:

° determined and reviewed the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous

professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

o reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of
conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group. The Board gives clear directions to
the management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the
Group by the management. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committee”).
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Yan Shuai, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance
for the development of the Group, leading the Board
and guaranteeing effective operation of the Board in
accordance with sound corporate governance practice
and procedures, as well as advocating an open and active
discussing culture to promote the Directors to effectively
contribute to the Board. The Company has not appointed
the chief executive officer during the Reporting Period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct of the Company regarding directors’ transactions
of the listed securities of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors,
and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code and its code of conduct during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
code provision C.1.4 of the Code during the Reporting
Period that all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an in-
house training on the Listing Rules in the form of a seminar
during the Reporting Period conducted by the legal advisor
as to Hong Kong laws and relevant training materials were
distributed to all the Directors. All Directors attended the
in-house training and perused the training materials. The
training covered topics including the Code, listed company
regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
disclosable transactions and connected transactions, etc.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the (i) audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), (i) remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), (ii) the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and (iv) the
investment committee (the “Investment Committee”)
with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of each of the Board Committees, which explain their
respective roles and authority delegated to them by the
Board, are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and
upon reasonable requests, are able to seek independent
professional advice and other assistance under appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 9
May 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of
the Code. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Jiang
Senlin, Mr. Eric, Todd and Mr. Zhang Yi with Mr. Jiang
Senlin being the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia,
to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, internal
control procedures and risk management control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. During
the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management on the Group’s unaudited interim
results, audited annual results, the consolidated financial
statements and this report.
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During the Reporting Period, 6 meetings were held by the
Audit Committee. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out below:

EEXERERS

REESHE BREETERT6REE &
ZEEEENENHELHEIWT

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Name of committee members Period

R AR/

HERS

ZEgREHS RN
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (former chairman) BEERLE GIEE)

(resigned on 5 January 2024) (RMZ_E_NME—BAHET) 5/5
Mr. Jiang Senlin (Chairman) EZ/MEE (F/F)

(appointed as the chairman of (RM-ZE-_mWE—BEHH

Audit Committee on 5 January 2024) BEZAEABEZREEGTER) 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson 2= 5% &

(resigned on 7 September 2023) (RZEZ=FNLABtH#MDE 4/4
Mr. Eric, Todd EIREEE 6/6
Mr. Zhang Vi RERE

(appointed on 7 September 2023) (MZEBEZ=FALBtHEZD 1/2
There had been no disagreement between the Board and PRERBE EEQHBEZRZEGIERR
the Audit Committee during the Reporting Period. DI e

During the Reporting Period, members of the Audit
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The audit committee should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

RBEHE BEBREEE EZEE8ENE
BETUTEE

BT 2 &
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MEBTNERZEFER ;
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(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
For this purpose, “external auditor’ includes any
entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to
be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally.
The audit committee should report to the board,
identifying and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

(d) to monitor integrity of the issuer’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the board, the
committee should focus particularly on:—

(i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

(V) compliance with accounting standards; and

(Vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;
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(e) Regarding (d) above:—

(i) members of the committee should liaise with
the board and senior management and the
committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the issuer’s auditors; and

(ii) the committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the report and
accounts, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the
issuer’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors.

Oversight of the issuer’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

() to review the issuer’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk
committee, or by the board itself, to review the
issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems;

(s); to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have
effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
issuer’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(h) to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;
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(o)

to review the group’s financial and accounting
policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external
auditor’s management letter;

to report to the board on the matters in the terms of
reference;

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board;

to review arrangements employees of the issuer can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the issuer’s relations with the external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee on 9 May 2015. As at the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises an executive
Director, namely Mr. Yan Shuai and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Zhang

Yi.

Mr. Zhang Yi is the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives of
the Board from time to time. The Board as a whole has
determined the remuneration policy and packages of the
Directors. No individual Director was allowed to be involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration of senior
management is listed as below by band:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

EEXERERS

EFERMNFNEECEERELRAST
A —B TR AREREXANPIETHS
S

FMEEEN T ERSEENEIEREES
EhEREEBEAENFHRERRBAES
ERLERER UREBEFEFAKNATHE
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EERRAEEFHNHFWNERAENTE I E
B EFEESEREEBIHM -

ES

EEMERBEESNRHT SEREKREURSE
EENEEETE I EFHFMBERTFH
MESESFER - EFHWHNFBHANEE
BEaMBRE-

=REREA S HM

RBREHAE SREEASNHFMEE RS WN
T

No. of person

#FEEE (BT) A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T AT -
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000 75 £ 1,500,0007 7T -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T £2,000,0007 7T

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 75 £2,500,00074 7T 4

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
5 highest paid employees required to be disclosed under
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules have been set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 4 meeting and all the members have attended to
review the Group’s remuneration policy and approved
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts. The
committee members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee is set out as follow:

RESHE FMESERTT74REZEHES
RREHELE UESRAEREEFHFINER
ERATESTRBGAONRR -FHEZETHE
HEZEEEZNBERHINDT

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period
g =y
HERS
EERE
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (former chairman) REERE FIEE)
(resigned on 7 September 2023) (RMZEZ=FNABtH&MT 1/2
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) REAEE (i‘rf‘)
(appointed on 7 September 2023) (RMZEZ=FNLBtBHEZMT 1/2
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EEELE
(resigned on 5 January 2024) (RMZE_WE—BAHEMDT 3/3
Mr. Jiang Senlin (appointed as the member of the ;HMK ERZE_NHFE—FBAHAH
Remuneration Committee on 5 January 2024) ZEAFTHNEEGHE) N/A 48 A
Mr. Yan Shuai B EFI] Ve 4/4

During the Reporting Period, members of the
Remuneration Committee had performed the following
duties under the terms of reference:

° assessed the performance of executive Directors
and consulted the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration
proposals for other executive Directors;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’” and
senior management remuneration;

° reviewed and approved the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management;
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° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

° considered salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company
and its subsidiaries;

° ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
and

° reviewed and approved compensation payable to

executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

° reviewed and approved compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

° reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”); and

° conformed to any requirement, direction, and
regulation that may from time to time be contained
in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law.

No material matters relating to share schemes (as defined
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) were required to
be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee
during the Reporting Period.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 9
May 2015. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises an executive Director, namely Mr.
Yan Shuai, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Zhang Yi. Mr. Jiang Senlin
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, diversity and competition of the
Board, assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendations to the
Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors.

Nomination Policy

The director nomination policy sets out the approach
and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination
and selection of Directors including the appointment of
additional directors, replacement of directors, and re-
election of directors. The selection criteria in assessing the
suitability of potential candidates includes, but not limited
to, their professionalism and personal ethics, reputation
for integrity, character and integrity, board experience,
expertise, time commitment, measurable objectives
set out in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it considers appropriate
for evaluating and shortlisting candidates, which may
include, personal interviews, background checks, written
submission by the candidates and third party references.
The selection process for each of their appointments shall
be evaluated using a substantially similar process and shall
be fair and transparent.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held 3 meeting and all the members had attended to
review the Group’s nomination policy. The committee
members’ attendance of the Nomination Committee is set
out as follow:

EEXERERS

RESHB RR2EEEFETTIRNGZE MU
ERAEERABR EEMNEHELHRE-
EEg; .

AL EEENEHEZEETTEZNBRET
W

Attendance/

Number of

meetings during
the Reporting
Period

MRS HARAY
HERY,
EERH

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (former chairman)
(resigned on 5 January 2024)

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Chairman) (appointed as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee

EERELE GEE)

(RZE2E-_HmNE—BABEMDT 2/2
EBXMEE (FE)

(RZE_WmWE—HBAEH

on 5 January 2024) EZIARLEZEESTER) N/A 48 3
Mr. Zhang Vi 9&%5‘5%

(appointed on 7 September 2023) (RZEZ=FNBtHEZMT 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson 25 )’fﬁ 5'1': 4

(resigned on 7 September 2023) (RMZEZ=FhBtH#MD 1/2
Mr. Yan Shuai BB 5T 4 3/3

During the Reporting Period, members of the Nomination
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and made recommendations
on proposed changes (if any) to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

° reviewed the Company’s Board Diversity Policy and
the progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the said policy;

° determined the policy for the nomination of
Directors;
° assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

° made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the
date of this corporate governance report. A summary of
this Board Diversity Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy,
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed below.

The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board’s diversity has been considered
from a number of measurable aspects including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services, all of which the Company considers
to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
Currently, all Board members are male. The Company
plans to appoint at least one female Director by the end
of December 2024. In order to cultivate a pipeline of
suitable female successors to the Board, such steps will
include providing existing female senior management
with comprehensive training on areas such as business
operation, management and corporate governance, and
giving due consideration to gender diversity when recruiting
or promoting candidates for senior managerial roles and/
or directorship based on existing nomination and board
diversity policies. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regards for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee will from time to time review
the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its
effectiveness.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 9 Directors,
members of the Board have a variety of education
backgrounds, including holding bachelor and/or master
degrees in the science, law, financial management as well
as the business administration fields. Most of the members
also possess various finance-related experiences. The
composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills, professional experience and knowledge for an
effective leadership of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the objectives in Board Diversity
Policy during the Reporting Period.

For the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management), please refer to ESG in this annual report.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Investment Committee
on 2 March 2022. As at the date of this report, the
Investment Committee comprises two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Bai Huawei and Wang Yu and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Lui Kwok Wai. Mr. Bai
Huawei is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The specific written terms of reference of the Investment
Committee were approved and adopted by the Board.

Pursuant to the terms of reference, the primary duties
of the Investment Committee are (a) to study and make
recommendations to the Board in relation to investment
activities, recommendations must be submitted to the
Board for approval; (b) to advise on the investment
policies of the Company; (c) to discuss, formulate views
and advise the Board on asset allocation, selection of
external portfolio investment advisor/fund manager(s)
and quantum to be invested with collective investment
schemes/fund managers and appointment of custodian(s);
(d) to consider such other topics and matters relating to
financial investments of the Company as may be assigned
by the Board; and (e) to review these terms of reference on
at least an annual basis and recommend any changes it
considers appropriate for the Board’s approval.
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During the Reporting Period, the Investment Committee
held 3 meeting. The committee members’ attendance of

the Investment Committee is set out as follow:

RESHBE REZEEH
EZETWMELFELZEETTE
B

TT73x%g
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Attendance/
Number of

meetings during
the Reporting

Period
K ¥R &5 HARI AY
HERS®
BERY™

Mr. Yan Shuai (former chairman) (ceased to be
the chairman of the Investment Committee
on 5 January 2024)

Mr. Bai Huawei (Chairman)

(appointed as the chairman of the Investment
Committee on 5 January 2024)

Mr. Wang Yu (appointed as a member of the

Investment Committee on 5 January 2024)

Mr. Lui Kwok Wai (appointed as a member of
the Investment Committee on 5 January 2024)

Mr. Zhu Jiayu (resigned on 8 November 2023)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (ceased to be a member on
5 January 2024)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which
reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results
of its operations and cash flows of the Group and are
in compliance with the relevant accounting standards
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
each financial year have been prepared on this basis.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
as its external auditors for the year ended 31 March
2024. There was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
during the Reporting Period are as follows:

EEXERERS
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. However, risk-taking is an unavoidable
necessity and an accepted part of the Company’s business
while effective risk management is an integral part to
present competitive advantages and ensure the Company
achieves its strategic and business objectives. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses.

Risk Management

Risk management applies to all aspects of the Group’s
business and is a critical component in developing
strategic plans, preparing operational plans and budgets,
approving investment projects and managing project plans.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and management
based on the severity of impact on the Company and the
probability of risk occurring.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the
risks as follows:

° Risk elimination: management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —8== /“IUFFiR

[ B TR e P BB 4

EFgHOHEASAETGREEREREME
PR ERFEREMNERTEEREERE I
BRAEBERIAMFEBEAENNAREE
RAMEEFE AT ARBDEHEETE
E%ﬂﬁ}hﬁ%%%&lﬁ%” BB E
ﬁ EENERBFEIRBEREATEMRR
REEREGEREHRERZ AREERMNEE
EREEEEEMFHRERREERER
BRENERE T EEERESEMIIFEHRE
B BERERRAFIER -

AR EE

ERERBRANAEREFNIER  BSH
EBRE - FEREESHEREAE ME&T
EEKREEBEE S8 ARMBAERSED

EXeHEEENRRAGEE
TENBEMERARELENHTX

JiNE SR NYNIS]

FEERRERBTGEER BUTHAERE
LR

. HREAK CEBEIRITEHETE
B R SR HRERE R o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

° Risk mitigation: management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood and/
or severity of impact to an acceptable level.

° Risk acceptance: management may decide that the
risk rating is acceptable for the Company meanwhile
and no action is thus required. However, the risk
would continue to be monitored to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

Controls and Reviews

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that the
relevant management directives are carried out and actions
that may be needed to address risks are taken. These may
include approvals, verifications, reviews, safeguarding of
assets and segregation of duties.

Control activities can be divided into operations, financial
reporting and compliance, although there may, on
occasion, be some overlaps between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Group include:

° analytical reviews: such as conducting reviews of
actual performance against prior periods;

o direct functional or activity management: review of
performance reports;

° physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories
and other assets are safeguarded and subject to
periodic checks; and

° segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties
among different people, with a view to strengthening
checks and minimizing the risk of errors and abuse.
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Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

o conducts its affairs with high regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission;

° closely communicates and seeks advice from its
legal advisor in assessing the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact
the price of the Shares or their trading volume,
and to determine whether the relevant information
is considered inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant
to the SFO and the Listing Rules;

o has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct
a strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

° ensures, through its own internal reporting process
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.
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Assessing the Effectiveness of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Board, via the Audit Committee, is responsible for the
review and assessment of the major risks the Group faces
and the review, approval and monitoring of the Group’s
response to such risks annually.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management
process and reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by performing
the following procedures:

o Review with management annually those reports on
compliance with the risk management policy;

° Discuss with management annually on the Group’s
major risks and the steps management has taken
since then or should take to address and deal with
such risks; and

° Review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management practices.

Management is responsible for ensuring the Group’s
business operations being conducted in line with our risk
management policy, taking into consideration changes in
external environment and the Group’s risk tolerance level.

In addition to the Board’s oversight, the Group has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to remediate material
internal control deficiencies (if any). Management, through
the engagement of the independent internal control and
risk advisory team, is responsible for the annual risk
reporting process. The independent internal control and
risk advisory team meets with members of the senior
management to review and assess risks and discuss
remedial measures to address material internal control
deficiencies (if any), including any changes relevant to
a given year. Risks are compiled, ratings assigned and
migration plans documented. The risk assessment is
reviewed by management and presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review.
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The Group has in place effective processes and systems
for the identification, capture and reporting of operational,
financial and compliance-related information in a form
and timeframe intended to ensure that staff carry out their
designated responsibilities.

Risk Management and Internal Control Process

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews
annually the continuous effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems dealing with risk
and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and
regulations, and risk management functions.

The assessment considers:

° the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the risk management and
internal control systems;

° the extent and frequency with which the results
of monitoring are communicated, enabling the
Committee to build up a cumulative assessment of
the state of control in the Group and the effectiveness
with which risk is being managed;

° the incidence of any significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified at any time
during the period and the extent to which they have
resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

° the effectiveness of the Group’s processes in relation
to financial reporting and statutory and regulatory

compliance;

° areas of risk identified by management;
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° significant risks reported by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team;

° work programs proposed by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team; and

° significant issues arising from internal and external
audit.

As a result of the above review, the Board considers that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate and have complied with the
Code Provisions on risk management and internal control
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report.

Internal Audit
The Company does not have an internal audit function.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, Riskory Consultancy Limited, which
has assisted in monitoring the corporate governance of the
Group and providing an objective assessment to the Board
on whether a sound internal control system is maintained
and operated by management.

The internal control and risk advisory team conducted a
review on a number of corporate governance areas and
business cycles and provided recommendations for the
improvement and strengthening of the internal control
system. No significant control finding or weakness has
been identified by the internal control and risk advisory
team. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal control and risk advisory
team on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and reports to the Board on such reviews.
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Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The
Company may consider declaring and paying dividends to
the Shareholders provided that the Group is profitable and
without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In
determining the declaration of dividends and the dividend
amount, the Board will take into consideration, inter alia,
the following factors:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance;

o the liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;
and

° any other factors that the Board may consider
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
are also subject to restrictions under the applicable laws
and the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company.

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

The Board would review the Company’s dividend policy
from time to time considering factors including but not
limited to capital investment and business plan.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying has been appointed as the Company
Secretary (the “Company Secretary”) since January
2021.

The Company Secretary reports directly to the Board. All
Directors have easy access to the Company Secretary
and the responsibility of the Company Secretary is to
ensure the Board meetings are properly held and are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for giving advices
with respect to the Directors’ obligations on securities
interest disclosure, disclosure requirements of disclosable
transactions, connected transactions and inside
information.

The Company Secretary, Ms. Wong Kit Ying, had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

For each general meeting:

- separate resolutions are proposed at the general
meeting for each substantial issue, including the
election of individual Directors;

- the chairman of the general meetings of the
Company explains the procedures for conducting a
poll before putting a resolution to vote; and

- the results of the voting by poll are then published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The AGM is a forum in which the Board and the
Shareholders could communicate directly and exchange
views concerning the affairs and overall performance of
the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are available to attend to questions raised by the
Shareholders. The external auditors of the Company is also
invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of
the Shareholders concerning the audit procedures and the
auditors’ report.

The next AGM of the Company will be held within 2024,
the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right to vote
at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Company Secretary by mail at Unit No. 07, 16th
Floor, Emperor Group Centre, No. 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures for
Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person (other
than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the branch share registrar set out in the
section headed “Corporation Information” no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting for such election and no later than 7 days prior to
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company
may be given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by post to the principal place of business in Hong Kong
set out in the section headed “Corporation Information”
by fax at +852 3793 3530 or by email at info@1718hk.
com. The Company Secretary is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s
direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions
and inquiries, to the Chairman of the Board.
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Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures
to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group
maintains different communication channels with its
stakeholders and through various channels, including
general meetings, public announcements and financial
reports. The investors are also able to access the latest
news and information of the Group via our website
(www.hkex1718.hk).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the
Company together with the Board extend their invitation
to all Shareholders and encourage them to attend the
forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings. All
the abovementioned communication channels are part
of the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy.
The shareholders’ communication policy is annually
reviewed by the Board to ensure its implementation and
effectiveness. The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
deemed the results as satisfactory.

The Shareholders may also forward their enquiries and
suggestions in writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Unit No. 07, 16/F,
Emperor Group Centre
288 Hennessy Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: info@1718hk.com
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save as disclosed below, during the Reporting Period,
there had been no significant changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
has amended the amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company adopted on
9 May 2015 (“Amended and Restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association”) by way of adoption of a
second amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association (“Second Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association”) in order
to (i) bring it into alignment with the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards as set out in Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules and the relevant requirements of the
applicable laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands;
(i) provide flexibility by allowing general meetings of the
Company to be held as electronic meetings or hybrid
meetings where Shareholders may attend and vote by
electronic means in addition to or in place of attending
physical meetings in person; and (iii) incorporate
other housekeeping amendments and corresponding
consequential changes. The adoption of the Second
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association was approved by Shareholders in the annual
general meeting on 30 August 2023. Details of the
amendments are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 27 July 2023. The Second Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available
on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
could ensure an effective distribution of the resources
and Shareholders’ interests. The senior management
will continue endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and
increasing the Group’s corporate governance level and
quality.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIR - ERELRHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report was prepared for an overview of the
performance of the Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) on
environmental, social and governance (‘ESG Report”).

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the
overall performances, risks, strategies, measures and
commitments of the Group in environmental, social, and
governance areas for the year ended 31 March 2024
(“YR2024").

During the YR2024, the Group is principally engaged
in providing foundation construction works, ground
investigation services, financial services and trading of
consumer products. During the year, the Group has
expanded its business into e-commerce live streaming and
promotion business in Guangzhou, Guangdong Province.
The foundation construction works is its major business,
which mainly consists of the construction of socketed
H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles, pipe piles and king posts.
The Group conducts foundation construction works
through Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Company
Limited and ground investigation services through Chun
Shun Boring Engineering Company Limited. Therefore, the
ESG Report will mainly focus on the above businesses.

For the Group’s corporate governance practice information,
please refer to the corporate governance report on pages
41 to 73 of this annual report.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report is prepared in accordance with the “mandatory
disclosure” requirements and “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guidelines (hereinafter referred
to as the “ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, and in compliance with the following reporting
principles for the preparation of this report:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Materiality

The Group focuses on topics that are material to
stakeholders and have a material impact on our business,
the environment and the society. We have engaged
with the key stakeholders of the Group that are directly
impacted by our operations, including employees,
suppliers, customers, investors/shareholders, government
and regulatory agencies and the general public. We will
continue to maintain ongoing communication with our key
stakeholders to understand their concerns and interests
towards our operations and sustainability performances.

Quantitative

This report made quantitative disclosure and ensure key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) are measurable and
accompanied by statements describing their purposes,
standards, methods, assumption, data and calculation
methods for emissions and energy consumption.

Balance

This report outlines the key performance indicators of the
Group with impartial manner and avoid presenting them
with undue impact for the readers of this report.

Consistency

Unless otherwise stated, this report adopts consistent
methods to collect and calculate the data and provides
historical data where appropriate, so as to make
meaningful comparison as much as practicable. To show
stakeholders the full picture of the environmental, social
and governance performance of the Group, this report
discloses the environmental and social KPIs in accordance
with the “mandatory disclosure” requirements and “comply
or explain® provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. The
methodology or KPIs used to prepare this report remain
unchanged from last year.

Reporting Boundary

The scope of disclosure in this report is the same as those
covered in the annual report and covers all entities listed
in our financial statements, including all subsidiaries. The
Group aim to identify and collect the data as practicable as
possible. If there is change in the scope, we shall discuss
the difference and the reason of the change.
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R ERERHRS

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group undertook
its environmental and social responsibilities during the
year and actively implemented a number of environmental
and social policies. In terms of the environment, the
Group strictly abided by relevant laws and regulations,
implemented detailed internal codes, and made clear
guidelines on management of site environment, control on
emissions, and even management of office environment,
in an effort to minimise the impacts of its daily operation
on the environment. Thereby, we hoped to reduce the
emission of our construction sites to the surrounding
environment and maintain the high quality of our projects.

In terms of employment, the Group has established a
series of internal policies related to employment according
to the guidance under Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong SAR, industry
features and practices to ensure that its employees are
provided with equal promotion opportunity and other
packages, such as minimum wage security, maximum
working hours, compensatory leave, mandatory provident
fund or pension security and rewards for long-term
services.

The Board is responsible for overall ESG strategy and
reporting, through regular meetings and continuous
communication with management, ensuring that our ESG
policies are duly implemented, monitoring the progress
made against ESG targets and continuous updating to
compliance with the latest standards.

This report was confirmed and approved by the Board on
28 June 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND
COMMUNICATION

The Group defines its stakeholders as people who affect
its business or who are affected by its business. Its
stakeholders include government and regulatory agencies,
investors/shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers
and the general public. The Group actively communicates
with these stakeholders and presents its updated
operation condition to them proactively through various
channels. The Group integrates their opinions with its daily
operational decisions, strive to balance the interests of
the parties and satisfy the expectations and demands of
stakeholders.

IRIR-HERERERS

FirESENEE

AEBRSREFNENAZEEEBARH
EGTENAT - HFNECRBUNREEH
B-REE /KRR -FR -EE -HEF KT
AR -FEERBBEZSFHNERE 218
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels

FinE BERME BBRE

Government and e Comply with relevant laws and regulations e | aw-abiding operations
Regulatory Agencies e Proper tax payment e Tax payment on time and in full

BT R 5 B o BEMEBZEEER o KIEKE

o ERBMNIE

Investors/Shareholders e |nvestment return
e Transparency of information

e Corporate strategy and governance

REE/RR o REMK

o ENBEHE
o EFRERER

Customers e Durable and solid foundation

o REEZBER

e Better manage risk and generate
sustainable long-term returns

e Statutory reports and general
disclosures

¢ |nterim and annual reports

o BltEBRERRELAFERD
EES

o EERSKR—MIKE

o HFHIKRFERS

e Regular meetings with

e High-quality ground investigation services contractors/customers

e Direct communication

EE o RERERME
o BELHMENAIR
o HEER

e Maintain good reputation in the
foundation industry

e Customers’ feedback survey

o TEHEEME BARTER

s MMETEMARREFESE

s ERERBE
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels
BiINE BERMY BERE
Employees e Remuneration and promotion prospect e Performance reviews and
e Healthy and safe working environment appraisals
e Corporate culture and well-being e |mplement health and safety
management system
® In-house training
8T o HEMMREBAKE o EMCIEE kT
o BEKRZENIMFRIR o EMERNZEEBERR
o BEXEREH o AERIEEN
Suppliers e Stable cooperation relationship e Conduct assessment survey
® Respect to contractual commitment and payment terms e Fulfilment of contractual
obligations in accordance with
laws and regulations
HiEs o BEAERME o ETHERE

General Public

EE SRR AIRIER

Ensure the daily life was not affected by engineering
Constructions cause no structural danger upon the
completion of works

Comply with relevant environmental laws related to
noise, air pollution and others
BREBELEEIRIREE

IRTIRFSEMBRYERIERR
BRERRERERSASHEFRFED
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group carried out materiality assessment to identify
issues were crucial to the Group’s business and were
of the material concerns to stakeholders, which enables
us to prioritise environmental, social and governance
aspects and develop our action plan strategy. The Group
has identified 22 ESG issues covering environmental,
social and governance. Management and employees
of the Group have participated in the preparation of the
materiality assessment and assessed the importance of
these 22 ESG issues to businesses of the Group and
stakeholders, and make disclosure of relevant data.

The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in YR2024:

=

IRIR-HERERERS

EEMTL
AEEETEE MG LARS A EEER
MeEBUEARGETOMINEE R
FIAESB = BIRIE 1 g R E A S E L5
RO BB R A EEOAR2EE
BEIE e R EANESGEE AEEMNE
EEREES BFELEE NI DERE
2oHESCEEHAEMESRBENENSE
M > T 7 th 48 B B R B o

8
HIGHEST
5]

22 19

1221

237 8 615 16

HAHBNENEEY
IMPORTANCE OF TOPICS TO STAKEHOLDERS
(&)

910 13 14
4
3
2
1
OO 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
IMPORTANCE OF TOPICS TO BUSINESS HIGHEST
BEHEBNER ]
Environmental issues Social issues Operation issues
IRIGRE itemE SEME
Greenhouse gas emissions 9. Local community engagement 17. Economic value generated
RERBEIN Etitesi EENKEERE
Energy consumption 10. Community investment 18. Corporate governance
AEIROH FE HERE TEER
Water consumption 11. Occupational health and safety 19. Anti-corruption
Rk BERREETE R&ES
Waste 12. Labour standards in supply chain |20. Supply chain management
BEEY) HEENE TE%E HEEEE
Environmental impact of construction |13. Training and development 21. Customer satisfaction
ERNIRETE Bl kR BERWEE
Green buildings certification 14. Employee welfare 22. Customer privacy
KB R0 (== ER R
Customer engagement in 15. Inclusion and equal opportunities
environmental issues BERTFERS
EREEREFEN2H 16. Talent attraction and retention
Use of chemicals 5| RBEAT
{E2mfEA
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R ERERHRS

1. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is engaged in foundation construction works
and ground investigation services, which may inevitably
produce exhaust gas, greenhouse gas, dust, sewage,
noises and other emissions. The Group strictly complies
with the laws and regulations relating to environmental
protection and pollution control, including but not limited
to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance
(Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong
SAR, etc., to ensure that its business operations are
conducted within a legal and regulatory framework. The
Group adopts effective systems and policies as set out
below to achieve resource efficiency improvements, energy
conservation and waste reduction.

The Group has implemented detailed internal codes, and
made clear guidelines on management of site environment,
control on emissions, and even management of office
environment, in an effort to minimise the impacts of its daily
operation on the environment.

The Group has put a great effort into minimalising
the environmental impact of its activities through
adopting industrial best practices targeted at reducing
natural resources consumption and effective emission
management.

The Group regularly assesses the environmental risks of
its business, and adopt preventive measures as necessary
to reduce the risks and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.

As a recognition to the Group’s environment policies,
its environmental management system concerning the
design, supply and installation of the rock-socketed
steel H-pile in pre-bored hole and mini pile work, has
been identified to be in compliance with ISO 14001:
2015 after the assessment since 2021. The Group has
been granted the OHSAS 450001:2018 Certification
of Environment Management System by Accredited
Certification International Limited, the Best Safety and
Environment Protection Subcontractor Award and the On-
site Best Safety and Environmental Subcontractor Award
by customers, all of which prove the Group’s endeavour in
promoting environmentally responsible practices.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

1.1. Emissions

Air Pollution - Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

Air emissions from our daily business activities mainly
include direct exhaust emissions from construction
machineries and transport vehicles while carrying out
projects, as well as indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions (“GHG Emissions”) from our electricity and
paper consumption in office and warehouse. To achieve
the target of reducing air and GHG emissions, the Group
has issued specific internal guidance for regulating and
monitoring the GHG Emissions and exhaust emissions
during daily operations, including measures relating to the
construction process and environment management on the
site, turning off all idle construction machineries and strictly
enforcing the “Switch off Idling Vehicles” policy, as well
as reminding staff to turn off all electric appliances while
leaving the working place.

The Group has complied with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
and other regulations promulgated by governments and
currently applicable to the Group, as well as environmental
requirements of contractors. All machineries, including
leased machineries, used on the site shall obtain
approval or exemption from the Environmental Protection
Department, and shall not be used on the site until the
approval label or exemption label has been attached.
Those machineries consume ultra-low-sulfur diesel to
reduce the emission of suspended particles, thus reaching
our environmental protection target.

In addition, the Group maintains and repairs machineries,
equipment and vehicles on regular basis, with a view to
preventing them from generating excess emissions of
exhaust caused by broken parts and other reasons, and to
facilitate the reduction of fuel consumption.
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R_ETMEE - BERIFBNKEEREIRH

During the YR2024, the air emissions and GHG emissions

data are as follows: BT
Categories of emissions Unit 2024 2023
HerhiEsE Bl —TmE —E-=
Air emissions '
EE mBERL
Nitrogen oxides (NOX) emissions kg 460.8 473.7
EAlE=R 1wk k1 T
Sulphur oxides (SOX) emissions kg 1.3 1.1
R E Y EER T
Particulate matter (PM) emission kg 37.6 39.5
TR BER T
GHG emissions
= R ARHERR
Total GHG emissions ? ton CO2e 6,326.2 8,293.9
mE RS A MLk EE
GHG emissions intensity ton CO2e 40.0 67.4
(per employee)
BRERBHREE MLk EE
(B4EE)
GHG emissions intensity ton COze 21.9 26.3
(Per million HK$
revenue)
RERBHNRZE MR ICEE
(EE8EBTWE))
Direct emissions (Scope 1) ton COze 6,254.0 8,206.4
BHiEEIR (BE—) MR ICREE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) @ ton COze 57.0 72.5
BN @ED) ° M S bk E =
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) ton COze 15.4 15.0

HE W (EE=) SR EE

U Emissions are estimated in accordance with the “How to prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

! BERHENEREEBMAXZMARATEMNMNARBIRE LG REBRSNE T | RIRHRENIERERIER) &6

|Hlo

e GHG emissions can be divided into three separate areas: (i) direct emissions; (i) indirect emissions; and (jii) other indirect emissions.
g BERBHRAI DA = KBALER (BRI ()EEHE; Kl R o

3 The emission factors used for the calculation of GHG emissions of electricity purchased in Hong Kong are referenced from the 2023

Sustainability Report published by the Hong Kong Electric Company Ltd and the China Light and Power Company Ltd. The national
emission factor for mainland China is derived from the national grid average emission factor for the year 2022 in the “Notice on
the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting by Power Generation Industry for 2023-2025" issued by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

8 AR EEEAMBEE NN AERIESMNIRARTIRETREBARAS  PEENHRA D E MI2023F A FE%
[R3R S o FR B P 3 B SR B AR Bk B AR 2 A R HEA B 4 AR IR IS 30 (RA M UF2023-2025 F £ BT X X R ERBHIBER S 18
BRITIERBE] ) R EI20226F £ 2 B EA TN A 7 o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from gasoline and diesel
consumption by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions resulting from electricity
consumption by the Group.

Scope 3: Other indirect GHG emissions include emission
from business travel by air by employees and
emission from electricity consumption for
processing fresh water and sewage.

Air Pollution - Dust

Dust is generated during construction work. Dust
emissions can mainly be attributed to wind and kinesis.
Construction materials such as sand and cement stored
outdoor as well as the dust of the exposed construction
area are easily scattered in dry and windy weather. In
addition, dust is generated by external force in particular
the construction trucks and machineries during the
process of excavation and soil loosening.

The Group strictly complies with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Group controls the emission of air pollutants by following
the Group’s internal guidance. To reduce dust pollution,
all vehicles carrying sand and other scraps are covered
completely with canvas to ensure that no large amount of
dust is generated during transportation. In order to prevent
dust spreading around, the Group installs water sprinklers
on the sites to clean tires of construction vehicles while
entering into or leaving the sites and roads.

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

Waste from daily operation of the Group includes general
inert waste and non-inert construction materials from
construction works. The Group manages waste from the
site in accordance with the internal waste management
guidance and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In general, the Group
categorises the waste from construction works. General
inert waste from work, such as rocks, if applicable, shall
be reused as filling materials at the site or collected by
professional contractors as reclamation materials in the
future. Other waste that is not applicable for recycle or
reuse shall be discarded to the public dumping area. Metal
and chemical waste within the site shall be collected and
discarded by licensed contractors. All waste shall be well
disposed before being removed from the site.
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IRIR - ERELRHRS

In respect of office waste, apart from disposing waste
at the designated place in line with the requirements of
the property management office of the office premise,
the Group also categorises the waste and engages a
contractor to collect toner cartridge. Meanwhile, the

MAEBEYITEH BEBERAZEAEEXRER
EXR RURBENRIEEMHIN REETE
ETHNRSE TEEANELCWRNRF
B A~EBEEHERRR - BENEREEEY
HEBRUEINBD B LOEYRER-

Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper,
toner cartridges and ink cartridges to reach our target of

gradually reducing waste.

During the YR2024, the data of non-hazardous waste is as RO NMEE BEREEYHENT
follows:
Categories of waste Unit 2024 2023
EEEmER Bl - o 1 - 3 —g_=
Waste
EEEY)
Non-hazardous waste produced “ ton 193 172
FREL mEEEY g
Intensity of non-hazardous waste produced ton (per employee) 1.2 1.4
FFESXBEBEVEE nE (B%ES)
Intensity of non-hazardous waste produced ton (Per million 0.7 0.5
HK$ revenue)
FFELABREBEVEZE L
(sE8BTHmE)
Total hazardous waste produced ° ton N/A N/A
FRES B SREEYRES Mg iEA B
Intensity of hazardous waste produced ton (per employee) N/A N/A
FRELEESBENEE M (5% ES) &R NERA
Paper kg 1,712 1,919
R T

During the YR2024, no hazardous waste is generated.

RO -FE TRELEREEEY-

[N EF NN
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During the YR2024, the Group’s non-hazardous waste from daily operation mainly comprises of iron.
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Sewage Discharge

The Group has complied with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Water
consumed at the site shall be discharged to the designated
environmental treatment facility in accordance with the
instruction of the contractors before being discharged
outside the site. The Group shall deploy adequate
manholes and deposition pools in line with seasons, with
an aim to mitigate the water pollution caused by garbage,
oil or other materials.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant
emissions. During the YR2024, the Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have significant impact on the
environment. In addition, there was no report of significant
fines or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the YR2024.

IRIR-HERERERS
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IRIR - ERELRHRS

1.2. Use of Resources

The Group’s use of resources mainly comprises fuel
consumption for cranes, hoists and motor vehicles; and
electricity consumption and water consumption in offices.
To achieve the target of increasing resources consumption
efficiency, the Group encourages its staff to make good use
of resources, and issues internal notice to all of the staff:

° Turning off all the air conditioners and lighting
systems before leaving the working environment;

° Using LED lighting in the office;

o Maintaining the indoor temperature at 25 degrees
Celsius in the office;

° Using recycled paper and double-sided printing
as well as old envelops for internal documents or
nonimportant/unclassified documents;

° Using electronic documents such as email as much
as possible and reducing paper usage;

° Reducing the use of disposable goods and reusing
office stationery; and

° Making use of telephone/video conferencing
equipment to avoid unnecessary business travelling.
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During the YR2024, data of resources consumption is as

R_ETMEE BERHFEBENT ¢

follows:

Type of resources consumption Unit 2024 2023
HiRHEEE Bl —EME —g_=
Electricity purchases for consumption kWh 135,845 132,237
FEEHFE T EE

Electricity consumption intensity kWh (per employee) 860 1,075
HEERE FEF (B%ES)

Amount of water consumption m? 4,214 8,292
FEKE AR

Water consumption intensity © m? (per employee) 27 125
FEIKEES THK(BLES)

Total packaging material used for finished products” kg N/A N/A
oA B M EEET T EA B
Amount of packaging material per unit produced * kg N/A N/A
SHERNBEME#E T B B
Petrol liters 49,977 40,854
FAH ~FH

Diesel liters 2,338,480 3,092,963
S0 RFt

Cement ton 13,750 13,848
K Mg

The Group considers water resources to be quite valuable
and the Group is committed to promoting the concept
of saving water. There is a wide range of water use at
construction sites. Although the water supply facilities at
the sites are provided by the contractors, the Group urges
on the construction workers from time to time not to waste
water. As for offices, the Group puts up some slogans with

saving water near taps to remind staff to save water.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience

FEBERB/KEREELE  FIUEEERRS
REMVAKES - BEIMPNAKERES
BZ #ATHHNHEKRBHARBREMR &
EEFTRKIERETIAYNREKER - BAQ
EHE AEBRRKMRMEAERRGE AKX

S IREBEBIEAMAK.

RBERAN > ZEEERBGEA KR L E I E

any problems in obtaining suitable water sources. BEEMREE
’ No use of packaging materials since the Group does not have physical products for sale. Therefore, this disclosure is not applicable

to the Group.

’ HRAERTEEYERNE S ERBEMK Bt ZWETBRNAER -
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1.3. The Environment and Natural Resource
Noise Management

As certain procedures would produce noises during the
construction, which cause impacts to the residents nearby,
the Group adopts necessary measures to minimize noises
in compliance with the Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter
400 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group conducts
construction during designated time (e.g. 7 a.m. to 7 p.m.
on normal working days) and applies for Noise Control
Permit (NCP) for certain works or construction ways.

The Group would set noise barriers or noise enclosure at
the early stage during construction period to suppress the
noise level.

As mentioned above, the Group strictly complies with
the laws and regulations on environmental protection
and pollution control, and has also established an
environmental management system in compliance with
the requirements of ISO 14001:2015 in order to minimise
the negative impact of its business operations on the
environment and natural resources.

Enhancing Environmental Awareness

The Group actively enhances the environmental awareness
of its staff in addition to enhancing environmental
measures, including issuing of internal environmental
guidance and sharing of relevant environmental information
in relation to green office.

1.4. Climate Change

The management of the Group has been aware that
climate change and global warming pose a huge impact
to global environment which may adversely impact our
businesses and the economy as a whole. Extreme weather
events could interrupt our supply chain logistics and could
delay project delivery leading to potential financial losses of
the Group, threatening the stability of the Group’s business
and operations. In view of this, we have conducted regular
reviews of environmental standard and regulations and
formulated ESG targets and goals in order to minimize the
aforesaid risks.
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2. SOCIETY

Employment and Labour Practices
2.1. Employment
Employment Policy

The Group has established a series of internal policies
related to employment according to the guidance under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China and Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and other laws and regulations, industry features
and practices to ensure that its employees are provided
with equal promotion opportunity and other packages,
such as minimum wage security, maximum working hours,
compensatory leave, mandatory provident fund or pension
security and rewards for long-term services.

In general, subsidiaries of the Group would make proper
upward or downward adjustment to the number of existing
staff in the recruitment process based on the scale and
actual situation or progress of the existing sites and the
sites awarded. As all employees on the sites are paid on a
daily basis, the employee turnover is relatively high.

As general foundation construction works and ground
investigation services involve certain high-risk activities,
only staff who holds a Construction Industry Safety Training
Certificate can carry out related work on the site.

Besides, as our subsidiaries engage in construction
business, they will also subcontract some projects to other
subcontractors. In order to ensure that the employees of
the subcontractors could receive reasonable wages, we
usually pay the wages to such employees responsible for
relevant projects on behalf of the subcontractors.

During the YR2024, the Group were not involved in any
illegal activities related to employment that had caused
material impact on the Group.

IRIR-HERERERS
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Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group’s principal businesses include foundation
construction works and ground investigation services,
which demand plenty of physical labour force, hence
traditionally male employees are a majority in the workforce
of construction business.

The Group is impartial in choosing its employees, and
has gradually established and improved its recruitment
mechanism. Recruitment of employees is based on their
work experience, techniques, skills, and work performance.
The Group does not discriminate our employees on the
basis of their gender, age, origin, nationality, race, religious
belief, sexual orientation, physical disability, marital status
and so on.

Staff Communication

The Group places high priority on staff communication
through various activities and channels, by which it
can understand its staff's needs and strengthen our
relationship. In some traditional Chinese festivals, such as
Chinese New Year Eve, the Company organised New Year
Eve’s dinner for all staff in order to create a harmonious
and friendly working atmosphere and strengthen
communication with staff.

Dismissal

The Group complies with the guidance under Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong), the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and other
laws and regulations. When terminating the employment of
staff, the Group will follow the process to make reasonable
compensation to the dismissed employees. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment relationship
are set out in the employment contracts of every employee.
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The employment data as at 31 March 2024 is set out

below:

Employment data
Bz

;o

Unit
B (i

2024

—EME

IRIR-HERERERS

R _E_NE=ZRA=+—HNEREEHRI

2023

Total number of staff
BT

By gender
ﬁﬂ%ﬁ
Male

Bt
Female

peqid

Employment Type
&85!

Full-time staff (Male)
EET (BMH)
Full-time staff (Female)
ERET (&ZH)
Contract staff (Male)
BHET (BMH)
Contract staff (Female)

Age Distribution

Fh D
Below 30

SOFE LUR

Above 60
60RE I LA L

Geographical region
MIBGIE

Hong Kong

=3

Mainland China
R Py it

New employees

MEET

Staff turnover
BIR%

Staff turnover rate & °
BT s

Number of staff
ETA#

%
%

%

Number of staff

ETA¥

Number of staff
ETA#
%

158

79
21

44
21
35

13
19
24
23
21

136
22

51

26
16

123

87
13

40
13
46

18
21
29
28

123

10

11

& The staff turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of staff departures during the Reporting Period by the total number of
staff during the Reporting Period. Moreover, detailed statistics by gender and age group are not available due to the industry practice
of the Group’s foundation construction works and ground investigation business, which has a relatively high staff turnover.

8 TRAXDHEARSHANBRERE TABGRUREHETRYFAE SRAFTERNMERRETER I BN EFHNTEE

@J B SR IEABAEAK - B UL RIZME R ~ F 8 AH R 9 E1T SF AR 5T o
2 Four staffs were located in mainland China and the remaining staffs were located in Hong Kong (2023: all staffs located in Hong Kong).

o ARBTURPEAM R IETUNEE CE_=F  TEETHURES)
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The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to employment during the course of operation.
During the YR2024, the Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the laws of Hong Kong), the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China and other relevant laws
and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare in Hong Kong. In addition, there was
no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
YR2024.

2.2. Health and Work Safety
Occupational Safety

The Group cares about the health and well-being of our
employees. Due to the nature of its businesses, some
employees have to operate a variety of large machines
during daily work, which involves certain safety risk. As
such, the Group strictly complies with the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations, and
has implemented various safety measures to ensure the
occupational safety of the employees.

All employees who perform engineering operation must
undergo mandatory basic safety training. Only those
awarded with the Construction Industry Safety Training
Certificate, commonly known as the “Green Card”, can
be employed to carry out related work on the site. In
order to enhance site safety supervision and staff’s safety
awareness, the Group has also engaged professional
safety consultants to conduct inspection on site safety so
as to rectify site safety problems immediately and reduce
the occurrence of industrial injury incidents. The Group’s
professional safety consultants also regularly provide
certain safety courses and guidelines on site safety for site
staff and supervisors.
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As there are many machinery and other equipment in the
construction sites, employees will be more prone to work-
related injuries. The Group strictly requires workers to wear
safety protection equipment such as safety helmets and
obey the safety guidelines of contractors and the Group.

Physical and mental health

Apart from daily work, the Group encourages employees
to participate in various types of outdoor activities which
benefit to the body fitness and mind and keep healthy
to promote the physical and mental development of
employees and maintain a work-life balance.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to health and safety during the course of operation.
In YR2024, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the relevant
laws and regulations relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards that have a significant impact on the Group. In
addition, there was no record of significant safety accidents
and occupational injuries (no work-related fatalities in the
past three years) including the Reporting Period, and no
lost days due to work injury during the Reporting Period;
and no violation of health and safety laws and regulations
was found in YR2024.

2.3. Development and Training

The Group actively attracts and retains talents, and trains
employees who have the potential to become managers
in the long run. Therefore, the Group encourages its
employees to receive further education in relation to the
development needs of the Group and make good use
of their talents to achieve their career goals. The Group
offers sufficient internal promotion opportunities to its
employees. The Group promotes its staff based on their
staff performance evaluation results. The Group’s senior
management has extensive experience in the industry
and will actively share their knowledge to facilitate the
development of our employees. Employees may also
communicate with and seek professional advice from their
department heads on their personal career development
planning.

IRIR-HERERERS
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All staff on the construction site are required to attend site
safety lectures organised by the contractor that last for half
a day to one and a half days depending on requirements of
such contractor. The Group has also asked staff to attend
lectures on construction site safety and crisis training
organised by professionals.

All staff of the money lending business have attended
seminar regarding to overview of licensing conditions
of money lenders licence, international anti-money
laundering standards and Hong Kong regulatory regime
for licensed money lenders, money laundering and terrorist
financing methods, suspicious transaction reporting and
risk assessment and mitigation in relation to proliferation
financing.

The Group has appointed professionals to provide its
Directors and senior management with trainings on
various aspects such as the Listing Rules and corporate
governance.

During the YR2024, the training data of Directors and

PRERGEHMBES IR MEHEAEZEENRD
ABAFRE-—XRF EHEBARBANERMD
E)RMBEZ2BE - AERBTERETISM
HEXALTHBNEEHBLZEHERGHK
=l e

BEEXBNE2BEIHE2MABRE AR
REREARE - BRRABEEREBR
BREAGEENE - ABRIAMERZERER
E AR ZREUKREBENREE R
ERERAEE -

AEBECEFEEALIAEEZTRSREER
REBAN LT RAEEELRS KT ENE
Al e

RIZE_NFE - EEkShEEENEIHK

senior management are as followed?®: BT
Employee training data Unit 2024 2023
& 8153 # iz Efi —EmE —¥-=
Percentage of directors and senior management trained

by gender
BERBONZINESERESREEBA DL
Male % 100 89
3
Female'® % 0 11
ﬁm
Average training hours completed per Directors and

senior management
SREEREREEENTHE MBI
Male hours 1.5 6
5 INEF
Female hours 0 20
Z NS
2 We will gradually optimize the data collection process in order to disclose the training information of other staffs in future.
0 RGN AREZS BIEBRRERTRE  LUEREEME T153I8H%-
LC During the Reporting Period, all Directors of the Group were male. In order to promote gender diversity among the members of the

Board, the Group has actively considered and intends to recruit female Directors on or before 31 December 2024.

10 BREHRN AEENEENEIAF M - AEHEFTEMENEHZ b ZEBERIRE B 5t 8]/22024F 12831 B ZAl

BERtES-
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2.4. Labour Standards

The Group rigorously complies with all relevant labour
standards, such as the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Employment of
Children Regulations (Chapter 57B of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labour
of the People’s Republic of China, and the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, etc. and actively
protects the basic personal rights and interests of its
employees, ensuring that they work in a fair environment
and are respected. The Group strictly forbids unlawful
acts such as child and forced labour. In order to combat
illegal employment of child and forced labour, the Human
Resources Department of the Group requires job seekers
to provide valid identification to verify their age and
identity before confirming employment to ensure that
applicants can be employed in accordance with the law.
If any behavior of an employee is found to be in violation
of labor standards, the Group will immediately terminate
the employment and conduct a thorough investigation to
determine the cause.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to labour standards during the course of operation.
In YR2024, there was no case of material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to preventing
child or forced labour. In addition, the Group did not
employ child and forced labour, nor did it record any cases
of discrimination involving race, religion, age or disability in
YR2024.
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OPERATING PRACTICE
2.5. Supply Chain Management

The Group has a total of 198 suppliers (in 2023, the
Group had a total of 185 suppliers), mainly including
subcontractors and material suppliers. There are no
significant suppliers to the Group’s businesses other than
foundation construction works and ground investigation.
In YR2024 and YR2023, the Group’s subcontractors and
material suppliers were Hong Kong based companies.
There was no major change in the regional ratio during the
year.

The Group has long-term relationships and mutual trust
with its major suppliers (including subcontractors, material
suppliers, etc.) based on long-term cooperation, and all
of them have been our material suppliers for more than
a decade. As the Group’s foundation construction works
and ground investigation businesses are based in Hong
Kong, it chooses to purchase from suppliers in Hong Kong
to save transportation costs and minimise environmental
impact.

In addition to geographical factors, the Group chooses
and evaluates its suppliers based on their professional
qualifications, product quality, service capabilities,
environmental and social risks and pricing, etc. and in
accordance with our procurement policy. The Group
ensures suppliers and subcontractors comply with relevant
local and international standards, and follow up with
periodic performance assessment. Evaluation is conducted
on existing and new (if applicable) product and service
quality annually. We will only work with approved suppliers
and subcontractors. Furthermore, the Group strictly
stipulated that all purchase orders on materials shall be
placed by the procurement officers at office, and purchase
orders must be signed by Directors to be valid. Where
practicable, we will consider suppliers and subcontractors
with lower environmental and social risks by requesting
them to provide information such as certifications on quality
management, health and safety etc.
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2.6. Product Responsibility
Product quality

The Group has been engaged in foundation construction
works and ground investigation services for over a decade
and has completed hundreds of projects one after another.
The Group is widely recognised and highly praised by its
clients as it focuses on service quality and is committed
to providing its clients with top-tier service portfolio. To
meet the demand of its clients, the Group has developed
its internal management system and closely monitored its
project execution process, with an aim to render premium
and reliable service to its clients.

All foundation construction works and ground investigation
services provided by the Group shall be verified by
the contractor or surveyor, and the Group believes
that this will also help enhance its clients’ confidence
on and recognition of its services. The Group’s quality
control system on the design, supply and installation of
Rocksocketed Steel H-pile in Pre-bored Hole and Minipile
work has been accredited with ISO9001:2015 certification
of quality management system by Accredited Certification
International Limited. During the YR2024 and YR2023,
the Group received no complaints or claims from our
customers arising from the quality issues of the work
performed by the Group or sub-contractors, which in the
view of Directors, is attributable to the effective quality
control measures. During the YR2024 and YR2023, the
Group did not sell or ship any products and hence there
were no product recalls for safety and health reasons.

Policies of privacy and intellectual property rights
o Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to strengthening the protection
of intellectual property rights. Therefore, we require
employees to strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations such as the Copyright Ordinance (Chapter
528 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We also have clear
requirements for the application, management, use and
protection of intellectual property for our customers and
the Group. The Group keeps a complete record of its
intellectual property rights, and only uses genuine software,
and employees are required to submit an application to
the Group before installing any software to avoid infringing
on the intellectual property rights of others. The Group will
seek legal advice and take appropriate action if any of its
intellectual property rights are infringed upon. If the Group’s
staff is discovered to be in violation of applicable rules and
regulations, they will not only face disciplinary action, but
may also be subject to criminal or civil liability, as stated in
the Group’s staff handbook.
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During the YR2024, the Group was not involved in nor was
it aware of any violation of laws and regulations relating to
intellectual property.

Customer Privacy Protection

Apart from the provision of foundation construction works
and ground investigation services, the Group also acts as a
money lending business provider and an E-commerce live
streaming operator.

During the operation of the Group’s business, it will have
access to personal data of its customers, hence ensuring
privacy of its customers’ information is one of the most
important issues. The Group attaches great attention to
the protection of privacy and intellectual property. The
Group only collect personal data for its operational needs
and clearly informs all customers or persons about the
intended use of the data and their rights to review and
revise their information. Employees must abide by relevant
laws and regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Provisions on Protecting the Personal Information of
Telecommunications and Internet Users of the People’s
Republic of China, etc. They are forbidden to disclose
customers’ information to third parties without prior
consent, adhering to professional ethics at all times. Al
collected personal data is treated as confidential and
securely kept and processed only for the purposes for
which it had been collected. Only authorised personnel
are able to access and manage sensitive data and
information. The Group’s employees are prohibited from
revealing or capitalising on any confidential matters or
client’s information no matter during employment or after
termination of employment. Any employee who is found to
have divulged confidential information to any third parties
without authorisation will be subjected to disciplinary
actions.

During the YR2024, we were not aware of any significant
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations. We did
not receive any compliant concerning breaches of clients’
privacy nor have we identified any leak or loss of client
data.
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Communication with customers

The Group actively communicates with its customers to
understand their needs and their feedbacks on the services
provided by the Group. In the event that the Group’s
projects could not reach the requirements and expectation
of the customers, the Group will actively cooperate with
the customers and provide remedies so as to satisfy the
requirements of the contractors or surveyors.

Credit approval policy

Money Lending Policy adopted by the Group has been
designed to ensure that the Group’s money lending business
operates in accordance with the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Cap. 163, Laws of Hong Kong). The Group wil regularly
monitor, review and, when necessary, update the existing
policy to ensure the money lending business is strictly in
compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163,
Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of
Hong Kong SAR, the Provisions on Protecting the Personal
Information of Telecommunications and Internet Users of
the People’s Republic of China and other applicable laws
and regulations that have a significant impact relating to
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided by the Group in YR2024.

2.7. Anti-Corruption

The Group and its subsidiaries all strictly adhere to the laws
and regulations relating to anti-corruption, including but not
limited to the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group seeks
to further review the information of customers or suppliers
through understanding the background of customers
or suppliers by way of interview, thereby identifying and
preventing the customers or suppliers and employees
from bribery, blackmail, fraud and money-laundering in any
way. The Group will regularly review the implementation of
relevant systems and put more resources in improving the
mechanism, if necessary.
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The Group has developed a Whistle-blowing Policy
internally. Staff may report to relevant department
managers or senior management in the event that they
identify any irregularities, and the Group will protect the
identity of the informer. The Group shall conduct detailed
investigation on the reported event and take appropriate
actions according to the result.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, which has assisted in monitoring
the corporate governance of the Group and in providing
an objective assessment to the Board on whether a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated
by management. The Group also engaged independent
auditors to audit the consolidated financial statements
of the Group and to state whether in their opinion the
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption during the course of operation.
In YR2024, our staff has participate in anti-corruption
training. We will strive to provide relevant training to
directors in the future. In YR2024, there was no case of any
material non-compliance with the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the relevant laws and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that have
a significant impact on the Group. In particular, no legal
cases regarding corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or its employees during YR2024. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
YR2024.
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2.8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to and takes pride in contributing
to the community in a variety of forms. As a part of the
community that it cherishes, the Group has put its best
effort in helping the local communities and people in
needs in the society and contributing to the well-being
of a community beyond financial support. The Group
constantly encourages its employees to contribute their
skills and time to the community by volunteering their time
in the community development and outreach programs.
The Group has been striving to reward the community
in different ways. The Group values its corporate social
responsibility by dedicating to improve its staff awareness
of community care.

The Group proactively seeks to promote the spirit of
corporate social responsibility within the company by
organising or participating in appropriate community
activities. Through various types of events, we encourage
our employees to contribute to the community so as to
help the needy and improve the relationship among staff,
enterprise and community.

In the coming future, the Group will continue to attach
great importance to community services, and will
encourage its staff members to be actively engaged in
voluntary services and join hands together to disseminate
the spirit of services in the community where the Group all
depends on.
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APPENDIX: ESG INDEX

Aspects No.

=] 5 1% 4R 5%
A. Environmental

AIRIR

A1: Emissions General
Disclosure

1 BEY) —RINE

A1

At1.1
A1.2

A1.2

A1.3

A1.3

A1.4

A1.4

Mz} :ESGIEIRZRSI®

Content

BEEAE

Information on:

a. the policies; and

b. compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.

ERBERMEBEREIER  @KAELMBYBEES
EERBEEREREYNELEFN !

a. BE; &
b. BIFHBETABEAXZEZNHEBEEIEZRE
BBIE K o

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

By R R AR R B R o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

B (BHE) REREE(EE2) RERBIENRE
(LXU¢§§+%))§Z(§D B EE (WMUSESBA-
FIERMEH) °

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
FFELEEEREEYRE U8 X (MER) &
EWMNUSESEEM -SBERHEHE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FREEREEEYRE UWstE) kK (WER) &
EWMUSESEMA -BERMHHE) °
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Aspects
EBm

A2: Use of
Resources

A2 I BREH

No.
SRR
A1.5
A1.5

A1.6

A1.6

General
Disclosure

—BRE

A2.1

A2.1

A2.2

A2.2

A2.3

A2.3

A2.4

A2.4

Content
EERTS

Description of emission target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

WM YN EEERAEREEB
EVAY 5 B o

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

HMAREAEEMBEEREEYN G L REMFAET
UMREERRAEINELEERMERIANT R

Policies on the efficient use of resources,

TZ TR

including energy, water and other raw
materials.

EMERER (BEFEER - KREMERME) B9
o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

REBERISNEENR HEEER (WE-RI
W EEE (UTETRRSSE AEBE (WUSE
EEN -BERXRMFTHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

MEKEREE WUSEEBEN -SEBEXRMT
8]) o

Description of energy use efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

BT U RERMmERRDE
TR P ER EXAY 2 BR o

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

B KR EGE B KR LRI B E IR E > UKRFrET I
WAKNmERASEINELEE MRS
B o
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Aspects

EBm

A3: The
Environment
and Natural
Resources

A3 IRIERK
XRETR

A4: Climate
Change

A4 D RIREAE

No.
SRR
A2.5

A2.5

General
Disclosure

—BRE

A3.1

A3.1

General
Disclosure

—BRE

A4 A

A4 .1

Content

BEEAT

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

SN mFTAEEMENEE (UMEstE) &k (B8
A 8FfEBMLE-

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

BRETAHBRERRAE RGN EATL EHE
Fo

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

HIMEF EHHRBERRAERNEARZERE
KREEBERTENTH -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

A REHESRAEGHBETAEELENSE
ARIEHEBEEERNRRE-

Description of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.

BB RPIEEHBETAELERENEARARE
HEEE REHITEH-
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Aspects

Em

B. Social
B.it&

B1: Employment

B1: B

No.
SRR

General

Disclosure

— AR EE

B1.1

B1.1

B1.2

B1.2

Content
EERTS

Information on:

a. the policies; and

b. compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,

anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

EfFMN B E - BERSEH  TIERH - KREHA-

TEHE Tt - REGUEEMFERERN

B :

a. BE; &
b. BIFHBETABEAZENHEBEEIERE
B B9 B3 o

Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full- or part-time), age group
and geographical region.

ZEHR - EEEE (NME2BIER - FieMn &
&S D EEEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

BRI FiBR e B DHEBEMKLR-

Reference in
the Report
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Aspects

B

B2: Health and
Safety

No.
IREE TR

General
Disclosure

— MR E

B2.1

B2.1
B2.2
B2.2

B2.3

B2.3

Content

BERE

Information on:

a. the policies; and

b. compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

ERRHEZE2IHFEERFEREEEZHMEMLT

=M

a. BE; &

b. BIFHBETABEAFEMNMAREIZERRE
B B9 B o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

BE=F (BERFE)SFRAITHNAHERK

b o

Lost days due to work injury.

AITEEERIIEBE -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.

HALPT IR ERBEERZ 2B URERHR
Th&EEFE
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Aspects No.
EBm EIRE R

B3: DevelopmentGeneral

and Training Disclosure
B3 : BEKIFI —MRIKE
B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

B4: Labour
Standards

General
Disclosure

B4 : % T #A8 —RIME

B4.1

B4.1

B4.2

B4.2

Content

BRERE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge

and skills for discharging duties at work.

Description of training activities.

ERRAEERT IIFBRENA A RRENEK

o EE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender

and employee category (e.g. senior management,

middle management).

U REERL (NEhEERE -HREERE)

FoNRIMEEB DL

The average training hours completed per

employee by gender and employee category.

BUERREEEE D BREBTHRTIIAFE

8 o

Information on:

a. the policies; and

b. compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRALEZE T3 55 Ty :

a. BE; &
b. BITHBETABEATZENHEBEEIEZRE
BB E K o

Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

Bt A ST AR IE A B M 8 e B T Kol %
To

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

W EERERBRE AR BB RN P

B o
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No.
IREE TR

General
Disclosure

Aspects

Em

B5: Supply
Chain
Management

B5: HEEHEEE —RIKE

B5.1

B5.1
B5.2

B5.2

B5.3

B5.3

B5.4

B5.4

Content
BEERS

Policies on managing environmental and
social risks of the supply chain.

EEMHEENRERTERBHEE-
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

Bited oM EEEEE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

Bt BRI A ERENIES > mHENTHEIEG
NEEEHE  URBEARITRERA A
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
HBRAHEESERMNNIRIE Kt & R R
RIBA > UREBEAITRERGE-
Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
IRIRHIERERERS

Aspects
EBm
B6: Product

Responsibility

B6: EmEE

No.
ISIEAR R
General
Disclosure

— MR E

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3
B6.4

B6.4
B6.5

B6.5

Content

BRERE

Information on:

a. the policies; and

b. compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods
of redress.

ERFREHERNRBIREEZE2 - EBES R
BRWVEBEEURBH G ER !

a. B, &
b. BTHETABEATZENHEBE Z2Z AR
Bl B9 B el o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
EENEEXEMRYPTRLZ2EREEEDRMA
BRI E DL o

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

BEBARNER KRB FUMBUKRBHFE-
Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.
Mt R RENHEEBRNIED -
Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
HTEEREBREREMBWRER-
Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented
and monitored.

HIUH B E BB RERMABIER > MU BB HIT
BB o
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No.
IREE TR

General
Disclosure

Aspects
EBm

B7: Anti-
corruption

B7 . K& —RIME

B7.1

B7.1

B7.2

B7.2
B7.3
B7.3

General
Disclosure

B8: Community
Investment

BS: @& & — R E

B8.1

B8.1

B8.2

B8.2

Content

BERE

Information on:

a. the policies; and

b. compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRIBFIEER - #R - WE R BN

a. BEK; &

b. BIFHBETABEAFEMNMEREIZERR
USSR

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

B B ¥R A 9 ¥ 35 1 A‘EHTEETE&IE%ME’\J%
SEFER MR B KA A R

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

WA EE MR ERER > UREBRITRER
Fike

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
HiMEERETRENRETIHEI -
Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BRAUMESERT EE Lﬁﬂ_ﬁmfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HEBETHEEB LB @AIER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).
SAEEEE (WHE BESEE B TEXR#

E-X{E-8BAH) -
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to

the focus area.

TEIHRFABAER N HHKRE) o
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2.8 Community
Investment
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2.8 Community
Investment

28tersa

2.8 Community
Investment

283t@KkE



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 October
2014. Its registered office and principal place of business
are at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit
No. 07, 16/F, Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. During the year, the Group has
expanded its business into e-commerce live streaming and
promotion business in social media.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is
included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting
Period by operating segments is set out in the note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

EFGHRS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ERTHRS

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in this annual report. No
dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during the
Reporting Period, nor has any dividend been proposed by
the Directors since the end of the Reporting Period (2023:
nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on
19 August 2024. For the purpose of determining the
entittement of the Shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer of books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from 14 August
2024 to 19 August 2024, both days inclusive. During such
period, no share transfer will be effected. In order to be
qualified for attending the forthcoming AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong) for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 August 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Company and the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the note 12 to consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in the
share capital of the Company are set out in note 24(c) to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not have any
reserve (YR2023: nil) available for distribution as calculated
based on Company’s share premium and capital reserve
and retained profits/accumulated losses under applicable
provisions of the Companies Law in the Cayman Islands.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for last five financial years is set out on page 268
in this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the Shareholders on 9
May 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time or part-time), Directors, consultants
or advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners or service providers of the
Group and to promote the success of the business of the
Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme
(being 8,000,000 Shares (after adjusting the effect from
share consolidation), representing approximately 6.94%
of the issued Shares as at the date of this report), without
prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders
or independent non-executive Directors or any of their
respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include a substantial Shareholders,
independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$ 5 million must be approved in advance by
the Company’s Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and
will be at least the higher of () the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption (i.e. 9 May 2015)
and shall expire at the close of business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting. Accordingly,
the remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 3 years.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

No share options were granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme and there are no outstanding share
options at the end of the Reporting Period. No share
options are available for grant under the Scheme as at 1
April 2023 and 31 March 2024. A summary of the principal
terms and conditions of the Scheme is set out in Appendix
IV to the Prospectus.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 30
June 2020 (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognise
the contributions by participants and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group, and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.
The participants of the Share Award Scheme include (i)
employees of any member of the Group, (i) non-executive
directors or proposed non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of any member of
the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”), (i) suppliers
of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity, (iv) customers of the Group or any Invested
Entity, (v) persons or entities that provide or will provide
research, development, consultancy, advisory services or
other technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity, (vi) shareholders of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or holders of any securities issued or
proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity, (vii) any other group or class of participants
from time to time determined by the Directors as having
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances, consultancy, advisory services or other
business arrangements to the development and growth
of the Group, and (vii) any person or entity, who, at the
sole determination of the Directors, has contributed to the
Group. The Board may, from time to time, grant awarded
shares to any participant at no consideration.
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According to the Share Award Scheme, the Board shall not
make any further award of awarded shares which will result
in the nominal value of the Shares awarded by the Board
under the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per cent
(10%) of the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time. Therefore, the total number of shares in respect
of which awards may be granted under the Share Award
Scheme as at the date of this Report is 11,520,000 shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued shares as
at the date of this report. Subject to any early termination
as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10)
years commencing on the adoption date. The remaining life
of the Share Award Scheme is approximately 6 years. The
maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a
selected participant under the Share Award Scheme shall
not exceed one per cent (1%) of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the trustee, DL Securities
(HK) Limited, in accordance with the rules of the Share
Award Scheme and the terms of the trust deed made
and entered into between the Company and the trustee.
The decision of the Board with respect to any matter
arising under the Share Award Scheme (including the
interpretation of any provision of the Scheme) shall be
final and binding. The trustee shall hold the trust fund in
accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme and
the terms of the trust deed.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award
Scheme and the fulfilment of all vesting conditions (if
any) on such selected participants as specified in the
Share Award Scheme and the relevant grant notice, the
respective shares awarded to such selected participants
and the related income held by the trustee on behalf
of the selected participants shall vest in such selected
participants in accordance with the vesting schedule as
set out in the grant notice, provided that the selected
participants remain at all times after the award and on the
relevant vesting date(s) a participant of the Group.

No share awards were granted since the adoption of the
Share Award Scheme. A total of 9,600,000 (after adjusting
the effect from share consolidation) share awards could
be available for grant under the Share Award Scheme
as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024. The Company
purchased 31,645,000 shares through the trustee from
open market. The total amount paid to acquire the said
shares was approximately $19,429,000. A summary of
the principal terms and conditions of the Scheme is set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 June
2020. As at 31 March 2024, the number of share held for
the share award scheme has been reduced to 3,164,500
shares followed by the share consolidation effective on 22
November 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai

Mr. Zhu Jiayu (resigned on 8 November 2023)

Mr. Bai Huawei (appointed on 7 September 2023)
Mr. Wang Yu (appointed on 5 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai (appointed on 5 January 2024)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (resigned on 5 January 2024)

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (resigned on 7 September 2023)
Mr. Eric, Todd

Mr. Jiang Senlin (appointed on 7 September 2023)

Mr. Zhang Yi (appointed on 7 September 2023)

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report. An annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules have been
received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All the independent non-executive Directors and non-
executive Directors have entered into a service contract
with the Company for a fixed term of two years, renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each upon
expiration of the initial term, and can be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —8== /“IUFFiR

BIERITES

EEERE (Eﬁ:%@_mfﬁ BEHBME
REBXE (R TE-_=ZFhLBtH#HMD
%Hﬂﬁf‘ﬁi

ERMEE (RZE=ZFNLAtREZMHF)
%ﬁ%?ﬁi MRZEBEZ=ZFNAtHEZD)

EREFHWNNENB RN EAFREGTHBR

KMFE - ARFERERSBIUFATESR
BEHRAUEIAIFEXNFE B I M HESD
=,

EFMERHEL

ERBUFNTEZTRIIFNTETFEHEAR
B IIEMEEREFHAZRBESL HERK
ERTHEREREREHER T UH—
FEAB—ABEAVDRZEENEERENF
M-



CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF

DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in
the information of the Directors since the date of the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ERERS

RiE EHRAE13.61BI)FR EFERBE
ETE-—HF=-RA=+—HLEFEZEHA
HEEARSHBRLRZESHHINNT !

date of this report is set out below:

Name of Director

Board Change and Changes in Directors’ Information

EFNA EFEEDREFTENED

Mr. Bai Huawei Appointed as executive Director with effect from 7 September 2023

HERSLE N_E_=FNBtHEZERIITES

Mr. Jiang Senlin Appointed as independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 September 2023
ERMIEE RIZE_=FNBtHEZERBIUIFNITES

Mr. Zhang Yi Appointed as independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 September 2023
SRESTE RIZE_=FNBtHEZERBIUIFNITES

Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson

Mr. Zhu Jiayu
FERSE

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

RIRE L

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

EERSLE

Mr. Wang Yu
FrfkdE

Mr. Lui Kwok Wai
=R T E

Mr. Eric Todd

IR E

Resigned as independent non-executive Director with effect from 7 September 2023

KRB =ZFNATHREBIIFNTES

Resigned as executive Director with effect from 8 November 2023

R_ZE-_=ZF+—A/\BRERTES

Resigned as executive Director of Mason Group Holdings Limited (a Company delisted
from the Stock Exchange in November 2023 (Stock Code: 273))
HEXEREEERERARS (MBI =F+—ARBXMERB A BHAK
381 273) MITES

Appointed as the independent director of New Hope Dairy Company Limited
(a company listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange stock code: 002946) on 31 May 2023
RIE=FREA=1+—HEZARNEELERNBRAR (—BEIRPN L™

ZAT] BRIDASE - 002946) Z IE ESE

Resigned as independent non-executive Director with effect from 5 January 2024

R _E_ME—-ARAREBIFRTES

Appointed as executive Director with effect from 5 January 2024
RIZE_NMFE-ARHEZEARITES

Appointed as non-executive Director with effect from 5 January 2024

R _E_ME—-ARREZERFRTES

Resigned as the executive director of Far East Holdings International Limited (stock
code: 36) on 29 February 2024
N_ZEMNFE_AZ+AHBRERZERBERARAS BRDAR : 36) HITES
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Group
was a party in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest whether directly or
indirectly subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or
any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
in this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes
8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not enter into
or have any management and administration contracts
in respect of the whole and any principal business of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors nor Chief
Executive of the Company had any beneficial interests
(including interests or short positions) in the shares of
the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model
Code in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons (not being
a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company
or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

EFGHRS

EFRRITHARSR ARG « HHRARR (D R A
25 BY 1 a Be i3k

RIEBE_WNFE=ZA=+—H HBEEFAX
RETHEENERB RS (TR &R
SINEEMEREZE (EXRESF MG KRG
(TFEFRIBEMEM ) BXVE) NERRGH &
BEEZFEARBEISFRPEMROEXVED
FTRSDEANMEARE KM PN (BERE
BERPHERAZBEBRXXMREFRNRER
BEAzRTmRXR) AREBISFRMERASE
52fF AL M ZIF AT 2 B L MV ARE
EFHFRAZBETFINEERAT R Z
EREnEs (BEEEIKXR) -

FERRRHMATRIRG KRB
2 e 3¢

RIZEZWMFE=ZA=+—H U TFTAL (AL3F
AABESFHITEHABIR) RARF RN SAER
RO PHEAERBRES RPAERMSBEXVEE2K
BNHMZBEARBETEARE ML BN AR
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Number of Approximate
Ordinary Shares percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest held/interested interest
FR¥E”
EHERN
%18 517 #=E ZEknBE S E R
Suntecli Company Limited Interests held jointly with other 27,392,000 28.53%
(“Suntecli”) persons; beneficial owner
(Note 1 and 5)
WRAMERRAR (#HEF) HEMALIHERFEN#ED  BaEEA
(Ht5%155)
Samwood Global Limited Interests held jointly with other persons 27,392,000 28.53%
(“Samwood”) (Note 1 and 7)
HRERIKBRAR (IFE) HEMATHERBEN#ER WWaE1%7)
Mr. Lau Woon Si (‘Mr. Lau”)  Interests held jointly with other person; 27,392,000 28.53%
interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1 and 6)
Bgsried (M3%kE) HEEMATHAFEN®ER ; RREEE
s (W2 1%6)
Mr. Fong Hon Hung Interests held jointly with other persons; 27,392,000 28.53%
(“Mr. Fong”) interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1 and 7)
FEBEE (HERED) HEEMATHAFENER ; RREEE
tem (HaZ1%7)
Ms. So Choi Interest of spouse (Note 2) 27,392,000 28.53%
Bzt BoiBmE (Hat2)
Ms. Kwong Sui Sim Interest of spouse (Note 3) 27,392,000 28.53%
BimB i+ B (H33)
Mr. Leung Man Lun Stephen  Interest held jointly with other persons 27,392,000 28.53%
(“Mr. Leung”) (Note 1)
2kt (TR%E)) BEMA T HEFAENER #WaE1)
Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy Interest of spouse (Note 4) 27,392,000 28.53%

RImE 2t
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Notes:

Suntecli, a company incorporated in BVI, and Samwood with
Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong and Mr. Leung, are parties acting in concert
(having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the Hong Kong
Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs (the
“Takeovers Code”)) pursuant to a confirmatory deed dated 3
December 2014 (the “Concert Party Deed”) and accordingly
each of them is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
each other. Pursuant to the Concert Party Deed, Mr. Lau, Mr.
Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and Samwood have been parties
acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the
Takeovers Code) in the course of the Reorganisation and will
continue to be parties acting in concert (having the meaning as
ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) until such arrangement
is terminated in writing by them pursuant to the Concert Party
Deed.

Ms. So Choi is the spouse of Mr. Lau and is deemed or taken
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Lau has, or is
deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the SFO. Mr.
Lau was an executive Director of the Company and resigned as
executive Director on 7 September 2018.

Ms. Kwong Sui Sim is the spouse of Mr. Fong and is deemed
or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Fong
has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the
SFO. Mr. Fong re-designated from an executive Director to non-
executive Director on 18 September 2019, and resigned as the
non-executive Director on 17 January 2020.

Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy is the spouse of Mr. Leung and is
deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Leung has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the
purposes of the SFO. Mr. Leung was an executive Director of
the Company and resigned as executive Director on 3 January
2017.

The 27,392,000 shares (which were beneficially owned by
Suntecli) were charged to Kingston Finance Limited to secure a
loan granted to it. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly owned by
Ample Cheer Limited, which is owned as to 100% by Mrs. Chu
Yuet Wah.

Mr. Lau owns approximately 94.65% shareholding in Suntecli
which in turn beneficially owns 28.53% shareholding in the
Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares which are beneficially owned by
Suntecli for the purpose of SFO. Mr. Lau resigned as the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company with effect
from 7 September 2018.

Mr. Fong owns approximately 79% shareholding in Samwood.

Mt -
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#%27,392,0000% 213 (R SFBHER) BIRFT
SFEBUBERATEAHERERZIKF-EF]
LEIFEARA S BAmMple Cheer Limited2 B %A > M
Ample Cheer Limited HHZEBEZ T2 EHH ©
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraphs headed
“Share Option Scheme” and “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2024 were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective
close associates, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, no Directors are considered to have interests
in businesses which compete or are likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
other than those businesses where the Directors of the
Company were appointed as Directors to represent the
interests of the Company and/or the Group pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated
with the authority to review the non-competition
undertakings (the “Non-competition Undertakings”)
given by Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood during the Reporting Period. The independent
non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-
compliance of the Non-competition Undertakings during
the Reporting Period.

Each of Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood has confirmed that he/it had complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings given by them during the
Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and revenue
attributable to major suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period and 31 March 2023 are as follows:

EFGHRS

ERBYFATESTERRSRILE S
ERAEE - HEMNARENRSHBEHRR
FEE ((FRPBEE)) - BUFATEFL
AHNERBESHBEEEMNER BRI AEN

B e

B ENFREE -REE - FEINRFESE
B RBREPBEETREELENTIRE
HEE o

FEFRRMLERD

EHEBAREFRREHBER - "=
ZR=t+—HFfEAEERBERRANS
DEEWMT

2024 2023
—EFINE —F=
Percentage of construction material purchases ~ FREBREEM K R D B/
and construction subcontracted: BEITEBDL:

From the largest supplier RERAKEER 15.43% 11.62%
From the five largest suppliers KERAHERD 42.71% 37.08%
Percentage of revenue: WABDLE :
From the largest customers RERAKEF 21.97% 21.39%
From the five largest customers KEAARE 45.44% 56.57%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
who owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest customers nor suppliers
during the Reporting Period.

BREFS HENEEMBAXNEORR BE
EFMNBEARRBRASRU LEE) REBEH
BHERIAERNEEFRERE I EE-
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company has arranged
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The insurance
covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against
them.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
articles or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to Shareholders by reason of their holdings in the
shares.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable donation
amounted to nil (YR2023: HK$5,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had the following
connected transactions:

EFGHRS

HAMEXZ RAESLRZS

VI

RBREHE ~EBEUTHEERS

Lease agreements HEHE
Name of suppliers Term of lease agreements Monthly rent Annual rent
HEEE RS SRR B FHE
HK$ HK$
AT AT
Chung Hang 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 60,000 720,000
hig “E"HFYB—HE
—E=fF=B=+—H
Chung Wah 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 115,000 1,380,000
FREE “EFMA—HE
—E=fF=B=+—H
2,100,000

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Chung Hang”)
is owned by Mr. Lau as to approximately 94.65%. Mr.
Lau is one of the controlling Shareholders and a former
executive Director.

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited (“Chung Wah”)
is owned by Chung Hang and Mr. Lau as to 95.00% and
2.50%, respectively.

The lease agreements were entered into on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group where each of the relevant
percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules is less than 5% and the total
fees payable under lease agreements are less than
HK$3,000,000. Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the lease agreements are fully exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

hEEEZERABRAR (THE)) B TEHE
B#I94.66% B EDR —BERKRREKATH
TES-

PEREERARAT (TRE)) DHEFTE

RS EHEI5.00%%2.50% °

ZEHERBI R EEREKRIARRESER
— M ERAEEHDTIL Mt EHREIE14A
EHENZEEE S ERBENSYRIEERES
HEENE B/ 523,000,0008 7T 1R
BELIHRAFUAZE  ZSEHERETZ K
BET TR EIAAETETHNER - FEFES
B AERBIREHIERTE
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions
and Related Party Transactions” in this Report, none of the
related party transactions as disclosed in note 28 to the
financial statements constituted as connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, and the Company have complied
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save for certain transactions as disclosed in notes
6(a), 21 and 28 to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into any
contract of significance with a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has retained the prescribed public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AUDITORS

The Company has nominated Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited as the auditors of the Group during the Reporting
Period until conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet
CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 March 2023, 2022 and 2021 have been audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to protecting the environment,
fulfilling social responsibility and promoting employee
benefits and development to achieve sustainable growth of
its business. For more details of the Group’s performances
in environmental and social aspects, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section of
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company had complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Period.

The details of Group’s compliance with the Code is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Yan Shuai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL BEMR S

Ascenda CACFEU

RI|E |35

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

WAN KEI GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 143 to 267,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION FOR THE
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

ARISING FROM THE FOUNDATION
CONSTRUCTION WORKS AND GROUND
INVESTIGATION SERVICES

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates,
respectively and note 4(a) to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

Key Audit Matter
R Bt FIH

REMBEE TR thihAl IRFSEE
BHR I A R

ERRE—FPERF2RAD BN GRSV BRERN
2. 4K3E R EEHHEME D 5 BUR  FIEr R (5t
YR B8 AR i & B 5 R AR P 54 (a) ©

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
HREAPEERREBAFIENSE

The Group recorded revenue from the construction
contracts arising from the foundation construction works
and ground investigation services with an aggregate
amount of HK$285,342,565 for the year ended 31 March
2024,

BHE_Z_NF=RA=+—HILFE> BEBERS?
BB REE TR KT R RFRRE SO AL
B8 45285,342,56578 7T ©

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over
time using output method, which is based on direct
measurements of the value of services delivered or
surveys of work performed.
EHWARBEL EZN —BREBRZELS RS BIREY
RMHMNARBEENEZS EHMATIENGRD)
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Our procedures in relation to Directors’ assessment of the
revenue recognition from construction contracts arising
from the foundation construction works and ground
investigation services included:
BRAMESHMERR T B R L MENAIRBAELERN
BESHNNWA RS EPMEREZFE1E

- Obtaining an understanding from the Directors
about how to determine the contract sums and the
stage of completion;

- THREFINNEEENTERTIERE ;

- Inspecting a sample of contract agreements with
main-contractors and customers to identify key
terms and conditions, including the contracting
parties, the contract period, the contract sum, the
scope of work and progress payment;

= HERBERRBRE R R NGRGE UEE
ARG RGYS BEHGOF eV 50

B TIREEREENN;



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key Audit Matter
FAsEE st HIA

WAL B ETER S

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REPEEMBEFENGE

For the purpose of the determination of the stage of
completion of the revenue recognition from construction
contracts, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
determined the stage of completion of construction
revenue with reference to (i) the progress payment
applications (the “Applications”) submitted by the Group
to the main-contractors and customers; and (i) the
certificates (the “Certificates”) from the surveyors of the
main-contractors and customers. Significant Directors’
judgement and estimation was used to determine
the stage of completion, including (i) the basis for the
Applications; and (i) the amount certified as per the
Certificates.
RETREBRESANBARINTHREE > BHAH
5% ((EH) 2R() SEENEREERERERN
EEMTEE (B ; RiEEAREERERIVAEA
BEENEE (E8)  UETERERANTREE -
RETTHREER  EFRATEXRAE ks 81F
()R EBRKREE ; K(NVRIEESZENEEE

For the above reasons, we identified the revenue
recognition from construction contracts arising from the
foundation construction works and ground investigation
services as a key audit matter.

B EARE > TP 2R B it B 52 58 T A2 Ko + s8R AR
BRSSO AR # B A —BREARETEE

- Obtaining the Applications and the Certificates
to evaluate the reasonableness of the stage of
completion (including the review of (i) the basis
for the Applications; and (i) the amount certified
as per the Certificates) and test the revenue
recognition based on their stage of completion;
and

- BiSHAFARES LFHhTREENSEL (B
st () FBRKE  R(VRBESZENE
) o WRER R ENTEAEERIFE AR 5 &

— Recalculating the revenue from the construction
contracts arising from the foundation construction
works and ground investigation services during
the year and assessing whether the revenue
recognition is based on their stage of completion.

= BT EREMERRE TR R L MENRIRFEH
BESHREANRNEA > TG RARDBESE
PR ENTTRMERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL BEMR S

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF TRADE
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, CONTRACTS
ASSETS, LOAN AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates,
respectively and notes 15, 16, 17 and 27(a) to the
consolidated financial statements for further information.

Key Audit Matter
AR Bt EIA

BB REMEBWMRIE SHEE - BIER
B F 2 B0 (E 5T

BRE—PEHF 2R DN FEEMBHREM
2. 4AKREMEE ARG 5HEUR ~ AIET (b5t
BYH B8 A Ko fm B A 5 R AR 5215~ 16~ 175227 (3) ©

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
MEPEEARENFIENSE

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan and interest
receivables were HK$49,151,153, HK$117,555,252, and
HK$4,762,100 (net of impairment of HK$33,177,883,
HK$2,260,836 and HK$8,137,900), respectively, as at 31
March 2024.

N_Z2WFE=A=+—H> E£ENEBEZXHEME
WHIE 5N EBEEUKREBRER R ENREED A
49,151,153 7T ~ 117,555,252 75 K2 4,762,10038 7T (1
BRB{E33,177,883%E 7T ~ 2,260,8367 75 528,137,9007%8
JT) °

The Group has applied (i) the simplified approach to
calculate the expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade
receivables and contracts assets, which are assessed
individually for customers which are credit impaired and
collectively using a provision matrix; and (i) the general
approach to calculate the ECL on other receivables,
and loan and interest receivables and recognise lifetime
ECL where significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition is identified.
EEECHANBCEAEEZRRREBRSHNEEN
FEHEEEE (FAIRESHHR))  BEERENERE
1718 Bl T4 > 60 ER FA B 8 FB 1T B BB 5Tt 5 Fe(i)— e
FETEHEMEBRREBEURERER R ENTERES
B8 WA 2 B YR LURE B R IR RaE g s
sl ATEHAE B8 -
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Our procedures in relation to the Directors’ assessment
of the impairment of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan and interest
receivables included:

BEMMESYH E£ENEZRHEMEBKRIE &8
EUREWER RN SRR BTGP RENE R 81 !

- Discussing with the Directors and the Valuer
to understand the basis of approach and
methodology of the ECL Valuation;

- HEEhEEM U TREREERIEMGEE
T &R T A mAVIRER

- Challenging the Directors and the Valuer on the
adoption of the assumptions and estimations in
the ECL Valuation;

- MBAEEEBROETRANRRRMLTHE
ExGEMRELES ;

- Evaluating the competence, independence and
professionalism of the Valuer;

- SHE(EERTRYBS ERE ) B R BN 5



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key Audit Matter
FAsEE st HIA

WAL B ETER S

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REPEEMBEFENGE

For the purpose of assessing the ECL, the Directors
engaged an independent professional valuer (the
“Valuer”) to perform a valuation (the “ECL Valuation”)
regarding ECL on trade and other receivables, contracts
assets, and loan and interest receivables based on
the Directors’ assumptions. Significant Directors’
judgement and estimation was used to determine the
key assumptions underlying the ECL Valuation, including
(i) the probability of default; (ii) the loss given default; and
(iiiy the selection and use of reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information without undue cost or effort
in the ECL Valuation. The Group calibrates the matrix
to adjusting the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking factors.
RIMETREAEEBE ERSTREB U F X LER (KB
) REBEENRIEEZ REMBKRIE - aNEE
Nk EBRERRFSNTEREEHIBETEE (TFAkE
EEBIRMEE) - N ETEREEHEBAEPKRIENE
RExRE EERATERAEB MG SF0ENN
B (VBB RER ; k()N TAREESBRGAES
EERCHABRMNEBSHAHE NI EE G
BAXFRURIEME SR . SEERBEMEMEENEE
PREITIRE UAEELEERBIENER-

- Evaluating the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the ECL Valuation and the
assumptions, information and parameters used in
the model, including the probability of default, loss
given default and forward-looking factors;

- THMETEREEEBAEURREPERANRE
ERKE2H (BRFENNER ENEMNEBEXL
KAEERR) WEEMRESM ;

- Checking the information used by the Directors
and the Valuer to develop the provision matrix
including ageing analysis of trade receivables and
contracts assets on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant
Surveyor’s Certificates;

- BBR O PNERNIEEEERAIEREET
L8 HEEE RGEMANS ERHEEREN
Bk ERESRRREBERENEENRE D
i

- Assessing whether other receivables, and loan and
interest receivables with no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition have been
appropriately grouped based on common risk
characteristics;

- L B RSB UREE R R mEAEIE NN
HMBEWRBURBRERRFEEEREL
FERRSEETEE D ;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL BEMR S

Key Audit Matter
FAsEE st HIA

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REPEEMBEFENGE

Based on the ECL Valuation, the Group (i) recorded
a write-back of impairment of trade receivables and
contracts assets of HK$8,400,236; (i) recorded a write-
back of impairment of loan and interest receivables of
HK$16,725,896; and (i) provided impairment loss on
other receivables of HK$29,012,657 for the year ended
31 March 2024.

RIEFEREEHEGE SEERBE"ZTMNF=
B=+—BLEFE()HREEZRNRERENEERE
$#[0]8,400,236 7 7T ; (i) #% 15 FE R B R ) BOR B # ]
16,725,896 7T 5 (i)t E Mt FE U I BB 5 1B 5T 1R 5
1%29,012,65778 7T ©

For the above reasons, we identified the impairment
assessment of trade and other receivables, contracts
assets, and loan and interest receivables as a key audit
matter.

EREER ZMRKEZ REMEBWHRIE 5NEE
MK EWE R R B BETEH A — B RE s
EIHo
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- Checking settlements subsequent to the end
of the reporting period relating to the trade and
other receivables, contracts assets, and loan and
interest receivables as at 31 March 2024 on a
sample basis; and

- HEHE T NE=-B=1+—HNEGKHE
MEWAIE s 5N EEURBRER A SRR
FHREBNEEER ; &

- Recalculating the ECL of trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan and
interest receivables, and assessing the sufficiency
of the impairment, if any, as at 31 March 2024.

- EMtEEZ REMBRARIE - SNEBEEMKRE
WERKFENERESHE LTEREE
“_ME=ZA=+—HRAE WH) BERE "



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

FAIR VALUE OF EQUITY INVESTMENT
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates,
respectively and note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

Key Audit Matter
AR Bt EIA

WAL B ETER S

BATEH AR MR ERENREREZ
AT

BRE—T BB RD B E NGRS M B
2. 4AKSEMEE ARG 5HEER ~ AIE R (b5t
B B8 A R fim & B B IR AR Y 5E 13 ©

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
MEFPEEARENFIENSE

The carrying amount of the Group’s equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(the “FVOCI Investment”) represents an unlisted
equity investment in a private company at fair value of
HK$2,734,980, as at 31 March 2024, net of a fair value
loss of HK$5,824,609 recognised in the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

N_ZE_ME=A=+—H> BEBERATEAH
HEeERENRAKRE (RATEFARMZEE
ZI/E)) NERAEEER —BRAARINRAFES
S EMRAKE2,734,9808 T HBREEZZS MY
FZR=1+—HLEFERGSHM2EIHRETH
A F{EE5185,824,6098 7T) ©

Our procedures in relation to the Directors’ determination
of the fair value of the Group’s FVOCI Investment
included:

BMMESH SEENERATESFAHMEZEWE
ZREBNATFEEENREREE

S Discussing with Directors’ and the Valuer to
understand the basis of valuation approach and
methodology of the Share Valuation;

- HEFREEMmU T RREGENGEER
E R T AR

- Challenging the Directors and the Valuer on the
adoption of the assumptions and estimations in
the Share Valuation;

- MEEEEPHRANBRRRGAHESREE
BRI E

- Evaluating the competence independence and
professionalism of the Valuer;

- SHE(EERTRYBSERE D B R BN |
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WAL BEMR S

Key Audit Matter
FAsEE st HIA

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REPEEMBEFENGE

For the purpose of assessing the fair value of the FVOCI
Investment, the Directors engaged the Valuer to perform
a valuation (the “Share Valuation”) on the FVOCI
Investment based on the Directors’ assumptions under
the income approach by using a discounted cashflow
method. Significant Directors’ judgement and estimation
was used to determine the key assumptions underlying
the Share Valuation, including discount rate, lack of
marketability and minority discounts, which involves
Directors’ judgements and assumptions and the valuation
technique involves significant unobservable inputs.
AERATESAEMEERGEZRENATE &
EEZBGEMRBEEFENWGTAFHRER > FRAR
RREMEBZHERATESFAEMZARE 2 REE
1T E (TRRREfE(ED) - 07 E R (L (E PR AR IR P BA R (R
®E BERATEARFE kM 8BS RESHNF

B s R R AR ER M RER AR RE AR
BRREIRER R M RE M D B ETE

Based on the Share Valuation, the Group provided a fair
value loss on the FVOCI Investment of HK$5,824,609
which was recognised in the consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income during the year ended 31
March 2024 and will not be reclassified to consolidated
statement of profit or loss in subsequent periods.
REREGE EBEEMNBE_ZT_ONFE=A
=+—BLEFERGEHM ARG REINER
TESFARMEAWRG ZREFRATEBERE
5,824,609 BN EBRIBITEENDEERGE
mke

For the above reasons, we identified the determination of

the fair value of FVOCI Investment as a key audit matter.

ﬁ%iﬁrl KRR ATFESF AHMEEWGE 2%
BNAFEEEH»—BERETEE.
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- Evaluating the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the Share Valuation and the
assumptions, information and parameters used
in the model, including the discount rate, lack of
marketability and minority discounts;

- HERELEUREREREANBR EERS
Y (BELRX - RzmEREN R D ERER
B NEEBUREENY ;

- Checking financial data through internal or external
sources, on a sample basis, used in the Share
Valuation; and

- 338 A BB BX Hh B 2R Rt E AR A (L B PR A BV B
BRI &

- Recalculating the fair value of the FVOCI
Investment as at 31 March 2024.

- BN EBRE_T_NFE=R=+T—HBA¥F
Bt ARMtMEEKRGEZRENATE



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The Directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the audit committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

WAL B ETER S

FHRANEMER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL BEMR S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
Directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

WAL B ETER S
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

WAL BEMR S

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Wan Kin Man Tony.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wan Kin Man Tony
Practising Certificate Number P05506

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

reiRmR

“ME=A=1+—HILFE QBB

Notes 2024 2023
izt ZTZ@E —ZT”=
Revenue WA 4@) 288,653,824 315,446,680
Cost of sales HE WA 6(c) (235,580,347) (261,657,211)
Gross profit EH 53,073,477 53,789,469
Other income, other gains and losses, net  E U A ~ Efthli s K 5548
FER ) 2,065,971 16,529,485
Loss on disposal of interest in an associate HER —E#E AT D Z
518 - (27,522,505)
General and administrative expenses — R AT RS (61,439,636) (55,564,225)
Impairment losses on financial and EMRENEEZ BERE
contract assets, net FRE 6(c)&27(a) (3,886,525) (26,786,145)
Loss from operations REESIg (10,186,713) (39,553,921)
Finance costs =N 6(a) (9,153,895) (10,644,731)
Share of results of an associate Eh—REHE AR 2 XA - 4,140,861
Loss before tax IR FIESIE 6 (19,340,608) (46,057,791)
Income tax expenses P8R Z 7 (759,814) (937,787)
Loss for the year FAEE (20,100,422) (46,995,578)
Loss attributable to: BT AL REM -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZZ =N (20,621,836) (46,995,578)
Non-controlling interest FEIERGHE S 521,414 -
(20,100,422) (46,995,578)
HK cents HK cents
Al Bl
(Restated)
(& H)
Loss per share SREE
Basic and diluted HARK % 11 (22.21) (50.62)
Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note FAREFBRENGSTHFREMFE100
10 to the consolidated financial statements.
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEMINEI B ZER e BRR 2 —31H -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEEERmR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2024 2023
—EINE —F=
Loss for the year FREE (20,100,422) (46,995,578)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mEEs
Other comprehensive income that may BREAEENDEEEGR .
be reclassified to profit or loss Hitt2mias
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on MEBINEBMHERR
translation of financial statements &R ERE
of foreign operations (583,708) (1,281,060)
Share of other comprehensive income FE(L — BB E A B HAh
of an associate SmEE - (885,086)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange RHE—BHEA TR
reserve upon disposal of an associate B EREGEREE - (412,399)
Debt investment at fair value through BAFESAREMEEK
other comprehensive income: mZBBERE
— Change in fair value — AT EED - 2,421,436
- Reclassification adjustment to —REILHEREHERR
profit or loss upon derecognition BEM DR - (7,223,019
Other comprehensive income that BEAEEMDERER L
will not be reclassified to profit or loss Hitt2mi s
in subsequent periods:
Equity investment at fair value through BATEstARMERE
other comprehensive income: WEHZ RAEE !
— Change in fair value —NEEEH) ( (5,824,609) =
Other comprehensive income FREMEEEE
for the year, net of tax neRigE (6,408,317)  (7,380,128)
Total comprehensive income FAZEWEEEE
for the year (26,508,739) (54,375,706)
Attributable to: UTALRER:
Owners of the Company EiN/NSIEZZ =N (27,015,478) (54,375,706)
Non-controlling interest PR S 506,739 -
(26,508,739)  (54,375,706)
BEMIMN T B R ERaMBHRER 2 —%1Mm o

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

iR

SRR

At 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) )R & _NE= H +—8 CUBTEHE)

Notes 2024 2023
st ZBZWE —TT=
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment IEN IR E 12 9,235,366 9,407,397
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESAREMEE
other comprehensive income WENEMEE 13 2,734,980 8,559,589
Loan and interest receivables EWE TR RHE 17 809,100 =
Club membership i 290,000 290,000
Total non-current assets ERBEEHE 13,069,446 18,256,986
Current assets RENEE
Contract assets BHBEE 15 117,555,252 131,180,482
Trade and other receivables 85 R EMER RIS 16 49,151,153 81,078,273
Loan and interest receivables EWERKRHE 17 3,953,000 7,090,639
Financial assets at fair value through BATFESABRN SR
profit or loss BE 14 1,959,200 =
Cash and cash equivalents BaRIBEZEEY 18 138,285,822 116,478,368
Total current assets TENE ELEE 310,904,427 335,827,762
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables and accruals B REMEMRIER
FEst& A 20 48,755,379 43,471,421
Due to a related company FEfT— IR E A B A 21 55,350,521 62,484,271
Due to a director of a subsidiary ERN—2BAREERZ
IE 21 122,000,000 124,578,127
Lease liabilities HESR 22 1,617,757 974,169
Tax payable FEIIRIE 2,448,933 2,707,977
Total current liabilities mENE AR 230,172,590 234,215,965
Net current assets RBEEFE 80,731,837 101,611,797
Total assets less current liabilities BEEERREBAR 93,801,283 119,868,783
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EREMEARR

At 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) RZZ2_MHFE=2=+—H CETHE)

Notes 2024 2023
st ZBZWE —TT=
Non-current liabilities JERBEE
Long service payment liabilities ERZEEEE 1,486,225 992,691
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 972,685 872,251
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE 7() 513,656 666,385
Total non-current liabilities JERBI B (BAEER 2,972,566 2,531,327
Net assets BEEFE 90,828,717 117,337,456
Capital and reserves attributable EARBEEAELELRR
to the owners of the Company e
Share capital EviS 24(c) 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves B 80,721,978 107,737,456
90,321,978 117,337,456
Non-controlling interest JEIERRtE S 506,739 =
Total equity k] 90,828,717 117,337,456

The consolidated financial statements on pages 143 to
267 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 28 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf

by:

YAN SHUAI
&
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

Attributable to owners of the Company

e

TTME=ZF=+—HLFE CUBTsHE)

FRFREAESS
Shares
Exchange  held under Non-
Share Share Merger Capital ~ Fairvalue  fluctuation ~share award ~Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* reserve* scheme* losses* Total interest equity
Rfn iR
ERKE  HASE 320
Rt BRYEE  AfiE  ExiE ATERE it R BibE £ B EnsE
HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
AR 7 #n &R AR o #R 7 #n #n AR
(Note 24(c) (Note &) (Note b)
(zE24(c) () (ko)
Balance at 1 April 2022 RZEZZ
WMA—-B2Z&8 9600000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 4,801,583 3428404 (19429,159) (51,670,388 171,713,162 - 71,713,162
Changes in equity t Skt
for 2023; HaEs:
Loss for the year EREE S - - - - - - (46,995,578  (46,995,578) - (46,995,578
Exchange diferences on -~ BB ETHTH
tranglation of fnancil ~~ BRNERER
statements of foreign
operations - - - - - (1,281,060 - - (1,281,060) - (1281,060
Share of other Ei—REHEAT
comprehensiveincome 2 Al
of an associate - - - - - (885,086) - - (885,086) S (885,086)
Tansferof exchange  AHE-BEEAT
resenveupon disposal - AERERRE
of an associate - - - - - (412,399 - - (412,399) - (412,399
Debt ivestmentat far ~ RATEt AEA
value through other FENEZBE
comprehensive income: ~ RE
- Redlassfcation ~MR IR
adjustments to HERNER
proft or loss upon HERE
derecognition - - - - (1223019 - - - (1203019 - (1223019
-Change infarvalle ~ —AFEEH - - - - 242143% - - - 24214% - 2401436
Loss and total FREERZEER
comprenensive expenses 4%
for the year - - - - (4801583 (2,678,545) - (46,995,578  (54,375,706) - (64,375,706)
Balance at g
31 March 2023 ZR=t+-R
ki 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 - 849,859  (19,429,159)  (98,665,966) 117,337,456 - 117,337,456
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

meEEEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &ZE " " ME=B=+—RHILEE CUBTHE)

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARRE AR
Shares
Exchange  held under Non-
Share Share Merger Capital  Fairvalue  fluctuation ~share award Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* reserve* scheme* losses* Total interest equity
) TRfhiR
) ERRE®  HERE . . (323
ke RYEE  AfE  ExiE ATERE it Ry BB EH s ERlE
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
An #n A #n An #n An En AR AT An
(Noﬁe 24(c) (Note &) (Notg h)
(H5E24(0) (fzra)  (zko)
Balance at 1 April 2023 R=BZ=
WA-HZ&#R 9600000 211357601 3955820 9,669,301 - 849859  (19429159)  (98,665,966) 117,337,456 - 117,337,456
Changes in equity “ECMEY
for 2024: Hags:
Loss forthe year EREE . - - - - - o D08 OGS N4 (010042)
Exchange differences on -~ BN ERETE
tranglation of fnanciel ~~ HRNERER
Statements of foreign
operaions - - - - N 65, - S OE9Y)  (1467 (83709
Equiy investmentsat ~ ATEE AL
fair value through SENEZRE
ofher comprehensie BB
income:
- Change in falr value -ATEEH = = = - (5,824,609) - - - (5,824,609) - (5,824,609
Loss and total ERBEREERR
comprehensive re
expenses for the year - - - - (5,824,609) (569,033) - (20621830) (27,015478 506,739 (26,508,739
Balance at RZE-MmE
31 March 2024 =B=+-A
258 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 (5,824,609) 200,826 (19,429,159) (119,287,802) 90,321,978 506,739 90,828,717

* The reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * RETHEORGAMBRAIRINGEEH#EN
of approximately HK$80,722,000 (2023: approximately 80,722,000 75 (ZE =4 : £107,737,0007%
HK$107,737,000) in the consolidated statement of financial JT) ©
position.

Notes: BT -

(@) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal (@) EHEEENAEEEAR (B BFAREEAAT
value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange for WBABRAMAERRBETRM ZEERZER
the nominal value of the share capital of its subsidiaries arising KEEZEZXEC
from the reorganisation of the Group (the “Reorganisation”).

(b) The capital reserve represents the deemed capital (b) EARGEEEEEEZRERESNERAE HE

contribution from its equity shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year ended
31 March 2016.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

i

BRERER

“mME=RA= -l— BIEFE WUBTHE)

Notes 2024 2023
Myt —ENE —E=F

Cash generated from operations TSRS 19(b) 43,466,580 22,788,271
Tax (paid)/refunded (B /BER™M (1,171,587) 1,570,316
Net cash from operating activities RS EEFRSIRE B 42,294,993 24,358,587
Cash flows from investing activities BREEBHRENE
Purchases of items of property, BEYX -BEMREER

plant and equipment (1,737,760) (2,029,571)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENE -BERREZ

plant and equipment PRGIE 138,168 1,100,000
Proceeds from partial redemption of debt LD BREIZ AT EFTA

investment at fair value through other Efﬁiﬁﬂ& sNEBRE

comprehensive income ZF8IE - 5,000,000
Proceeds from disposal of interest in HE—RBEEADNER

an associate ZF8aE - 21,679,748
Interest received EWFHE 1,931,363 2,792,774
Net cash from investing activities BREZHRERERH 331,771 28,542,951
Cash flows from financing activities MEIHHERE
Decrease in amount due to a director of BE—4LHBARESZ

a subsidiary FIER D 19(c) (8,678,127)  (10,000,000)
Decrease in amount due to a related company ~ FEAf—REIREEA S 2 2GR D 19(c) (10,000,000) (55,000,000
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities EEHEsENAEHS 19(c) (1,491,935) (3,184,939)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities EEHEaENHESS 19(c) (187,645) (160,460)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFRREFHE (20,357,707)  (68,345,399)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERAEEEY

cash equivalents whn, (R B8 22,269,057 (15,443,861)
Cash and cash equivalents at the ENRERREEEY

beginning of the year 116,478,368 132,294,477
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXgEH e (461,603) (372,248
Cash and cash equivalents at the end EXRRERREEEY

of the year 18 138,285,822 116,478,368

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

B NEERZFRE

MR ER—

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —¥== "MEER

149



150

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 7 October 2014 under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company’s registered office is located at Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands. The Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong is located at Unit No. 07,
16/F, Emperor Group Centre, No. 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision
for the (i) foundation construction works, (i) ground
investigation services, (i) financial services and (iv) trading
of consumer products. During the year, the Group has
expanded its business into e-commerce live streaming and
promotion business in the social media.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 11 August 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

4

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

SREHRRME

—iRER (Z

Group’s effective interest

FERMBARNER

TEEBRIED
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect  activities
B3 AT BRITRBERS
Ak ATE S HEMEREE E# HiE IERH
Hong Kong Wan Wai British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited* (‘BVI')
BARRBRAT HEBRUEE EEZ10,000% 7T BREER
(HEEELEE)
Chung Shun Boring Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Ground investigation works
Company Limited HK$5,500,000
FEEFIRERAT BN E1825,500,000% 7T THE R TR
Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Construction site foundation engineering and
Company Limited HK$14,000,000 bore pile pre-driling works
LETHIRERAT HE 18 1%14,000,000/8 7T BEMBUME T RREETEREER
I%
Wan Kei Machinery Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 S 100%  Machinery leasing
BEBMAERAD BN BBERI100#ET i E
Wan Kei (Macau) Civil And Foundation  Macau 2 shares of MOP 14,000 - 100%  Construction site foundation engineering and
Construction Company Limited* bore pile pre-driling works
BE (RP) HERKIRERAR RM 2R RPIHE14,0007T BEMBME TR LB ETEREER
I#
Ultimate Proud Limited” BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - Investment holding
EHBRAF HEBRUEE BERIET BREER
Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong) Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary shares = 100%  Money lending
HK$1,000,000
2E (&%) BRAT B £185%1,000,0008 7T E&
Infinite Time Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - Investment holding
KEERERAR" HBRUHES BBRIET BEER
Sino Topper Holdings Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$20,000,000
HAREERRAR BN £ 1£20,000,000/8 7T HRREEE
Prestige Victory Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - Investment holding
BYERAE) HEEYEE BERIZET BREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1. —HRERE
BRMBARNER (&

Group’s effective interest

TEEBRED
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect  activities
B3 AT BRITRBERS
Ak ATE S HEMEREE E# HiE IERH
Topper Summit Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
BEERAF! HE 185,000,000 7T HREEEE
Delight Vision Global Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
RRBHBRAT" HEBRUEE BERIET BREER
Shiny Wiser Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary shares S 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
HEFRAF Bl 85,000,000/ 7T AR %
Elegant Top Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
HEERERAT HBRUHES BBRIET BEER
Success Mount Investments Limited*  BVI Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Not yet commence business
HEREBRAT" HBRUHES BBRIET AR %
Advance Trade Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
BEERERAD HBRUHES BBRIET BEER
Regal Victor International Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 S 100%  Trading of consumer
EEERERAD" Bl BBERI100#ET HERES
Yuyong (Shanghai) Construction People’s Republic of  Registered - 100%  Not yet commence business
Engineering Company Limited *** China (the “PRC") RMB100,000,000 Paid up
RMB20,576,300
ik (L) BEIRBERAF" hEARKNE HAMARE HREEEE
(MehE)) 100,000,0007C* BB A
R #20,576,3007T
Keen Ace International Limited” BVI Ordinary share US$1 = 100%  Investment holding
ERBBRBRAE" HEEYEE BERIZET BREER
Sky Orient Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 - 100%  Not yet commence business
XEERBRAH BN BERIET HRREEE
Ultimate Fit Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$100 100% - Investment holding
ERBRAE" HEEYEE EBR100ETT BREER
Pure Luck International Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$100 = 51%  Investment holding
MERRARAR HBEEYEE EBR100ETT RERR

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR

Annual Report 2023/24 —8== /“IUFFiR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

1.

4

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

SREHRRME

—iRER @
BRMBARANER (&

Group’s effective interest

TEEBRIED
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect  activities
B3 AT BRITRBERS
Ak ATE S HEMEREE E# HiE IERH
Bright Asia Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 = 51%  Investment holding
ERERERAT BN BERIET BREER
Guangzhou Paiyue Shangyi Technology PRC Registered HK$5,000,000, - 51%  E-commerce live streaming and promotion
Company Limited *** paid up HK$2,550,000 business in the social media
EMRBHIZHZERAT HE #E 5,000,000/ 7T * HRIEREERERIEEES
722,550,000 7C
Guangzhou Zhenxue Information PRC Registered RMB500,000, - 28%  Not yet commence business
Technology Co., Ltd. #*** Paid up RMB Nil
BEMESEERRERAT FE it A E 500,000 HRREEE
BEAREOT
Guangzhou Linyue Yi Information PRC Registered RMB1,000,000, = 26%  Not yet commence business
Technology Co., Ltd. #** Paid up RMB Nil
BMNRELERRRERAT HE S A R #1,000,0007T > HARBREE
BEAREOT

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited is not the statutory auditor of
these subsidiaries.

L The English names of these companies referred to in these
financial statements represent management’s best effort
to translate the Chinese names of those companies, as no
English names have been registered.

AN

These companies are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises in
Chinese Mainland.

These companies are Chinese Mainland limited companies.

AA

ARG EHMEBRARADLIFZSENEAT

ZIETE LA o

AR EEMEX LT 2E

MRS it

@72%?%@%@@%%@k¥ﬁﬁ&#@7$
XnBEHZ B

ZERTABMUNRFEAMBINEBERE-

aur

ZENBRTERNMAREEAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention except for (i) the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and (i) the financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”), which are stated at its fair value. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (‘HK$").

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group
and the Company. Notes 2.2 and 2.3 to the consolidated
financial statements provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Statement of Compliance (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 March 2024. A subsidiary is an entity,
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of the
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time issued by the HKICPA for the
current year’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2.4 to the consolidated
financial statements. The amendments did not
have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.
Since the Group’s approach and policy align with
the amendments, the amendments did not have
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences
arising from right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. However, the Group consider that (i) the
related deferred tax arising from right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities is qualified for offset under HKAS
12, and (i) the net deferred tax balances are not
material to the consolidated financial statements
and accordingly, no deferred tax was recognised as
at initial application of the amendments and as at 31
March 2024. The related unrecognised temporary
differences arising from right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities have been separately disclosed in
note 7(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.2

2.3

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes, including the disclosure of
current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statement.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not early adopted the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements. The Group intends
to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they
become effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)" *
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)' *
Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

7

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

No mandatory effective date yet to be determined but
available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these standards, amendments and
interpretations on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. The adoption of the above is not expected
to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.3 [ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —8== /“IUFFiR

23 EBEWEREMRNEEMBHRSEN

(&

EAMBREZENFI0RNRELBGFERSE
285% (5] A) HHEBEBHUBFREERF1058
REBEGFEAF28 R CHAERREEREH
BMERANEGELXEZEANEEHERNEE
MEMA—BZERE - ZFEEITFHEE BEEH
EEIERN—BERR > RETHEIVKE —
ETNREXZHR@AEGEER - ERX 5P KB
—EEXBNEER X7 EEN WD NEE
RNEZREENBEaNES  EEUTEERE
ENZBMERTDNCELENETRR -ZF
BRI RRAESEER EBESEMAGEUH
BAVBREENFI0NREBGERNS
285% (EFT4) WEAIRGBIER B - A > &
FIEST A IR B BT B4 o

EEUBREERF165E (BFTA) 5THE
H—ABAEHEEREERZEENEE
BEFRAMEBHURE UBFRELD -—ABAS
CTHBENEAEFRENEREERN WD N
BEERE -REEBIAB T _MFE—F—H
HzBAENEERBEN L& EHRER
REBYHBREERFI6EERER B (A
“E-AF-B—RH) ZBRBFTNEROMEAR
ZonFFIREER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.3 [ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that is a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instrument, and that only of a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would be the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at
the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

2.3 [ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position depending on the nature of
the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continueq)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the group or company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost
of the investment includes purchase price, other costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment,
and any direct investment into the associate that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change
in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and
any impairment loss relating to the investment. At each
reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method, together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate, (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Dbased on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other
than deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of impaired asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold
or leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

S items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

e Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
e |easehold improvements 5 years
e Motor vehicles 5 years
e Machinery 4-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Club membership

Club membership is stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less accumulated amortisation
(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment
losses.

Amortisation of club memberships with finite useful life is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the period and method
of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Club membership is not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office and warehouse over the lease term

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue and other income” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at FVOCI are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at FVTPL.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchases or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on the equity investments
are also recognised as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the statement of
financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and loans receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15; and

- debt investment measured at FVOCI (recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including units
in bond funds, equity and debt investment measured at
FVPL, equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling)
and derivative financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash shortfalls
are measured as the difference between (i) the contractual
cash flows that would be due to the Group if the holder of
the loan commitment draws down on the loan; and (ii) the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is
drawn down.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables, contract assets, loan receivables
and debt investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when () the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates,

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets), club membership and interest in an associate
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current
assets(Continued)

- Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to he asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year
in which the reversals are recognised.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other contract costs (Continueq)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to
which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL
in accordance with the policy set out in “Credit losses
and impairment of assets” above and are reclassified
to receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and accruals, amount due to a related company,
amount due to a director of a subsidiary and long service
payment liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include

financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category also includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVTPL are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at FVTPL are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and
accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting police for borrowing costs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group’s employee share award scheme.
Information relating to these schemes is set out in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee share award scheme

The Group operates share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by employees. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of restricted
shares is recognised as employee benefit expense. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. The shares held under
share award scheme is administered by an independent
trustee and is funded by the Group’s cash contributions
and recorded as contributions to shares held under share
award scheme, an equity component. The administrator
of the shares held under share award scheme buys the
Company’s shares in the open market for the awards to
employees if applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

ERE M RRME

“ME= ﬁ +—HLEFE QBB

24. EXEHERK E

FRig#t (&)

fRE T LEOISMNMERIN FREEEREBEER KR
PREEIERMEBEEE (ZERNKRRAIERER
MaEH BURE I BREE) 9T UER -
XFHEBRENNREREERNELERIER
EENHEBRERR &) OEZFREEOR
BRANEBMEERNNE  EZFERANH
HERBEEKRERERNERE AR 1L 7R84
REFEEIMNRERIEZENE—HRE N
REEIENBEEENREBIB I EL FEE

WHABBO -TETREBRNEKMEZER
EXFEIANARAGARBEEERBERELEDN
BERMBEERFRBHERNRE MRZFE
BHEERRGHEALRERERNELAR B
ERENSAREBENIE R ARE R EO R
ESARETERE

FEEREBEEENRAEBINSREPRE
B MR ENB AR BRI EF LR A
ERMBEERD L -EMARBRHBREI A
EE%W&ﬁ/ﬂﬁ%@o

ERBNEERBTHENNREEREREKRE

BENEREHEIBEESI @%rﬁ%%xa
BHEHEBERMNNERAB - ELENEEE
REEaEREER o

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —¥== "MEER

195



196

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of fulfilling the contract. The cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly
to fuffiling that contract.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use
by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continueq)

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates to
foundation construction works on real estate assets under
the control of the customer and therefore the Group’s
construction activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the output
method, based on direct measurements of the value to
the customer of goods or services transferred to date
(“Value to the Customer”) provided that the Value to
the Customer is established according to the progress
certificate (by reference to the amount of completed works
confirmed by customer) issued by the customer.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Construction contracts (Continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Ground investigation services revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a service contract when the contract relates to work
on ground investigation assets under the control of the
customer and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the Value to the Customer
provided that the Value to the Customer is established
according to the progress certificate (by reference to the
amount of completed works confirmed by customer)
issued by the customer.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occeur.

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

24. EXEHERK E

WA RE s (&)
BiESH (®)

HENNGEREEZGEFTE  BWRAZENUTER
B BINBEEE SR AR T LM -

WRERFBEGES TR ENNREBESH
TETNREREREE > BB EE-

LI EYFIEREE A

MEMNEERZEFRNIHBAEETIRAR
FoRITEERERGNDESRT S K
FAEERZRIPAEAREAZTETREZEFNE
Z o

ERBEONERENCTEFER  GHWA
RAEHZEZN —BRFERBESES BIREE
EAETERNEE) ETEFHNEBERE
EREHMNEEIH (NH2REFEINTL
TEEEME) MEIL-

AEBFIEFTARMBE G AR AL
BExIMEBEXRGWIMNAUEERIFEZSF
BErRMUE R A EEERBRF WA
TERRAUEFTERERLCE S GRDIA -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —¥== "MEER

199



200

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continueq)
Ground investigation services revenue (Continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Trading of consumer products

Net income from trading of consumer products (including
but not limited to beauty and skin care products) are
recognised when the customers takes possession of and
accepts the goods.

E-commerce live streaming and promotion revenue

E-commerce live streaming and promotion revenue
mainly derive from online promotion services provided
through social media platform. The promotion services are
performance based. Revenue is recognised when relevant
specific performance measures are fulfilled.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —8== /“IUFFiR

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

24. EXGEHERK E
WA RE s (&)

LB RIREE A (&)
HMENNGEREEZGEFTE  BWRAZENTER
BRENEEESH AR T U -

WRERFBEGES TR ENNREBESH
TETNREREREE > BB EE-

HERES

HER (BEEFARREEREBFER) BS
EXENRAZRERETREAREREmEE
Sl

THEERBEKA
ERERAEBRATERNBBHER

FERMENEREEEF - HEERBURES
ER- - WARZEINHBNARRRERRE

=]
o ©

FKEEMFFEIEA
AAEHBHEZ KA

KEEEBETREES AT IR EEH
ENRABANSED PR IEaES EHEH
MEEFERXEAAEEEMSIN TR
LR BRSL © %EHjE’ﬁFE BEREDZEIREK
FHEMRABENAENRE D - WAHE R
E’\J%%ﬂﬁﬁ?%ﬁum%l&ko



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

ERE M RRME

“ME= ﬁ +—HLEFE QBB

24. EXEHERK E

WA RE s (&)
FIEHA

MEBMARBREANXZ (EARKERMEEDN
Bt FRANGESHREBT WA EBRTRS
TREEMREENFX) RESRFES 5
RBHERAFENRAFESAEMEAR
m (&R rELREERENERMEEM
S ERANXBEANEENMBIREE MHIR
FEERENEREEMS BERINXBRNE
EREHEA BHREREENRKREE -

BRTHERS

WA ERERFURKFHEERERFT
GHW&SES AIBFREENT RMHIRR
KER - HEAEEEELER BB NHA
XEENERPBEERBEMNEDTER S K
AN HEXRAER-—BEEAANBEEREE
WIREESHNR 2BREENTERFEHRA
DEBFEERND AN En ABEMRES -

SRS

FRETHIINERZERRZHNERRE - L
SIEHAENEREERERBRRBSHRY
ERGE - ER NS RBERINIBEEAER -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —¥== "MEER

201



202

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rate underlying at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

2.4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(Vi) the entity is controlled or joint controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
(loss)/profit from operations of the Group are primarily
derived from activities in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Income taxes

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions are required in determining income tax
provisions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions and tax provision are recorded accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislation.

(ii) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Construction contracts arising from the
foundation construction works and ground
investigation services

Revenue from construction contracts arising from
foundation construction works and ground investigation
services contracts are recognised over time using the
output method. Such revenue and profit recognition on
incomplete projects are dependent on estimating the
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to
date. Actual outcomes in terms of total costs or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables,
contract assets and loan and interest
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
the trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
(including the probability of default and loss given default)
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs
or effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. In addition, trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan and interest
receivables with significant balances and credit impaired
are assessed for ECLs individually. The provision of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast general
economic conditions. The information about the ECLs
and the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in note 27(a). If the financial condition of the
customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, the actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of financial assets at FVTPL and
equity investment at FVOCI/

The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL and equity
investment at FVOCI that are not traded in an active market
is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group
uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
determine the fair values primarily based on the purchase
price paid by the Group, net asset value and taking into
account of the analysis of the investees’ financial trends
and results, risk profile, prospects, industry trends and
other factors. Independent external valuer has been
involved in determining fair value of certain investments.
The key assumptions adopted on projected cash flow are
based on management best estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the provision
of foundation construction works, ground investigation
services, financial services and trading of consumer
products. During the year, the Group has expanded its
business into e-commerce live streaming and promotion
business in the social media.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
of each significant category is as follows:
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BEREHZREZEFENRANDENT

2024 2023
—EomE 2=
Revenue from contract with customers EAMBHREENE155REERN
within the scope of HKFRS 15: RKEERAHNZIA -
Revenue from foundation construction works 2R B EL 72 58 TAZ A9 UR A 219,633,347 255,328,042
Revenue from ground investigation services e 5 4 B AR FE B WA 65,709,218 57,611,299
Revenue from e-commerce live streaming and 2K B & 78 B & K i E RS
promotion business 2,757,238 -
288,099,803 312,939,341
Revenue from other sources KB EMEREAUA
Interest income from financial services B RARFEF S WA 554,021 2,507,339
288,653,824 315,446,680

Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Foundation construction works and Ground
Investigation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time using
output method, which is based on direct measurements of
value of services delivered or surveys of work performed
with reference to () the progress payment applications
submitted by the Group to the main-contractors and
customers and (i) the certificates from the surveyors of the
main-contractors and customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
Trading of consumer products

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
upon the delivery of consumer products.

E-commerce live streaming and promotion revenue

The performance obligation is satisfied at the point in time
upon the relevant specific performance measures are
fulfilled.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note
4(B)).

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts was
approximately HK$275,503,000 (2023: approximately
HK$176,615,000). This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future from foundation
construction works and ground investigation services.
The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future
when or as the work is completed or, in the case of the
foundation construction works and ground investigation
services, when the obligations performed, which is
expected to occur over the next 1 to 2 years.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following five reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

° Foundation construction works: this segment
provides foundation construction works to
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

o Ground investigation services: this segment
provides ground investigation services to
customers.

° Financial services: this segment provides

investment, financing and money lending business.

° Trading of consumer products: this segment
engages in the trading of consumer products.

° E-commerce live streaming and promotion
business: this segment engages in the provision of
e-commerce live streaming and promotion services
in the social media, which was newly expanded
during the year.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all current and non-current
assets with the exception of (i) unallocated head office
and corporate assets, (i) financial assets at FVOCI and (i)
financial assets at FVTPL, if any. Segment liabilities include
all current and non-current liabilities with the exception of
(i) unallocated head office and corporate liabilities, (i) tax
payable and (iii) deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment results is profit/(loss) before tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= ﬁ +—HIEEE CUETsHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the time of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for

4. WARDEERS (B

(b) WRED @)
() PEEE - BEREE (B

BHE_ZE_NFEARZEZI=F="A=+—H
EFE- &Hﬁl]\ﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬁ/\@m?ﬁgﬁﬁ £
H&)\Lx&$$ﬁm THEEABMER

@E&ﬁfﬁ’\*ﬁﬁfﬁkf NERAEEATZ

the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of WA ERETUWT
segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 is set out below:
Year ended 31 March 2024
HE_S_ME=RA=1+-HLEFE
E-commerce
Foundation Ground Trading of live streaming
construction  investigation Financial consumer  and promotion
works services services products business Total
HERE EHERR
IR HhBukRE SRR HERES REES Eh
Disaggregated by timing of revenue BN AR 2R 28
recognition
- Over time —FEksh 219,633,347 65,709,218 554,021 - - 285,896,586
- Ata point i time -EE-HRY - - - - 2,757,238 2,757,238
Revenue from external customers  5MFZERIA 219,633,347 65,709,218 554,021 - 2757208 288,653,824
Reportable segment revenue TERAKA 219,633,347 65,709,218 554,021 - 2,757,238 288,653,824
Reportable segment gross profit 7 2HAEF 30,986,678 19,126,983 553,967 - 2,405,849 53,073,477
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A 22 EMHRAIRF /
before tax (58) 1,405,440 4,791,200 (20,893,310) 11,114,486 1,168,945 (2,413,239)
Interest income from bank deposits ~ $R1772 51K BULA - - 352,909 269,056 263 642,208
Interest expenses FIBHY 6,106,965 - 112,592 - 21,267 6,240,824
Depreciation for the year ERAE 693,431 1,753,967 516,612 - 141,447 3,105,457
Impairment loss/(Reversal of ERRENEEZAME
impairment) on financial and B/ (AEED) 38
contract assets, net 2,038,284 3,042 11,173,311 (10,386,260) 3,230 2,831,607
Reportable segment assets TERNTEE 283,980,947 65,393,881 165,692,900 67,079,789 6,952,742 589,109,259
Capital expenditure BARR 459,155 204,013 1,067,195 - 650,092 2,380,455
Reportable segment liabilities CES BT 201,092,033 14,073,889 286,619,325 60,375,531 813,746 562,974,524
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

4. WARDEERS (2

(b) HREDE E

) REEHE BERERE ()

Year ended 31 March 2023

HE_Z_ZF-A=-t+-HLEEE
Foundation Ground Trading of
construction investigation Financial consumer
works services services products Total
MERETRE  THERIARES EEARE HERES At

Disaggregated by timing of revenue %LU A FESRES 50 48

recognition

— Over time —BER S 255,328,042 57,611,299 2,507,339 - 315,446,680

- At a point in time —HE R - - - - -
Revenue from external customers  JMNBE B IA 255,328,042 57,611,299 2,507,339 - 315,446,680
Reportable segment revenue A2{D KA 255,328,042 57,611,299 2,507,339 - 315,446,680
Reportable segment gross A2HRAHEF

profit 34,382,854 16,900,027 2,506,588 = 53,789,469
Reportable segment profit/loss)  AI2 RO EBERIRETEF]/

before tax (&518) 13,259,397 5,023,016 (14,932,143 (9,204,296) (5,854,026)
Interest income from bank deposit  $R{77Z UK EITA - - 822,214 = 822,214
Interest expenses FIER% 6,106,792 = 87,390 = 6,194,682
Depreciation for the year FRITE 625,227 1,685,080 1,725,168 = 4,035,475
Impairment loss/(Reversal of EREENEEZRE

impairment) on financial and BB/ (RERR) F8

contract assets, net (161,359) 46,296 16,001,055 10,179,922 26,065,914
Reportable segment assets AERDPHEE 273,709,093 57,994,568 254,062,307 54,915,723 640,681,691
Capital expenditure NG5 944,748 954,837 1,505,518 - 3,405,103
Reportable segment liabilities AE2ENHEE 192,216,619 10,294,189 349,395,427 59,325,952 611,232,187
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= )% +—HIEEE CUETsHE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4. WARSHERSE &
REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) HESE @)
(i)  Reconciliations of reportable segment (i) FTE2HPEYA 18 BEEREEZEHIR

revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2024 2023
—EIME T
Revenue KA
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated 2| EBWARE S WA
revenue (note 4(a)) (MFst4(a) 288,653,824 315,446,680
Loss E5i8
Reportable segment loss PI2WRDEPEIE (2,413,239)  (5,854,026)
Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL T%?’/}quﬁ STAE@ER
BEENAN T EEE)SRE (520,800) 73,470
Loss on disposal of interest in an associate HER—BEBE QTN
w2 B518 -  (27,522,505)
Share of results of an associate L —EBE QB 2 %A - 4,140,861
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses AOEBEMEBRELTERS  (16,406,569) (16,895,591)
Consolidated loss before tax PRI AT S B8 (19,340,608) (46,057,791)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AIE2RDPEE 589,109,259 640,681,691

Elimination of inter-segment and head
office’s receivables

70 8B 1 K 48 3 = i PR WA B
R

(278,885,493) (306,769,263)

Financial assets at FVOCI
Financial assets at FVTPL

Unallocated head office and corporate assets

BAFESARMER
W By B E A
BAFES ABmB
TREE
ROEBPERREEEE

310,223,766 333,912,428

2,734,980 8,559,589
1,959,200 =
9,055,927 11,612,731

Consolidated total assets

HEBEERE

323,973,873 354,084,748

Liabilities 1=Ri
Reportable segment liabilities AIEHpIEaE 562,974,524 611,232,187
Elimination of inter-segment and head DEBE AR E R R RIE
office’s payables HEH (390,487,095) (441,774,234)
172,487,429 169,457,953
Tax payable FET IR IE 2,448,933 2,707,977
Deferred tax liabilities ﬁiﬁlﬁ@ & 513,656 666,385
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities AN #7J¥$FEE’ZJL¥,%TE 57,695,138 63,914,977

Consolidated total liabilities

AL =4
rEBERE

233,145,156 236,747,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

4.

(b)

(iii)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the corresponding years are as

4. WARDEERS (2

(b) IHELE)
(i) BREEZFIEN

RERMEEHAERBRATHKEBEI0%MN
ERWAWT :

follows:
2024 2023
—EIME T
Foundation construction works: MERETRE:
Customer A ZEA 63,406,012 N/A* R EMA
Customer B ZFAB N/A*RER 67,481,601
Customer C ERC N/A*FRBR 51,590,144

(iv)

Revenue from the relevant customer was less than 10% of the
Group’s total revenue for the respective year.

Geographical information

No geographical information of revenue and non-current
assets was presented as over 90% of the Group’s assets
and revenue are located and generated in Hong Kong.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ST RRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

5. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND 5.

LOSSES, NET

4

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

H U A « B fth o B2 £548 7% 88

2024 2023
—EomE 2=

Rental income from lease of machinery FEEMM ARSI A 40,000 570,379
Bank interest income IRITHIEUA 655,521 852,837
Other interest income HF B WA 1,275,842 1,939,937
Government grants (note) B ARG (M) - 4,385,200
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYME BRERZREZ W TR 135,235 1,015,833

Gain on derecognition of debt investment at FVOCI  #% |EFESRIZ A AT A EAM
SEREZEHRREZ W& - 7,223,019

Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL @A F Bzt AEmA SR

EFMQ$EH%@@ (520,800) 73,470
Foreign exchange gains, net SRR 43,457 56,064
Sales of raw materials w}é’%% il 406,040 366,017
Others Hih 30,676 46,729
2,065,971 16,529,485
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group Mizt: RBEE_Z_=ZF£=-A=+—HLEEFEE -&XEER

6.

successfully applied for government grants regarding the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

B R EE SR RIS BIRET /R

6. [FRIEAIESIR

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRIAIEE L &NEG, (5t A) TASEBERE
o
2024 2023
o 1 - S
(@) Finance costs (@) FEERRA

Interest on borrowing from a related company KE—BEAELABEEZFE 2,866,250 4,384,271

Interest on borrowing from a director of a subsidiary KRB —REM/E AT EEH
BEZFE 6,100,000 6,100,000
Interest on lease liabilities (note 12(b)) HESEH 5 (FzE12(b)) 187,645 160,460
9,153,895 10,644,731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continueq)

“E2CMF=ZRA=+—HLFE CUBTFE)

6. [RIRAIESIR (@)

2024 2023
(b)  Staff costs* (including directors’ b) BIZ(8EES
remuneration) B &)
Salaries, wages and other benefits ey TEREMEH 74,371,251 67,249,551
Contribution to defined contribution retirement plans 5 & HER AR 5T &R RL 2,216,132 2,080,242
76,587,383 69,329,793
() Other items (c) HftIER
Cost of sales™: & Al A
— cost of construction — SR 235,228,904 261,656,460
— cost of services provided —RHIRFE AR 351,443 751
235,580,347 261,657,211
Depreciation: e !
— property, plant and equipment* -/ E Nk
(note 12(a)) (MizE12(0)) 2,477,293 2,360,006
— right-of-use assets(note 12(a)) —FRAEEE (F5E12(@)) 1,657,720 2,970,337
4,135,013 5,330,343
Impairment losses/(Reversal of impairment) on EHEEHNEEZRE
financial and contract assets, net: 518 CRLE#[]) $%8
— loan and interest receivables —EWERLFE (16,725,896) 15,226,118
— trade receivables and contract assets — B3 EINE IEJE’Z S#HEE  (8,400,236) 10,068,297
— other receivables —H MBI 29,012,657 1,491,730
3,886,525 26,786,145
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEENENE -
— audit services —BIZIR 1,030,000 1,150,000
— non-audit services —IEBEBIZRTS - 150,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEMZE BB KREZHE 2 Wm (185,235) (1,015,833
Written-off of property, plant and equipment WEEY) 2 BB R sk - 220,674
Foreign exchange gain, net PE 2 UK 0P 2B (43,457) (56,064)

The staff costs and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment with aggregate amount of approximately
HK$42,061,000 (2023: approximately HK$41,719,000) are
included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTsHE)

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 7. FrfSMBExX

(@) Income tax expenses in the consolidated (a) iREEERPIREREANRE:
statement of profit or loss represents:

2024 2023
—EomE —Zo=

Current tax: EPHAFRIA :

Charge for the year FAZH 917,814 745,508

Over-provision in previous years BEFEEBREE S (5,271) (15,719)

912,543 729,789

Deferred tax RIERIA :

(Credit)/charge for the year (note 7(c)) FR R 7)) (152,729) 207,998

759,814 937,787

Notes: P EE

[0} Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, () RERSHENRARRG A& BAGMHS
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman BEEMSHK
Islands.

(i) The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for year ended 31 (i) REEMF BRI ENIZ16.6% (ZE =
March 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the 16.6%) ZMESFRBE_Z _ME=F=+— g
estimated assessable profits for the year, except for one LFEEEEBNENES EXAERZ BB AE
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation RBRAFHERARE T 2 & B EBRS
under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 milion of the assessable M B AR MS » B2,000,0005 T2 FEREF)
profits is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits 18.25% M98 R AR > HERAE SR i 71]216.5% K9
is taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for MEFR - ZWBAR ZEBNBREBDR
this subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2023. —=HMERREEE

(iii According to the relevant announcements of income tax (iii R E KR F5 8 8 B/ N B A R PRSI R
relief policy for small low-profit enterprises issued by the RHERNEBAS  mEE THRAEN/NE A
State Administration of Taxation, a lower corporate income EXERABRE E’M:¥Fﬁ1?ﬂi (TEEFRER) =&
tax (“CIT’) rate is applicable to small scale enterprises with - ®&EZEME—A=—+—HIEFE FRE
low profitability that meet certain conditions, pursuant to ‘ﬁ*%/J\\ﬂﬁ§¥E’\J M8 AS A HBiE A RE3,000,000
which, the subsidiaries qualified as small-scale enterprises TRIERINEF IR B RIRES% (BN %26% &R
with assessable profits not over RMB3,000,000 are A2 REFSRE20%) BR-BE_S-=F
effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% CIT rate on the 25% of the ERAEF+—HUEEE  ZEMBEBATE AR
assessable profits) for the year ended 31 March 2024. For 1,000,0007C BIFE SR a1 (T8 e EERIR 7)) 3%
the year ended 31 March 2023, (i) the first RMB1,000,000 of BREMRE2.5% (AMR12.5% B MEZER M 2 ¢
assessable profits (the “I1st Assessable Profits”) of these KPS E20%) B 5 R(NERTTEBB AR
subsidiaries were effectively taxable at 2.5% (i.e. 20% CIT rate 3,000,000 c Y FER R m A (T8R T RERRIRE M) 12
on 12.5% of the 1st Assessable Profits); and (i) the remaining ME5% (BN#Z25%8F T E RG] 2 (R EFRSRE
assessable profits not over RMB3,000,000 (the “Remaining 20%) BN - MR RKEXEBNEMNB RS
Assessable Profits”) were taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% CIT rate = REMERIATERE25%HMR

on the 25% of the Remaining Assessable Profits). For the
other subsidiaries operating in the PRC, the CIT is taxed at
the statutory rate of 25%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 7. FiSEX (&
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense (b) FRiERAZBEIERREATNRRAE
and accounting loss before tax at applicable sHESIE Z RV AR -
tax rates:
2024 2023
—gomE =
Loss before tax PRI AR IR (19,340,608) (46,057,791)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEFENRIE (3,983,052)  (8,258,813)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AAHRA IR BT 2 7,980,223 11,935,416
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRIMANRBEEE (4,659,241)  (3,255,791)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised B AR R EREN
M E (156,020) 313,731
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RERAEFBRIEBEN
MG 2 3,407,556 2,827,452
Tax effect of tax losses utilised EBANEBENRBETE (1,818,381)  (2,549,476)
Over-provision in previous years W FEEBRREE (5,271) (15,719)
Others Hth (6,000) (59,013)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate RAEBERREFEZ
MRIEZ WM 759,814 937,787
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= )% +—HIEEE CUETsHE)

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as follows:

7. FhiSREX @)
() HREMBRRRBOFREHE:

BREZiEERIEL R

HREVMBRARNECHEIELENRBEERE
BRERSB D R FERNEENT -

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of the

related

depreciation

InERE

Deferred tax arising from: EERIERAR - 8RR T &8

At 1 April 2022 AZE-"HMA—H (458,387)

Charged to profit or loss (note 7(a)) FRi8m P 0kR (k7)) (207,998)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 MN-EZ=F=A=+—HR

—E-=#m"A—H (666,385)

Credited to profit or loss (note 7(a)) RiERFPETA (H5E7(0) 152,729

At 31 March 2024 MW-E-mNE=ZA=+—H (513,656)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities not
recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2.4 1o the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets due to unpredictability
of future profit streams. The Group had unused tax losses
of approximately HK$108,911,000 (2023: approximately
HK$106,319,000) in which approximately HK$93,355,000
(2023: approximately HK$92,427,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely, while the remaining unused tax losses
of approximately HK$15,556,000 (2023: approximately
HK$13,892,000) will be expired in five years from the
respective dates of incurrence. In addition, as at 31 March
2024, the Group had deductible temporary differences
of approximately HK$2,390,000 (2023: approximately
HK$603,000) arising from the right-of-use assets and
the taxable temporary differences of approximately
HK$2,534,000 (2023: approximately HK$518,000) arising
from corresponding lease liabilities, which has not been
recognised.

As at 31 March 2024, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised on the temporary difference in relation to the
undistributed earnings of approximately HK$1,169,000
(2028: nil) of a subsidiary in the PRC because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the distribution of these
retained profits.
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7. FhiSHRAX (&
(d) KREDEERETERER

BEGEYHFRRWF2.4FMEH 2 5T
ROBRARRBENFRE LB ZEE I
ERERBECLRBEE - AEBEXRFHARE
E53849108,911, 000 T (ZCE - =ZF ' &
106,319,0008 7t) » HH4993,355,0008 7©
(ZEZ=4F:%992,427,000% 7T) 0] £ [E &
EE MR TR BERIBEEELN15,556,000
BT (ZEZ=F":413,892,000% 7T) B
EEBLEHBEEFRNEREm oML R IE
THOFE=ZA=t+—H ' x"EBEEBXREFH
HEENTIRE R ZE42,390,0008 T
(ZZ - =4 : #4603,000/87T) RERBE K
ERNEAEEAEaENREEREFEMEEREY
2,534,000 T (ZE =4 . 4518,000%
JT) °©

N _E_NE=ZB=+—H HREAEETZE
HZEREBANDIRKER  HEMR —BHEH
MEBABMAKADIREFA1,169,0008 T (=
EI-F D) EHNERUEERRIELER
BEE.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 which was included in the staff costs
as disclosed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2024

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

8. EEFr

BE_T_NMEFR_Z-_=ZF=ZRB=+—~H
I FEES ARG M B IR 5E6(b)Fr ik B BY
ETRANEEHMOT :

BE_ZT_NF=A=+—HLFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonus inkind contributions Total
A
£k MIBTEL  REMERN  BAHEMHER st
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) BN (FF) 60,000 60,000 1,071,317 16,500 1,207,817
Mr. Bai Huawei (appointed on BERLE RS =F
7 September 2023) NETHEZD - 40,000 680,000 10,500 730,500
Mr. Wang Yu (appointed on ImEE RS -mE
5 January 2024) —BLREZM) 222,581 - 64,516 1,500 288,597
Mr. Zhu Jiayu (resigned on AEREE (RZ22=F
8 November 2023) +—AN\B#AD 610,400 - 265,362 - 875,762
892,981 100,000 2,081,195 28,500 3,102,676
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RiRELE 198,400 - - - 198,400
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau ERREE 198,400 - - - 198,400
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai (appointed on SEELE RZE-NE
5 January 2024) —BRAEZMD) 57,419 - - - 57,419
454,219 - - - 454,219
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIIJFHITES
Mr. Eric Todd ERERE 198,400 - - - 198,400
Mr. Jiang Senlin (appointed on ERMEE (RZ22=F
7 September 2023) NEtHREZD 136,000 - - - 136,000
Mr. Zhang Yi (appointed on RELERZT-=F
7 September 2023) NEtHREZD 136,000 - - - 136,000
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (resigned on BEELE (RZT-ME
5 January 2024) —BRAED 183,226 - - - 183,226
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson (resigned on REREE (W22 2=F
7 September 2023) ABEtRED 62,800 - - - 62,800
716,426 - - - 716,426
Total @t 2,063,626 100,000 2,081,195 28,500 4,273,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

8. EFHM =

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_Z_=—F=-RB=1+—HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonus inkind contributions Total
#e 2R
EERE BTETELL BWMETN  BAHBIER it
Executive Directors HiTER
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) AN (R 1,039,330 80,000 168,227 30,140 1,317,697
Mr. Zhu Jiayu KERLE 1,008,000 67,200 - - 1,075,200
2,047,330 147,200 168,227 30,140 2,392,897
Non-executive Directors FRTES
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRBELE 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau EAREE 144,000 - - - 144,000
288,000 - - - 288,000
Independent Non-executive ~ BIiIEHITES
Directors
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BERLE 240,000 - - - 240,000
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson REEEE 144,000 = = = 144,000
Mr. Eric, Todd ERERE 144,000 - - - 144,000
528,000 - - - 528,000
Total 4zt 2,863,330 147,200 168,227 30,140 3,208,897

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, none of
the director has granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group under the share option scheme of

the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. Neither the chief executive
officer nor any of the directors waived any emoluments

RB&EE_T_NEAR_E_=ZF=A=1+—
HEEE HEESFHIREATEBFEHD
BREREAERZERESESREBERE

REBEEE_NONFER_ZE-_F=-"RB=+—
HEFE AEEMEQEET NN (FS
BEEMAIREMAXRNEE RN HIF
AEBEE-NMBEE T _NER_FT =
—B=+t—HILEE BB TBRAETRTETM
EERETMAME-

during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= )% +—HIEEE CUETsHE)

9. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST 9. IhAmSHMALEME

PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, nil (2023:
nil) of these are directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
for the year ended 31 March 2024, whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements. The emoluments in respect of the remaining
individuals are as follows:

BE_ZT_NEF=-"R=+—HLEFE REE
EhssEeMATREEATRERTESE
(TE%H) (Z=2-=F':18) HWERER
REMBRERMES - HER ATHMESWT :

2024 2023

ZEINE —“Z°=F

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R RBEYER 8,380,000 7,640,000
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,500,000 1,000,000
Retirement scheme contributions BORETEIHER 36,000 43,500
9,916,000 8,683,500

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no RBEE_T_NEAR_E_=ZF=B=+—
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest BEFE AEBEHERRALESHMNAL
paid individuals (including directors and employees) or (BiEEEhEE) IEHMESZAME > XU

other directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the EABEBEMAZKREMANERZNNE
Group, or as compensation for loss of office. AR BERE-
The emoluments of five (2023: five) individuals with the hE(CEI=F . 1) R FHMATHNNE
highest emoluments are within the following bands: NFEUTEHE :
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A® A
Below 1,000,000 1,000,000L4 = =
1,000,000-1,500,000 1,000,000—1,500,000 - -
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001 —2,000,000 1 5

2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001 —2,500,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

10. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024. No dividend
has been declared or paid by the Company for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

11. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following:

10. BRE

EFTAEZRNEBE_Z_DOE=A
=+ HLEFEZRERBE - AR LEE
KRN E _S_NEAX_E_=ZF=H
—t+—HIEFEZRE-

11. SkEE
(a EREREIE

AT GEH ARG S IR A BT T M
st

2024 2023
—EImE =
Loss E5i8

Loss attributable to owners of the Company KABHERE AEILER (20,621,836) (46,995,578)
(Restated)
Number of shares in&E (B &EH)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the sTESREAREGEIEZ ZER
purpose of basic loss per share IR E 92,835,500 92,835,500

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company was based on (i) the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and (i) the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue which was
adjusted by the effect of 3,164,500 shares (adjusted)
held for the Group’s share award scheme (note 25) and
share consolidation (note 24(c)). Comparative figure has
also been adjusted on the assumption that the share
consolidation have been effective in the prior year.

(b) Diluted losses per share

There were no diluted potential shares in existence during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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(RAFR) CEMAENERTEBRMETF
HHERHBMFTENROGEHENR L—FE
T RE T UREE -

(b) EREBEHEE

REE_E_NEE_ S _=F=A=+—
HEEE - IEBE#HERMD o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= )% +—HIEEE CUETsHE)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

12. ME- -BERRRE

(a) EREIEHIR

Properties
leased Leasehold Furniture Motor
for own use Machinery improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
VL= )
kY 20 HERE HRRRE Pt it
Cost: 7%
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__&MA—H 8,630,128 80,079,090 913,376 2,730,604 16,688,581 109,041,779
Additions g 1,415,553 882,099 304,150 407,122 436,200 3,445,124
Disposals HE (5,321,036) (2,516,320) - - (1,002,000) (8,839,356)
Written-off i - - (617,490) (321,033) - (838,529
Exchange realignments ER A (249,434) - - (4,942) - (254,376)
At 31 March 2023 NZEZ=
=ZA=+-H 4,475,211 78,444,869 700,030 2,811,751 16,122,781 102,554,642
Additions Ei] 2,269,238 561,400 - 122,365 1,053,995 4,006,998
Disposals HE - (410,000) - (600,515) - (1,010,515)
Exchange realignments ERAR (179,367) - - (5,669) - (185,036)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE
=ZA=+-H 6,565,082 78,596,269 700,030 2,327,932 17,176,776 105,366,089
Accumulated depreciation: ~ B3HFE :
At 1 April 2022 R_E-"ENA—-H 5,043,800 77,862,431 602,878 2,360,481 11,408,955 97,278,545
Charge for the year FRZH 2,970,337 783,920 104,079 211,052 1,260,955 5,330,343
Disposals HE (5,321,036) (2,516,320) - - (917,833) (8,755,189)
Written-off i e = - (297,560) (320,295) - (617,855)
Exchange realignments ERHE (87,283) - - (1,316) - (88,599)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F
ZA=+-H 2,605,318 76,130,031 409,397 2,249,922 11,752,077 93,147,245
Charge for the year FERZH 1,657,720 903,518 60,830 189,736 1,323,209 4,135,013
Disposals HE - (410,000) - (597,582) - (1,007,582)
Exchange realignments ERAE (141,737) - - (2,216) - (143,953)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZME
=ZRA=+-H 4,121,801 76,623,549 470,227 1,839,860 13,075,286 96,130,723
Net carrying amount: IRESE
At 31 March 2024 RoE-mE
=A=+-H 2,443,281 1,972,720 229,803 488,072 4,101,490 9,235,366
At 31 March 2023 I St
=A=1+—-H 1,869,393 2,314,838 290,633 561,829 4,370,704 9,407,397

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —¥== "MEER

225



226

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

12. W% -BERRE (B

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EREESE
The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use RERMEBEEEINZS S NGERREERT FE
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: HNaMm&EswT :

2024 2023

—FmE T
Properties leased for own use, HEFERNYZE
carried at depreciated cost (ZITERARTIER) 2,443,281 1,869,393

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases RERARDKNEERSTEE N D HE5 W
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: S <

2024 2023

—EI@E 2=

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of

RAEREEENE DB

underlying asset: FRESENEER .
— properties leased for own use —HEEBRNYE 1,657,720 2,970,337
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEaEFE (Hk6(@) 187,645 160,460
Expense relating to short-term leases B HRE E BRI
— machinery — 1 17,490,234 17,354,725
— properties leased for own use —MHEEEBRNYE 2,166,000 2,180,148

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately HK$2,269,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,416,000). This amount related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 19(c), 22 and
27(b) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

(i) Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties
as its office and warehouses through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years.

There was no lease extension options or early termination
options in the leases entered by the Group for years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

13. §é¥ﬁﬂAEMQEMﬁW£ﬁ

2024 2023
ZEmE —ZTT=F
Investment in equity securities — Unlisted, at fair value & AFEzt= 2 EAEH
(note 27(f)) KEIFLE™
(fF5E27(F)) 2,734,980 8,559,589

The above unlisted equity investments represent
approximately 19.7% equity interest in Matsu Gami IP
Development Limited (the “Matsu Gami”), an entity
established in the BVI, which were irrevocably designated
as financial assets at FVOCI as the Group considers these
investments to be strategic in nature. The Group engaged
an independent professional valuer to determine the fair
value of these equity investments as at 31 March 2024
by using discounted cash flow method. Details of the key
assumptions used in the valuation are set out in note 27(f)
to the consolidated financial statements.

14. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

FHIFETREAKRERENE ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁz_L
W—RBBEMN %$IP§")§EBE’AT (M43 %) B
K19.7%RE AN ETEBRA M—;&,éﬂzﬁ
BUEE ZEREFATHBEMREEASER
FEFAEMEENENEREE - A&
ZE—LBUSXGFEMNMBERAMERRS
MEBEEERSTSRAREN _Z_NE=HA
=+—HBMNAFTE -BREAGETRARANREE
BRFBFEHEN T BRERMEE27(f)

14. BRAFESARENEMEE

2024 2023
—ENE ==
Investment in equity securities — Listed in BATESEZRAFESK
Hong Kong, at fair value (note 27(f) BE—REB LT (FsE27() 1,959,200 =

The fair value of listed equity investments is determined
with reference to quoted market bid price from the Stock
Exchange and within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The
above equity investments were classified as financial assets
at FVTPL as they were held for trading.

EHREAKE E’J’AJZTEE@,E’?H?”%E’JFE%
BREMEE L ARAFERBRIE —HK-H
ﬁ\iﬂtﬂx$&§ﬁﬂ’ﬁ,§;’Eﬁzfﬁ#ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ
FTEFAEGNEMEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

15. CONTRACT ASSETS 15. BHEE
2024 2023
—gomE ==
Contract assets arising from: MUTEENGNEE !
— foundation construction works — W EEETIE 92,841,123 104,893,494
— ground investigation services — = 3t E R AR 75 26,974,965 27,541,035
119,816,088 132,434,529
Less: Impairment B ORE (2,260,836)  (1,254,047)
117,655,252 131,180,482
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of HEBRIAENEESEBNTEN —BK I
contract assets recognised are as follows: EZHMT .

The Group’s foundation construction works and ground
investigation services which require stage payments
over the construction/service period once milestones
are reached as application submitted to the customers/
certificate issued by the customer.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s foundation
construction works and ground investigation services
typically have an agreed retention period of three months to
one year for 5% - 10% of the contract value, which amount
is included in contract assets until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s foundation construction work
satisfactorily passing inspection.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates of contract assets are based
on days past due of contract assets for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Details of the provision matrix and
the movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of contract assets are set out in note 27(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

16. BHREMEWRE

2024 2023
—ElmE 2=
Trade receivables (Note) B S EWEIE () 31,800,294 28,046,881
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables ¥ TR RIE R H M
FEW IR 50,528,742 66,717,945
82,329,036 94,764,826
Less: Impairment B
— trade receivables (Note) —B S riEIE (M) (1,177,123) (10,584,148)
— other receivables —HAh g =IE (32,000,760)  (3,102,405)
(33,177,883) (13,686,553
49,151,153 81,078,273
Note: Mt
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, rEFREERNEZ KR TEAFEE KHZAER
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally ERAIMR - BZRUIGRIE—MRINEE EIHHtquSOiGOEI

required. Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days from
the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from the invoice date. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 27(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. As at the
end of the reporting period, the Group had concentrations
of credit risk as the trade receivables relate to a few
number of customers.

NEZHHAREF60E0HNEH - BRIAEBEEEHRN
E—SHBEENRG M BHRERMEE27E)

REBRDBEBEZEHRWO R EWEFRIE X
EERNERGEERAR -SREEBEHERAH
B AEBRTENEZRERBEGREAE
AEARNEMEEREK RESHER AR

BERUREBES R VBER  AEBNEEHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the historical
trade receivables loss rate, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forward-looking factors including forecasts of future
economic conditions. Details of the provision matrix
and the movements in loss allowance for impairment of
trade an other receivables are set out in note 27(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, net of impairment, based on the date of
progress certificates issued by customers or date of invoice
issued to customers and net of allowance, is as follows:

16. BRI RHEMEWKRIE (&)

BEITNEREBHHET ERERAEE
EERFEFHACEEEB - BHEXDERE
EERLUEEEANRZIEZTREIHEETD
HZzBBRHAE - ZAERBRTELEZE
KWREBEX -EEKEEERNBEEMH
SRR N EAEEER (BEHRREER R
MR 2 REAATESHNEERZIFLSE
ke BRABHERE K 8B 5 Kk H &R IERE
EREEBEINFBRIEANGEMBRENE
27(a)e

ARHES 73 4R

BERSHRX ERFRPELNEEZSZHN
FAFEFRPELNEZARARNGEER BES
FEWGRIE (INERRLE) BERE DTN T ¢

2024 2023

—EomE —ET”-—
Within 1 month —EB N 10,409,405 6,181,162
1 to 2 months —EMmE A 6,329,711 522,062
2 to 3 months WE=EA 1,754,280 -
Over 3 months =EAMUE 12,129,775 10,759,509
30,623,171 17,462,733
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

17. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

17. BIRERKRFE

2024 2023
—EolmE 2=
Fixed-rate loan receivables, unsecured EFEEINER  EIKHE 12,900,000 31,900,000
Interest receivables FEUF] B - 54,435
Less: Impairment R (8,137,900) (24,863,796)
4,762,100 7,090,639
Less: classified as non-current portion as: B D EEAIERERER Y (809,100) =
Current portion BNEREL > 3,953,000 7,090,639

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s loan and interest
receivables were secured by personal guarantees, interest
bearing at 7.5% to 12% per annum and have been
overdue for repayment.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one of the loan
receivables was fully settled. The Group further agreed
with the remaining loan receivable to settle the outstanding
amount by instalments up to September 2025. The interest
thereon has been waived save for default in repayment as
scheduled.

Provision for impairment on loan and interest receivables of
HK$8,137,900 (2023: HK$24,863,796) was provided for
the outstanding balance as at 31 March 2024. Details of
the impairment assessment are set out in note 27(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
concentrations of credit risk as the loan receivables relate
to one borrower.

ﬁé_v__ﬁ B=+—H XEEBNEWRE
TERAMEABEBARBER FEMNEAH7TE5RE
12% > HERBEKRE -

RBEETZ_NMEF=ZRA=+—HLFE EBK
EMNEF-—SEEXHEE -TEBE—Y

FEERGREKRER f:%:ﬂiﬁﬂz*ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ
HESREENEH MERFCIEWMEEREI
EMAECERG o

W& —

ME=ZB=+—H EfXxEE
AR EIE8,137,900B T (ZE - =& .
24,863,7968 ) WEWER RF B /DHE%*
B ARMBETGEMNEBHN G BEREKRMN
5E27(a)°

RBREHMER BARBRERE—
B AEENEERREAET-

BERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

18. BERBREEFEY

2024 2023
—EZmE —ZTT=
Deposits with other financial institutions EFERPREMM SRS BN ER 6,265,830 570,841
Deposits with banks with original maturity FEHRR DR =@/
less than 3 months BITHER 45,000,000 =
Cash at banks and in hand IRITERRFRES 87,019,992 115,907,527
Total cash and cash equivalents Be KIS EY 485 138,285,822 116,478,368

The cash and bank balances amounting to approximately
HK$6,004,000 (2023: approximately HK$406,000) that
were deposited in bank accounts maintained in the
Chinese Mainland and denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”)
were not freely convertible into other currencies and were
subject to exchange controls in the Chinese Mainland.
However, under the Chinese Mainland Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulation, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
bank authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

19. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group has non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$2,269,000 (2023: approximately HK$1,416,000)
and approximately HK$2,269,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,416,000), in respect of lease arrangement for office
and warehouse premises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

19. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 19.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b)  Reconciliation of loss before tax to cash (b)

generated from operations:

mERERERME (2

PRItAIAS IR RS EFRS R EAIHAR ¢

Notes 2024 2023
Byt “EZNE 2 =F
Cash flows from operating activities BETHHEENE
Loss before tax BRIGEIERIR (19,340,608)  (46,057,791)
Adjustments for: TR IERE
Finance costs EHE N 6(a) 9,153,895 10,644,731
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% B KB EITE 6(c) 2,477,293 2,360,006
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEETE 6(c) 1,657,720 2,970,337
Bank interest income RITHEUA 5 (655,521) (852,837)
Other interest income HH) SUWA 5 (1,275,842) (1,939,937)
Net change in fair value of financial assets BATEHABGNEMEE
at FVTPL MATERETE 5 520,800 (73,470)
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment loss on BERUBTRBRENEEZ
trade receivables and contract assets (R ERR) /RESBE 6(c) (8,400,236) 10,068,297
Impairment loss on other receivables HitpE W8 R EEE 6(c) 29,012,657 1,491,730
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment loss on EUWERKFEZ
loan and interest receivables (R ERR) /RESBE 6(c) (16,725,896) 15,226,118
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -BEREEZ
plant and equipment W 5 (135,235) (1,015,833)
Written-off of property, plant and equipment Wﬁé ME-RERHRE 6(c) - 220,674
Gain on derecognition of debt investment RSB AT ES ARM
at FVOCI FHB@mZEBREZ
W 3 5 - (7,223,019
Loss on disposal of interest in an associate HER—BHEATNERZ
518 - 27,522,505
Recognition of long services payment liabilities ubxﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ?i%fz 493,534 19,767
Share of results of an associate EE—EHEA AR ZER - (4,140,861)
Operating (loss)/profit before working CEEEHHIZRE
capital changes (548) iz (3,217,439) 9,220,417
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL BRATES ABaN
SRBEERN (2,480,000) -
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 MEMEWRIER D 12,207,185 15,087,724
Decrease in loan and interest receivables FEUW E N R F) Eom 19,054,435 1,159,553
Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets BREERD/ (8) 12,618,441 (8,305,156)
Increase in trade and other payables B REMENRIER
and accruals FEsTt &M 5,283,958 5,625,733
Cash generated from operations RERBRE 43,466,580 22,788,271
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

19. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

19. REBRERERMEE @)
() WMEIFHELEZAMRBR

TERFAAEERETHELE2EBEES &
EREAIFREEH -METHELEZEER
ERARNEAERRERETERERNDER
MELELE2REAEXARKREREN
=R

Due to Due to
Lease arelated a director of
liabilities company a subsidiary Total
FEF—FE FEft—%
REAR MEAE
HEafE MIE  ERZME it
At 1 April 2023 M-E-=f£MA—AH 1,846,420 62,484,271 124,578,127 188,908,818
Changes from financing cash flows: FIZEREFEEH :
Payment of principal portion of BEAEEENEESH S
lease liabilties (1,491,935) - ~ (1,491,935
Payment of interest portion of BEHEEENFESD
lease liabilities (187,645) - - (187,645)
Repayment to a director of a subsidiary H—% B AR ZESZER - - (8,678,127) (8,678,127)
Repayment to a related company B—EREATER - (10,000,000) - (10,000,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows BIEIR& s EEAE%E (1,679,580)  (10,000,000) (8,678,127)  (20,357,707)
Other changes: Hithigsh .
Increase in lease liabilities from entering EA] A ES
into new leases during the year HESEIEM 2,269,238 - - 2,269,238
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFE 187,645 - - 187,645
Interest on borrowing from RE—LNBRIEZEEZ
a director of a subsidiary BEEZHE - - 6,100,000 6,100,000
Interest on borrowing from RE—BREEATZ
a related company Tﬁ =il - 2,866,250 - 2,866,250
Exchange adjustment R (33,281) - - (33,281)
Total other changes E@ﬁ@]?gé 2,423,602 2,866,250 6,100,000 11,389,852
At 31 March 2024 M-E-_mE=A=+—H 2,590,442 55,350,521 122,000,000 179,940,963
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

19. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

4

SREHRRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

19. RERERERMEE (2

() WMEIFHEEZERHR @

Due to

Due to
Lease arelated 3 director of
liabilities company a subsidiary Total
FE{3—Fa FEft—%
MEAT MEAT
HE&R ME ERZRE @mat
At 1 April 2022 M-E-__SMmA—A 3,778,998 113,100,000 128,478,127 245,357,125
Changes from financing cash flows: FIZER& R :
Payment of principal portion of BERESENEEHR
lease liabilities (3,184,939) - - (3184939)
Payment of interest portion of EEHEaENFELS
lease liabilities (160,460) - - (160,460)
Repayment to a director of a subsidiary [AI—%MBABESZE - - (10,000,000)  (10,000,000)
Repayment to a related company m—EEATER - (55,000,000) - (55,000,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows BIEIR& R #4828 (3,345,399)  (55,000,000)  (10,000,000)  (68,345,399)
Other changes: Hithis) .
Increase in lease liabilities from entering R UHAES
into new leases during the year HESEEM 1,415,553 - - 1,415,553
Interest on lease liabilities HESEMNE 160,460 - - 160,460
Interest on borrowing from RE—LHBARESEZ
a director of a subsidiary BEZFHE - - 6,100,000 6,100,000
Interest on borrowing from RE—HERERBZEEZ
a related company FE = 4,384,271 = 4,384,271
Exchange adjustment R (163,192) = = (163,192)
Total other changes Hitn& 4858 1,412,821 4,384,271 6,100,000 11,897,092
At 31 March 2023 W-E2-=F=RA=+—H 1,846,420 62,484,271 124,578,127 188,908,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &=

19. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases

19.

(d)

“E2CMF=ZRA=+—HLFE CUBTFE)

mERERERME (2

HERSRNBEHE

MEEFAREREXRTHNEREBEUATS

comprise the following: 1E .
2024 2023
—EomE 2=
Within operating cash flows BR&ERE 19,656,234 19,534,873
Within financing cash flows BrRERe 1,679,580 3,345,399
21,335,814 22,880,272
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 20. B RHEMEMDRIENESTEB
ACCRUALS
2024 2023
—EFImE =
Trade payables B ETIR 30,929,648 23,414,315
Retention payables FEREE 5,918,872 6,135,725
Other payables and accruals HMME I RIBRESER 11,906,859 13,921,381
48,755,379 43,471,421

Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, ageing analysis of

ARES 7 4R

BERSHRFR ENLEHRNEZBAKRMR

trade payables based on the invoice date is as follows: HER&E oW T -
2024 2023
—EImE —“T=F
Within 1 month —EBARN 17,347,931 13,663,181
1 to 2 months —ZEm{EA 9,357,136 8,273,075
2 to 3 months ME=1EH 2,922,128 44 575
Over 3 months =EAMU L 1,302,453 1,433,484
30,929,648 23,414,315
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

21. DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY/A

DIRECTOR OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due to a related company, Bright Dynasty
Trading Limited (“Bright Dynasty”), is unsecured, bearing
interest at 5% (2023: 5%) per annum and repayable on
demand. Bright Dynasty is beneficially owned by Mr.
Fong Hon Hung (‘Mr. Fong”), who is a member of key
management personnel of the Group and is a director of a
principal subsidiary.

The amount due to a director of a subsidiary, Mr. Lau Woon
Si (“Mr. Lau”), is unsecured, bearing interest at 5% (2023:
5%) per annum and repayable on demand. Mr. Lau is a
member of key management personnel of the Group and is
a director of a subsidiary.

22. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the group’s lease liabilities:

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

FE{T— I RAE
FEZME

BN —BEREATSABEZARAR (MM
B ) ZREBERF BERE% (TE =
F15%) SRR EREREBE - NHEZHES
ERAEE(AREN)BERER KRALEEAN
—LETEEEENEARRS —HBEIEWELF

21. A8/ —HBASE

HESE-
E—2WMBADEZERRFRE (TR

) 2FBEBEEERF MEESFR (ZE_=
F5%) T ERBREREBRE - I LKEARBLEE

BN — 2T ECEERERLE—BHEAT
MESE-
22. HE&®’

TRINTAEBREGBZRNFSOEED -

31 March 2024
“¥-mE=A=+—H

31 March 2023
“ET=F=RB=+—H

Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
RIEHE RIEHAE RIEEE RIEHEE
{IRREIR(E {ITR4E%E AHHIRE A RAEEE
Within 1 year —FR" 1,617,757 1,757,800 974,169 1,099,858
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMERN 972,685 996,153 872,251 955,987
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBERBLFR - - = =
972,685 996,153 872,251 955,987
2,590,442 2,753,953 1,846,420 2,055,845
Less: total future interest expenses 78 © AR AR BB 40 4E (163,511) (209,425)
Present value of lease obligations ~ fAE&ERIRE 2,590,442 1,846,420
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BIERER 1,617,757 974,169
Non-current portion JEBNERER 972,685 872,251
2,590,442 1,846,420
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

23. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll cost to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as at 31 March
2024 and 2023.

24. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the reporting period are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

24. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 24, BE - EERERE &)
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)
(a Movements in components of equity (a) ITEELARREEN (B2)
(Continued)
Company *xa
Shares
Exchange  held under
Share Capital Special  Fairvalue fluctuation share award Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve scheme losses Total
_ . ‘  RRREHE ]
BivEE  EHE  HURE ATERE EREBGE SRR BHEH by
Balance as at 1 April 2022 RZEZZFEMA—-AZER 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 - 1297485  (19,429,159) (198,955,005) 152,666,354
Changes in equity during the year  HEZ-Z_=%
ended 31 March 2023: =B=1+- Elﬂ:fﬁlﬁ
Zf Mik
Loss for the year Em@ﬁa - - - - - - (60,859,117) (60,859,117)
Share of other comprehensive Ef—EHEATZ
income of an associate Ht2EE - - - - (885,086) - - (885,086)
Transfer of exchange reserve REE—EREATE
upon disposal of an associate EREDRE - - - = (412,399) = = (412,399)
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZANREE
income for the year - - - - (1,297,489) - (60,859,117)  (62,156,602)
Balance at 31 March 2023 R-BZZE
=R=+-RZ&H 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 - - (19429,159) (254,814,122) 90,509,752
Shares
Exchange  held under
Share Capital Special  Fairvalue fluctuation share award Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve scheme losses Total
N ‘ BB ]
BiYEE  EHE  RUHRE ATERE EREBGE SRR BHEH by
Balance at 1 April 2023 Y‘_gliiﬁlﬁ RZ&8 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 - - (19429,159) (254,814,122) 90,509,752
Changes in equity during the year REZ_E_M&E
ended 31 March 2024: =B= + BILEE
2REGEEE !
Loss for the year FRER = = = - - - (1675662 (1,675,662
Equity investment at FVOCI BATESARMZE R
ZBARE
— Change in fair value —NFEEE) - - - (5,824,609 - - - (5,824,609)
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZAKGEE
income for the year - - - (5,824,609 - - (1,675662)  (7,500,271)
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZE-ME
ZA=+-HZH&R 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (5,824,609) - [19429,159) (256,489,784) 83,000,481

(b) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between the
equity of Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited acquired
pursuant to the Reorganisation on 9 May 2015 over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange

therefore.

(b) 1HRIHE

%/E'J'J{u%{%?aﬁ?ﬁ S\ “TE-—HFERRBARBZE
HFTWBEEERERAERAS ZE@TELR LT
T’E?% BT RN ZEEZEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

24. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)

24. BF-HfERRE (2

(c) Share capital () mzxE
Number of
ordinary Nominal
shares amount
EERHE A&
HK$
AT
Ordinary shares, authorised: EELER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 WZ-E-_FWMBE—H-
of HK$0.01 each “E-=H=RA=+—-Bk
—E_=§mB—H
AERMEE.01ET 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Share consolidation (Note) B &5 (5 (1,800,000,000) =
As at 31 March 2024 of HK$0.1 each M-E-_MNE=A=+—H
AEREE.1#ET 200,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: BETRBELER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 WZ-ZE--fHMA—AH-
of HK$0.01 each —E_=H=RA=+—-Bk
“E_=fmMB—H
AERMEE.01ET 960,000,000 9,600,000
Share consolidation (Note) B &6 (5 (864,000,000) =
As at 31 March 2024 of HK$0.1 each M-E-_NE=A=+—H
AEREE.1#ET 96,000,000 9,600,000
Note: fisE -
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general RER-_Z_=F+—AZTHETHNARARRFIK

meeting of the Company on 20 November 2023, every ten issued and
unissued existing shares of HK$0.01 each were consolidated into one
consolidated share of HK$0.1 each, The share consolidation has been

effective on 22 November 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

24. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.
No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(i) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.

(iii)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution from its shareholder, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

(iv)  Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve is comprised of the cumulative net
change in the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI.

v) Shares held under share award scheme

Shares held under share award scheme represents
amounts arose as a result of purchasing of Company’s
shares for share award scheme or granting the shares to
relevant grantees of the Group.

(e) Distributability of reserves
At 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves

available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company was approximately nil (2023: nil).

ERE M RRME

“ME= ﬁ +—HLEFE QBB

24. BF-HERRE (2

d) FEEZEERBN
) REGEE

RO EERZHEBHE R ERE  x281K
MEZRREXNSD &%HaﬁTﬁﬁHﬂ%
SEREAMARANNGX (WAB) ARG &EE
R-BRIFEMEZRZXNORIREERRAER
AR AN AEEBBERIBANGES T
AR ARG EERUNAETZREZ LD
KSR R o

(i) EHHHEE
EHERBRENEEARRBNEATWELF
RAMBAEARBDETRONZEEEZFTHRE
RAEMEBEZELE-

(i) B E
EARBERBERRNEMFELIE  HRANE
E_Z-RE=ZB=+—HLEEFEBRART
B EmRZ-

(iv) 2 FEGHE

AT ERGBERERAFESARMER R
WERMEENATEREFE-

) REZEAEFERE

Rin RSt B I5 A R D 15 B X s AR 10 2 B 51
BBELARARNABDAERBR AR AE
CEBRMDMEENEEE-

(e) FIDIR{HE
RZZBE_WNFE=A=+—H A#HIIKFER

RERENREESEARANS (CB =
£:F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

24. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to fund its construction business, provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
trade and other payables and accruals, amount due to a
related company, amount due to a director of a subsidiary,
lease liabilities and long services payment liabilities) less
cash and cash equivalents. Total equity include capital and
reserves attributable to the owners of the Company.

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 March
2024 and 2023 was as follows:

24. BF-HfERRE (2

h BFEEE

AEREEREEFANIZERAFRERERRF
BIRENEN UREBREREBRHES A
REREHEORKRASHMFT O ERER o 24
FREEBARBLURDVDESH A

FEEBGBTERBRTREBEEARRE > XU
EFRESEEKTIEFTRNKRS KRR KA
REEXRAFAERNEBRREZBNF
T WEEKERTNEEHERRBIFEL

HE o

FEBREHABREH FREBELLERRHEE
EEHBEARE -REMS  cEERELSR
BREBPESEHRE (BEES REMEN
REREHER BN —BREQARREE
f—2WBRAAEFEZHNE HEERKERH
RHEEEE) ARERREEEBY Rl
BREARDEEANBEELRRER -

RIE-_NERE_ZF=RA=+—H =&
EMCHEERFERERLENT

2024 2023

—EmE =
Total debts BT 4E %R 230,182,567 233,372,930
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRENRIREEEY (138,285,822) (116,478,368)
Adjusted net debt AT PR 91,896,745 116,894,562
Total equity T T AR EE 90,321,978 117,337,456
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FEREEARLER 101.74% 99.62%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

25. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 30 June 2020, the Group adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognise the
contributions by Participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined
by the board of directors (the “Board”), the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10)
years commencing on the adoption date. The Board shall
not make any further award of awarded shares which will
result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the
Board under the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per
cent (10%) of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares which
may be awarded to a selected participant under the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed one per cent (1%) of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the trustee in accordance
with the rules of the Share Award Scheme and the terms
of the trust deed. The decision of the Board with respect
to any matter arising under the Share Award Scheme
(including the interpretation of any provision of the Scheme)
shall be final and binding. The trustee shall hold the trust
fund in accordance with the rules of the Share Award
Scheme and the terms of the trust deed.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
repurchased 31,645,000 of its own shares through the
trustee from open market. The total amount paid to
repurchase the shares was HK$19,429,159 and has been
deducted from equity and such shares were classified as
held under the Share Award Scheme. No shares had been
awarded by the board of directors under the Share Award
Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023. As at 31 March 2024, the number of share held for
the share award scheme has been reduced to 3,164,500
shares followed by the share consolidation affection on
22 November 2023 as disclosed in note 24(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

ERE M RRME
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25. ReiniZ@hstE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

31 March 2024

26. EHEHENZERMIA

BERSHR BB ITAENKREENT

—E_mE=HA=+—H

Financial assets EMEE
Financial
Financial Financial assets at
assets assets amortised
at FVOCI at FVTPL cost
BATFEHA BATE BEER T
Hitn 2w AR HEN
HERMEE EHMEE EHEE
HK$ HK$ HK$
AT A AT

Financial assets at FVOCI BRTEFAREMEEREN

EHEE 2,734,980 - =
Trade and other receivables B REMEKRIE - = 49,151,153
Loan and interest receivables e EZ R F B - = 4,762,100
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFAEBGHNEREE = 1,959,200 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREEEY - = 138,285,822
2,734,980 1,959,200 192,199,075

Financial liabilities ERERE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Bt E
HERERE
HK$
BT
Trade and other payables and accruals B RHMEMTIERESER 48,755,379
Due to a related company R —BEEARRIE 55,350,521
Due to a director of a subsidiary ER—2RBARESZHE 122,000,000
Long service payment liabilities EHR%EaE 1,486,225
Lease liabilities HEER 2,590,442
230,182,567
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continuea)

31 March 2023

Financial assets

“ME= H +—HLEFE QBB

26. EEHENZzEMIA (B

—E_=H=H=+—H

EWMEE

Financial
assets

at FVOCI
BRATEA
Htt2mik
MEMEE
HK$

AT

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
RsE R A
s
SMEE
HK$

AT

Financial assets at FVOCI

Trade and other receivables
Loan and interest receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

BATES AEMEERZAY
ERMEE

B 5 R H AR IR

BWERRAE

ReEkBEEEEY

8,569,589

81,078,273
7,090,639
116,478,368

8,559,589

204,647,280

Financial liabilities

ZRAE

Financial
liabilities

at amortised
cost
RBERTHE
HEmaR
HK$

BT

Trade and other payables and accruals
Due to a related company

Due to a director of a subsidiary

Long service payment liabilities

Lease liabilities

ESRAMENTEREHER

e —RHRERARNE

EN—2MBRAREEZNA

RERBEER
HE&R

43,471,421
62,484,271
124,578,127
992,691
1,846,420

233,372,930
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group
is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables, contrast assets, loan and interest
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks with sound credit ratings and the
Group has exposure limit to any single financial institution.
Given their high credit ratings, management does not
expect any of these financial institutions and counterparties
will fail to meet their obligations.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(a) Credit risk (Continueq)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of customer groups rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
32% (2023: nil) and 32% (2023: 22%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest key customer
and the five largest key customers respectively within the
foundation construction segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 60 days
from the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from the invoice
date. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
construction contract and ground investigation services
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

ERE M RRME

“ME= ﬁ +—HLEFE QBB

2. EMARERREMTANATE

(@ EERKE E

gg@‘&ﬂ% n:ﬁ?ﬁg

FEBRARZEERBIEZRERHERN
BRI MR EEMBITRIAMERAR
FE- R BEXGEEETPRABIERNEE
ERSERENERRAB NRGHAR B
FEMRIBAREE 2 32% (ZEZ=F ' F) &32%
(ZEZ=F:122%) pREXEEBTHE
BEDEANEATETERAARERTIERR

FREEXRBEE TERZEEZERHGE
TENEEF G REFEFEEEINETRBEE
HEMZaE R RIFERFZERES ﬁt%}?éi
ERZBEENUREREEMR KK
7o B 5 B IEE?%E‘%EIHHEDJrSOiGOEI
HEZHHAES60EIOHRNEI A KRER—
MUBNSRESAORLIHBARBERH
iR e

FEERBSNEMEREEEEN T B
EESRURERGNEENBREER HE
REBELUBEREANEZRESENARX
BEREBEREAE HNAEENBEREE
EREERTERARZERDBEREKNEE
BAZEZE REBEAMKREABENEREELE
REEBETEZ R AR ZWE & e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continueq)
Other receivables, loan and interest receivables

For loan and interest receivable, the Group’s management
manages and analyses the credit risk for each of their new
and existing customers before standard payment terms
and conditions are offered. The management assesses the
collateral and credit quality of each customer based on
customer’s background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also reviews
from time to time the financial position of the customers.

For all other instruments including other receivables and
loan and interest receivables, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ST RRMIEE

27.

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continueq)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan and interest
receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 2023:

4

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

27. ZRAKRERREMIANATE

(4

@@ EERR @

TEREERAEERRN S _MER-
—=F=ZR=+— Eﬁf,\%&ﬂfwﬁﬁﬂﬁm

BREEUKRBWERKFMEFREBRZE

ERBABHEEBRZER !

2024

—ET-NE

Expected Gross
Credit carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance

JERRfEE
B8 (%) IREEE ESiE S
Trade receivables and contract assets B R EWHIELRSNBEE

Current (not past due) ameh GRaaifs) 0.98% 118,847,703 1,159,747
1-30 days past due FHEA1E30H 0.10% 10,287,171 10,470
31-60 days past due #mHA31E60H 0.29% 6,347,923 18,212
61-90 days past due A6 1900 3.47% 1,817,298 63,018
More than 90 days past due AIHEARB4E90H 15.27% 14,316,287 2,186,512
151,616,382 3,437,959
Other receivables Hh g EIE 63.33% 50,528,742 32,000,760
Loan and interest receivables B E T RF] B 63.08% 12,900,000 8,137,900
63,428,742 40,138,660
215,045,124 43,576,619
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continueq)

27. ZRAKRERREMIANATE

(#)

(@ EERKE E

2023

—E=F

Expected Gross
Credit carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance

FEHEE
B 1EER(%) ERMEAR(E BB R
Trade receivables and contract assets EZEWRIBLR S EE

Current (not past due) mEh GRaaifg) 0.11% 137,447,705 155,537
1-30 days past due #AIHA1E30H 0.75% 70,000 524
31-60 days past due #IHA31E60H 0.75% 526,000 3,938
61-90 days past due #1EA612E90H 2.50% 860,321 21,526
More than 90 days past due EHARBE90H 54.02% 21,577,384 11,656,670
160,481,410 11,838,195
Other receivables HA R WGRIE 4.65% 66,717,945 3,102,405
Loan and interest receivables R ERRHME 77.81% 31,954,435 24,863,796
98,672,380 27,966,201
259,153,790 39,804,396

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE CUBTsHE)
27. %m}ﬂﬂl‘ﬁﬁﬂﬂzﬁmﬂlﬂﬂﬂ’z}zﬁﬁ
/IE

(@ ERER @

FRNEREZREMBRRIBE - GNEEKE

trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan WERREBBAFEFAEMZAKRZNER
receivables and debt investment at FVOCI during the year CENEERERESHUWT .
are as follows:
Loan and Debt
Trade Other Contract interest investment
receivables receivables assets receivables at FvOCI Total
BATEHA
ERER Hth2mEkE
BRELRE HftEKRE ANEE RHE  WEEBERE Eh
Balance at 1 April 2022 KZFZZ&EMA-AK
& 550,227 1,411,006 1,219,671 9,637,678 296,769 13,115,351
Impairment loss recognised/ EROHER/ (B HE

(reversed) during the year B8 (3H6(0)

(Note 6(c)) 10,033,921 1,788,499 34,376 15,226,118 (296,769 26,786,145
Exchange realignment QAR - (97,100) - - = (97,100)
Balance at 31 March 2023 ~ R-BZ=£=F=+-H

and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=EMA—-AM

ﬁt‘? 10,584,148 3,102,405 1,254,047 24,863,796 - 39,804,396
Impairment loss recognised/ ERERD/ (BE) A

(reversed) during the year &8 (zHe()

(Note 6ic) (0407025) 29012657 1006789 (16,725,89%6) - 388655
Exchange realignment QAR - (114,302) - - - (114,302)
Balance at 31 March 2024 ~ WZE_MEZRA=+-H

ey 1,177,123 32,000,760 2,260,836 8,137,900 - 43576619

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
has provided the impairment losses on financial and
contract assets, net of approximately HK$3,887,000
(2023: approximately HK$26,786,000), of which, as to
approximately HK$20,036,000 (2023: approximately
HK$25,406,000) were provided for the credit-impaired
other receivables and credit-impaired loan receivables.
The decrease of the impairment losses on financial and
contract assets, net was due to the settlement of trade

receivables and loan receivables during the year.

RBEE_T_WE=ZRB=+—HLEEE K
EEEMEMERENEEREBE FBES
EEHFEN3,887,0008B T (ZE - =ZF 1 4
26,786,000 ) » E > 4920,0386,000%E 7T
(ZEBE =4 425,406,000 1) "R HE
EERENEMERREREREEREN
EWERMtR - EMAENEEREREF
BRALITHRNERGEEE S EIEIE K E W
jg\?ﬁ}\o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27.

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

As at 31 March 2024

27. SRMAREERSMIANATE

(%)

/I

(@ ERER @

REEERFAREE

TREJENTEBEERRNEEERRES
EERE > T2ENEHHEN (RIFHMER T
BANEFABERANEZER TER) » KT
ZR=+—HHERERDE-

FRE25NEiRiseMEEBREE

RZE_mE=A=+—H

12 months
Lifetime ECLs
128 B 7B
EEE5#E 2FEEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B BIRER B {bE st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT AT AT
Trade receivables B W - - 31,800,294 31,300,294
Contract assets BREE - - 119,816,088 119,816,088
Other receivables HitEwzIa
- Normal™ —EE" 15,220,845 - - - 15,220,845
- Doubtful™ —FE - 35,307,897 - 35,307,897
Loan and interest receivables EWEZ KA E
- Normal** —EE* - - - -
- Doubtful™ —{7hE - 12,900,000 - 12,900,000
Cash and cash equivalent ReRkRLEEY 138,285,822 = - - 138,285,822
Total @zt 153,506,667 - 48,207,897 151,616,382 353,330,946
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o ISR R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= ﬁ +—HIEEE CUETsHE)
27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27. EEBEERREMIANATFE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERARE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) REEERFKREER (B)
As at 31 March 2023 H-EZ=%#=H=+—H
12 months
ECL Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A TEH
EEE1E LHREREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
—Es SRR SR BEE w5t
HKS HKS HKS$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
Trade receivables BSENE = S S 28,046,881 28,046,881
Contract assets é“"\]ié‘ E - - - 132434529 132,434,529
Other receivables Ht U
- Normal™ EHW 22,931,788 - - - 22,931,788
- Doubtful™ —R S 41,926,250 1,859,907 - 43,786,157
Loan and interest receivables EMERRF S
- Normal** —EE" - - - -
- Doubtful™ —FE - 15,054,435 16,900,000 - 31,954,435
Cash and cash equivalent Be&RREEEY 116,478,368 = = - 116,478,368
Total st 139,410,156 56,980,685 18,759,907 160,481,410 375,632,158
. For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group * MAEEERGICAETRENEZBRARIBRS
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information HNEEM=  BENEEBEERESENERN2INEGS
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 15 and 16 AP IR FRMI 515 161 B8 ©

to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

- The credit quality of the financial assets included in other = i fEEi TERENEnREMEEZEERKRE
receivables and loan and interest receivables is considered VAR RAEE L7 BT A MW IE K
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no EWERRFENEHEEZ EEEZFERATE
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BB sMEEZEEERRARER

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at 31 March 2024 and 2023) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay:

2. EMARERREMIANATE
(b) FHEBEEER

FEEBRTEMNBRAEEEEAENREE
B -OEEEERMURRERRERER K&
ENRRAEREZEENRERADESR
ERHEBTEERFENB R UERREERE
HRTHABEREIZSHEBRETRENE
AmETRE WEMHEERARRRANR

TRFIFAEBNEMEEN S "NERK
TET-ZHF-ZR=+—HHBTENEHE
o WNRBEEORMRREERE (BEEH
REMMNX (HMBFE  AIRER "M
FRIBEZ=ZF=ZB=+—HHBRBAANX) 5t
ERRMEMNR) RAEEATRERTRNRR
BEME L -

At 31 March 2024

A—E_MEZRZ+-H
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1yearbut  2years but More
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRER
Rene —ERg —-Et WENL
IREfE e EEX BRER BRER AENE
Trade and other payables and B 5 R EMERFIER
accruals EER 48,755,379 48,755,379 48,755,379 - - -
Due to a related company I —BEEARNE 55,350,521 55,350,521 55,350,521 = = =
Due to a director of a subsidiary  EfT—RMBAF
e 122,000,000 122,000,000 122,000,000 - - -
Lease liabilities HEaR 2,590,442 2,753,953 1,757,800 996,153 - -
228,696,342 228,859,853 227,863,700 996,153 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

2. EMARERREMTANATE

(b) FEBEZERE (&

At 31 March 2023

KFZ=£=A=t+-H
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More
Carrying  undiscounted or on less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRER
REng —ER —ENE mEUL
REME ] EEX BMER BRER RENE
Trade and other payables and B 5 R EMERTIER
acoruals st &R 43471421 43471421 43471421 - - -
Due to a related company E—BEEARNE 62484271 62,743542  62,743542 = = =
Due to a director of a subsidiary  Eff—2MBATES
A 124,578,127 125,086,460 125,086,460 - = =
Lease liabilities HE&R 1,846,420 2,055,845 1,099,858 955,987 - -
232,380,239 233,357,268 232,401,281 955,987 - -
(c) Interest rate risk () FIERME
The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is AEBRERBRENRERENXRAREERBH

mainly attributable to the changes in interest rates of its
interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities.
bearing financial assets are primarily deposits with banks,
which is subject to changes as determined by banks;

Interest

SAEREREEREENNXE{C -tEREME
ETERBTER MXBEZIRITHOREFRR
RR-FAEEMERTERBN —HBEERF
R—2WNBAREEFMIE 2 FNEZEEF

Interest bearing financial liabilities are primarily amounts
due to a related company and a director of a subsidiary,
which issued at fixed rates and not subject to change with
the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors the Group’s interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

R FTEERTDBARMEL-

AEERTEMNRETRR - AM EEE—H
EEAEENNXRER URNAEBERFEE
HHEARFEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through its
principal activities which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate.

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency
risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in functional currency.

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments. The Group’s listed investments are
listed in Hong Kong and are valued at quoted market price
at the end of the reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses that
would arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair
values of the Group’s equity investments would change in
accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and
that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2024 and 2023.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment in listed equity
securities was carried at a fair value of HK$1,959,200
(2023: nil). It is estimated that an increase/(decrease) of 5%
(2023: 5%) in the market value of the equity investments
carried at FVTPL, with all other variables held constant,
would decrease/(increase) the Group’s loss after tax by
approximately HK$98,000 (2023: nil).

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.

U]

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

Fair values measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

ERE M RRME

“ME= ﬁ +—HLEFE QBB

27. SHAMEEREMIANATE

" ATEHE
BATEHEZZHRERAR

THREINAEENRRSHERZEEEEES

EZERMIBENATE ATFEREBHUHR
+W%m%@$@%§%ﬁEZEﬁ@$

BEERETDE DBEAFEAEZBHREBZE

LT EEEMFAEESASBEZIERIEE
EMMET .

. F—MREE EERAE —HRH ABE
(BPREtEHREEETE LBEE
EXEBEZRERABRE) SHEZ QT
=

. FE_MMAEEERE KRB ABE (B
REFS—MZOUBRBARE) BT E
RAEAFTREGARMBFEZLT
B FAOBRAABBEIAIRNETS
HiEZ2HABE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy
the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at 31

March 2024 and 2023:

At 31 March 2024

27. ZRAKRERREMIANATE

&)

n A2FEHE #E
BATFEFAEZETHEEREE (B)
TRELNVN _E_NER_E_=F=1
T+ —H AEERAFEFENEMEET
NEEBHR TN
R-CE—_mWE=HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATEHAERAUTERE

Quoted  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
BEX BEX
BRI CIf kS FrHE
HIER(E BARE BARE
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
B4 PR B R
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRFEFAEmZ
Listed equity investments (note 14)  _EHRAEE (fizE14) 1,959,200 - - 1,959,200
Financial assets at FVOCI: BAFEFARMEE
War 2 EHEE .
Unlisted equity investments (note 13) FELMEAIZE (HizE13) - - 2,734,980 2,734,980
Total Mt 1,959,200 - 2,734,980 4,694,180
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

At 31 March 2025

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

27. SHAMEEREMIANATE

h 2QFEHEE

BAFEFEZEHMEERAE (7

R CE_ZF=ZHF=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATESERAUATEE
Quoted Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
BEX BEX
RIER™ 5 GIf 5= FARE
HRE AR WA MR
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
E—4 E_4R E=4 MBI ER
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCI: BAFESIARMEE K7
ZEHEE
Unlisted equity investments (notes 13) JE L fRE AR E (MI5E13) - - 8,559,589 8,559,589
Total 1mst = - 8,559,589 8,559,589
The Group engaged an independent valuer, Moore AEBZRE— L AEIRITERKKERNEIL

Transaction Services Limited, with recognised qualifications
and experiences to determine the fair value of the financial
assets at FVOCI as at 31 March 2023 and 2024 by using
a discounted cashflow method. Pursuant to the valuation
report, the fair value of the financial assets at FVOCI as
at 31 March 2024 was approximately RMB2,537,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,735,000) (2023:
approximately RMB7,492,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$8,560,000)).

For the fair value of the financial assets at FVOCI, the
Directors have estimated the potential effect of using
possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation report.

HEMAAERRTZBHRFERLQE XA
MIRBESRELIBETRATESAHEMEZET
WHEZzZeMEENR _SE _=9aK_F_M@O
EZA=Z1+—BZAFE -BEGERS:
BAFESFAHMZARBEZESHEENRCZ
T _NE=ZRB=Z+—HZRAFEANARE
2,537,000t (HBE 142,735,000 7T) (=
T _=F I HARMT,492,0007c (FBER K
8,560,000 7T) ) ©

MEAFEFAHEMEERNGZEMEEZ
AFEME EFCHAERTENBEALE
FREERSHNBEABBNEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 March 2023 and 2024

Assets

HE

Significant unobservable
Valuation techniques inputs

fibfE R ik$7§'ﬂ§i€‘)\§ki§

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

27. %m}ﬂﬂi‘ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁmﬂlﬂﬂﬂ’z}%ﬁ

(h AQFESE @
BAFEFEZEHMEERAE ()

FTHEFAR _E _ZFR _ZFE_HE=ZH
=+ —HEEZEATFTJEZGAHFLHE
L8R E D2 HE

Weighted Sensitivity of fair value
Range average to the input
i Mg §¥1E¥iiﬁ)\§ii§

E

Unlisted equity
investments

FLHRERE

Discounted cash flow Discounted rate
methodology

BehEalit BRI

Discount for lack of
marketability

HzmEABLE
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15% 15% 5% (2023: 5%)

(2023: 16%) (2023: 16%)  increase/decrease in
discount rate would
result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value
by approximately
(HK$232,000)/
HK$521,000
(2023: approximately
(HK$1,431,000)/
HK$3,045,000)

15% 15% BEIRE bFt/THES%
(CEZ=F:16%) (CEZZFE:16%) (C 7_—¢ 5%)
BEHATE (D)

/8104 (232,000

&) /521,000%
T(CEIZEH

(143i 000%7T)

/3,045,000 77)

15.7% 15.7% 5% (2023: 5%)

(2023: 15.7%) (2023: 15.7%)  increase/decrease in
discount for lack of
marketability would
result in decrease/
increase in fair value
by approximately
HK$158,000 (2023:
HK$364,000)

15.7% 165.7% BzmEmaiE
(CBI=F157%) (CBZZF157%) LR/ THEs% (CT
Z=F15%) BEH
/'\; /J—E/h/tij]u
#158,000%7 (CF
=& 364,000%
7o)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.

U]

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 March 2023 and 2024 (Continued)

Assets

HE

Significant unobservable
inputs

Ek’FTEﬁ@!ﬁ‘AﬂE

Valuation techniques

fibfE R

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

27. ?ﬁ)ﬂﬂﬂﬁ%iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬂ'\]’z}sﬁﬁ

h 2QFEHEE

BAFEFEZEHMEERAE (7

FTEZR - F_=ZFR-_F_MOF=H
=+ —HEEZEATATEROAH LS
1E8RE D Z 2 (&)

Weighted Sensitivity of fair value
Range average to the input

#E MEFHY AFEHBAURE
ZBRE

Minority discount

DERERR

20% 20% 5% (2023: 5%) increase/
(2023: 21.6%) (2023: 21.6%)  decrease in minority
discount would
result in decrease/
increase in fair value
by approximately
HK$171,000 (2023:
approximately
HK$546,000)
20% 20% /‘\%ﬁﬂ;&?ﬁﬁtﬂ/?
(CEZ=ZF:216%) (CBEZZF:216%) K% (CE-=F:
%)H@ﬁm?ﬁ
AL/
171 OOO%TE
(CBI=F:4
5460007%75)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)
Movements of these Level 3 fair value measurements

The movements during the year in the balance of these
Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

27. SHAMEEREMIANATE

0 ATEHE
BEFS RO TEHEOLE

R EEERATEHEAKRZED
e

2024 2023
—TomE ===

Unlisted debt investment: JELHEHRE
At 1 Apri WA —H - 44504814
Proceeds from disposal HEFRERIE - (46,926,250)
Net realised gains recognised in profit or loss FRRBmTHER BEIR

during the year W B - 7,223,019
Net unrealised gains recognised in other FRPEMEZEEA

comprehensive income during the year Bz REIR P ER - (4,801,583)
At 31 March ®w=B=+—H - -
35% Put Option in relation to acquisition of BRAWE—MBEARRN

an associate: 35%B L HAE :
At 1 April RHA—H - 34,300,000
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRREBETHERZATFE

during the year G - 205,793
Deemed disposal RIEHE - (34,505,793)
At 31 March W=A=+—H - -
19.7% Put Option in relation to acquisition of BRAWME—MBEARRN

an associate: 19.7%:2HHAHE ©
At 1 Apri HmA—A - =
Additions Hig - 214,000
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss FRREBETHERZ

during the year NE{EEE) - (214,000)
At 31 March “=B=+—H - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Movements of these Level 3 fair value measurements

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

27. SHAMEEREMIANATE

h 2QFEHEE

ZEBZRATFEHAENEY (2

(Continued)
2024 2023
—EomE 2=

Unlisted equity investments: JELEHRRAIRE
At 1 April ROmEE—H 8,559,589 -
Additions Frig - 8,559,589
Changes in fair value recognised in other FARHEMEEERE

comprehensive income during the year R 2 A FEED) (5,824,609) =
At 31 March m=B=+—H 2,734,980 8,559,589
Net losses for the year included in profit or loss for R EHRFAIFEEFT A

assets held at the end of the reporting period Bm ZEWF&E?E&%%E - 7,214,812

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of the
Group’s unlisted debt investment held for strategic in
nature were recognised in the fair value reserve in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the unlisted
debt investment, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income was reclassified from equity to
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

The gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of
the profit guarantee, call option and put option in relation
to acquisition of an associate are presented in the “Other
income, other gains and losses, net” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

HEMAEFERRBEFTENFLTES
?x S MEENEARZNEE REMEEU
SR TEBFEIRI -THEFLHTEHR
BER - REME2EREFNREERIFER—B
EMOBRAERAEDTEM D EERT -

RNEMAEEHRBE—BHRELAIT Z G IE
R ORBHAERDHAEMEEN KRN
RigeaEaxPINABTHEMKA EMKaE &
E5IEFREIARIB ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe MR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) EZ —

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2024 and (a)
2023, the related parties that had transactions

with the Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

RES BB

BETNF=ZB=+—HLFE CIETE)

28. EXRAEFRS

HAQ:I:—V
mF:

Relationships with the Group
BB RIRE

MER—FT==
=+—HILFE RESHAFEENEZS

£=H

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited
RIREEERARAE

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited
REREZERBRAR

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in bR 4%
note 6(a) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements,

A related company owned by Mr. Lau

MBI LR IRERE

A related company owned by Mr. Lau

MBI LR IRERE

B HFHREMEG(a) K21 E
i T5’|‘ FEBRFERESTL NI EXRBEES

R 5k

the Group entered into the following material related party R -
transactions during the year:
2024 2023
—E-MF ==
Leases of properties from: AU TEFHEEYE
Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited RIEREERERAE 720,000 720,000
Chung Wah Investment Company Limited HEREEREERAR 1,380,000 1,380,000
2,100,000 2,100,000
Note: The Directors are of opinion that apart from the borrowings sk . EERA BRESVBRRMFIMEENRE—

from a related company and a director of a subsidiary
disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
the above transactions were also entered into the normal
course of business. The related party transactions constitute

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of TE °
the Listing Rules, however, they are fully exempted from
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Transaction with key management personnel
Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration of key management personnel,

b) HIFEEBAENRH
FTESEENEME

including

BEAB R—2NBRAREENEEIN Litix
SEREAN—REFBETI L -ZFMELRS
1Rl LR A SE14AEFR REBIRIER 5 0 7R > %
f“%%m%%ﬁ’a EF EH RS 1IAE IR ER

EEEH_EEAEE & (BEX TSN E

amounts paid to the Directors as disclosed in note 8 = E’J fis AR W;hfgﬁﬁ REETREMHES
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior EEAEEBHNMIA OF
management as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:
2024 2023
—EomE —T_”=
Short-term employee benefits R ES RN 14,124,821 11,818,757
Post-employment benefits BEREEF 64,500 73,640
14,189,321 11,892,397
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) &% —

29. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
has the following material events:

(a) Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 3 April 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing
agent, pursuant to which, the placing agent has
conditionally agreed, as the placing agent of the Company,
to procure, on a best effort basis, not less than six placees
(the “Placees”) to subscribe for up to 19,200,000 placing
shares (the “Placing Shares”) at placing price of HK$1.00
per Placing Share. The Placing Shares will be allotted and
issued under the General Mandate.

All the conditions of the Placing Agreement have been
fulfiled and completion of the placing took place on 16
April 2024. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiry,
the Placees are individual investors who are third parties
independent of and not connected with the Company and
its connected persons.

The net proceeds from the placing are approximately
HK$18.7 million. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds from the placing for the administration and
operation expenses of the headquarters of the Group
in Hong Kong within twelve months from the date of
Completion.

(b) Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary
without a loss of control

On 30 April 2024, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement with a non-controlling interests, pursuant to
which, the Group acquired the remaining 49% equity
interests of Pure Luck International Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Pure Luck Group”), from
the non-controlling interest for a cash consideration of
HK$5,000,000 (the “Pure Luck Acquisition”). Upon the
completion of the Pure Luck Acquisition on 3 May 2024,
the Pure Luck Group became wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group.

ERE M RRME

“ME= )% +—HLEFE QBB

20. iREHAEERIA

REI|BEHRE  SEBEELUTERENS !

(@) RiFE—EERSHRG

RTEMENR=H x 8B ERET 1L
&z (EREWRE) > Bt KRERESHE RN
AR (FRAABNRENE RE|EHEERET
DB EEA (KB A 288&%19,200,000
REcERD (BRERIR)) > SRECERNZEE
ER1.00BT - RERMNIFRE-—MREELER

#iTo

-

RERZNAEREHDEREN KEFEER
“ETMFENA+/NATER  MEERIERE 1]
BEBHBANFIEKRAE  KEAHSREILN
TABREMBEATBRE T ERENS =778

AREE-

REFENFEMEFRNOR/IBTEREBT &
A BB e B et + @8 AR ECE F I8P
BRIEFEANAERETBBINITEREER
+o

(b) FEFRREZFENBERTEE—RMNER
EIRBER

RoFEmA S+ A S EERI R
§T I URBS 1758 > 1Lk » 7582 [ 145,000,000 75
Be WA ER g KB OEERERAT
REMEAT @ SEEE)) FIER40%H R E
(BB - X AEREEER =S
ERA-ARME GEEENASEENZE
B A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tra ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) SiZE —Z — & =8 =+—HLEEE CUBTHE)

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 30. ZFATMBRRRE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—EomE 2=
Non-current assets ERHEE
Financial assets at FVOCI AT ESFAEMEE
WazEmMEE 2,734,980 8,559,589
Investment in subsidiaries RB AR NKRE 11,835,930 =
Total non-current assets JEMBNE EMEE 14,570,910 8,559,589
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B FIE 2 R EME IR
E QL] 1,318,689 398,264
Due from subsidiaries FEU B /& A Bl R IE 140,057,881 236,834,176
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIREEEBY 617,661 618,911
Total current assets MENE EMEE 141,994,231 237,851,351
Current liabilities mENEfE
Other payables Hfh & RIB 489,288 220,000
Due to subsidiaries FETHY B A BIRIB 63,466,372 146,081,188
Total current liabilities BB {EAERE 63,955,660 146,301,188
Net current assets RENEERE 78,038,571 91,550,163
Net assets BEFE 92,609,481 100,109,752
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital (Note 24(c)) B&As (Bg5E24(c)) 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves (Note 24(a)) R (MisE24()) 83,009,481 90,509,752
Total equity REmiaga 92,609,481 100,109,752

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of ACE_NEAB_+ N \HEKEFTZMHAER

Directors on 28 June 2024. FEREF 3o
Yan Shuai Bai Huawei
D BER
Director Director
EEo E2ES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ERE M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (in HK dollars) #iZ = _NE= ﬁ +—HIEEE CUETsHE)

31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation and the effect
of the share consolidation set out in note 24(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

31. WBEF

ETHEREHEEFDBUNEEREFEZR
R REGEMBERERWE24c)TBRM &
HORE-
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

A summary of the published results, assets, and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, which does not

FEEBELEVHREENENNEERE EEK
BEMNHSE TABREEZGEMBREN—

form part of the audited consolidated financial statement, is oo &Y -
set out as below:
RESULTS 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
1 —E-mE - B CE = _ECEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT BT BT
Revenue ON 288,653,824 315,446,680 263,216,864 293,598,630 255,534,989
Loss before tax KA A5 (19,340,608)  (46,057,791) (13384350) (10,188,168)  (60,777,847)
Income tax (expense)/credit iR () /1% (759,814) (937,787) 627,765 (2,051,681) 406,115
Loss for the year FERNEGE (20,100,422) (46,995,578) (12,756,585) (12,239,849 (60,371,732
Loss attributable to owners of A BB AFE(LEE
the Company (20,621,836)  (46995578) (12,756,585  (12,239.849)  (60,371,732)
Non-controlling interest JEEERR 521,414 = = = =
(20,100422) (46.995578) (12756585  (12,230.849)  (60,371,732)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREEREA
expenses for the year IS4 (26,508,739)  (54375706)  (0,112486)  (7,653,961)  (60,371,732)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERE&RE
Total assets BEMAE 323,973,873 354,084,748 458,325,935 466,554,477 481,554,074
Total liabilties =YEreke (233,145,156) (236,747,000) (286,612,773 (285,728,829)  (273,645,306)
Non-controlling interest IR S (506,739) = = = =
Net assets attributable to KATEE AEN
owners of the Company BEFE 90,321,978 117,337,456 171,713,162 180,825,648 207,908,768

This report is published in both English and Chinese
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall

prevail.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEBZRERAR
Annual Report 2023/24 —8== /ZIUFFiR
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